Hydrological Controls on the Biogeochemistry of Polar Glacier Ice and its Meltwater

by

Ashley Dubnick

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

Department of Earth and Atmospheric Sciences University of Alberta

© Ashley Dubnick, 2018

Abstract

Ice masses in the Antarctic, Greenland, and Canadian Arctic cover approximately 10% of the Earth's surface, contain approximately 70% of the Earth's freshwater, and are the top contributors to eustatic sea level rise. In recent years, these polar glacier systems have experienced significant increases in mass loss and melt rates, and the quantity of melt in these regions is expected to increase further under a warming climate. Existing research indicates that the physical, chemical, and microbial characteristics of these ice masses and the meltwater they produce are often distinct from those of other natural water sources. Their characteristics also show high temporal and spatial variability that may result from the combined presence of distinct and variable biogeochemical environments, particularly on the glacier surface and near the bed, and the strong variations in hydrological dynamics that often occur in glacial systems. This study examines glacier ice and meltwater from the Antarctic, Greenland, and Canadian Arctic to (1) investigate the variability in microbial assemblages and nutrient species/concentrations in the various biogeochemical environments that exist within and between polar glacier systems, and (2) evaluate how glacier hydrology influences the development and export of microbes and nutrients from these systems. Results of this study indicate that distinct biogeochemical environments exist in glacial systems, that they can function as sources and/or sinks for specific nutrients and microbes, and that the nutrients and microbes exported in glacial meltwater can vary according to the meltwater sources, flow paths, and residence times within the glacial system. Consequently, the biogeochemical characteristics of glacier ice and meltwater can differ between glaciers with different features, thermal regimes and/or hydrological systems, can change over the course of the melt season as the hydrological system within a glacier evolves, and can show different seasonal patterns for specific microbiological and nutrient parameters.

Preface

A version of Chapter 2 has been published [*Dubnick et al.*, 2017b]. I was responsible for field measurements and sample collection, data analysis and manuscript composition. J. Wadham and J. Orwin collaborated on the study design and field work and all authors (J. Wadham, M. Tranter, M. Sharp, J. Orwin, J. Barker, E. Bagshaw and S. Fitzsimons) contributed to manuscript edits.

A version of Chapter 3 has also been published [*Dubnick et al.*, 2017a]. I was responsible for study design, data collection and analyses and manuscript composition. J. Hawkings and A. Beaton collaborated on the study design, hydrology/chemistry fieldwork, and chemical analyses and S. Kazemi completed DNA extractions and contributed to microbial data analyses. S. Kazemi, M. Sharp, J. Wadham, J. Hawkings, A. Beaton, and B. Lanoil contributed to manuscript edits. Hydrology and chemistry field data were also published elsewhere [*Hawkings et al.*, 2016].

Chapter 4 is unpublished work. I completed the study design, field work, sample processing, data analyses and manuscript composition. B. Danielson assisted with field work and sampling and A. Saidi-Mehrabad completed DNA extractions. M. Sharp, M. Bhatia and J. Barker contributed to manuscript edits.

Table of Contents

Abstract	ii
Preface	iii
Table of Contents	iv
List of Tablesv	iii
List of Figures	ix
Chapter 1: Introduction	.1
1.1 Motivation	. 1
1.2 Objectives and thesis outline	3
1.3 Scientific background	4
Chapter 2: Trickle or treat: the dynamics of nutrient export from polar glaciers	12
2.1 Abstract	12
2.2 Introduction	13
2.3 Methods	16
2.3.1 Study site	16
2.3.2 Data collection	17
2.3.2.1 Discharge monitoring	17
2.3.2.2 Meteorological monitoring	18
2.3.2.3 Sampling	18
2.3.3 Laboratory analyses	19
2.3.4 Data processing and statistical analyses	20
2.4 Results	21
2.4.1 Hydrology and major ions	21

2.4.2	Dissolved inorganic nitrogen	
2.4.3	Dissolved inorganic phosphorus	
2.4.4	Dissolved organic matter	
2.5 I	Discussion	
2.5.1	Nutrient sources and sinks along the flow path	
2.5.	1.1 Supraglacial environments	
2.5.	1.2 Ice-marginal environments	
2.5.	1.3 Proglacial environments	30
2.5.2	Trickle or Treat: hydrologically controlled nutrient dynamics	30
2.6	Conclusions	
2.7 A	Acknowledgements	
Chapter 3	: Hydrological controls on glacially exported microbial assemblag	ges45
	: Hydrological controls on glacially exported microbial assemblag	
3.1 A		45
3.1 A 3.2 I	Abstract	45 46
3.1 A 3.2 I	Abstract	45 46 49
3.1 A 3.2 I 3.3 N 3.3.1	Abstract	45 46 49 49
3.1 A 3.2 I 3.3 N 3.3.1	Abstract ntroduction Methods Field site	45 46 49 49 49
3.1 A 3.2 I 3.3 N 3.3.1 3.3.2	Abstract ntroduction Methods Field site Sample collection and processing	
 3.1 A 3.2 I 3.3 N 3.3.1 3.3.2 3.3.2 3.3.3 	Abstract	
 3.1 A 3.2 I 3.3 N 3.3.1 3.3.2 3.3.2 3.3.3 3.3.4 3.3.5 	Abstract	
 3.1 A 3.2 I 3.3 N 3.3.1 3.3.2 3.3.2 3.3.3 3.3.4 3.3.5 	Abstract	

3.5 I	Discussion	60
3.5.1	Hydrological regime	60
3.5.2	First-order control on exported microbial assemblages: subglacial draina	ige62
3.5.3	Second-order control on exported microbial assemblages: source wate	r and
	subglacial residence time	63
3.6 0	Conclusions	64
3.7 A	Acknowledgements	65
Chapter 4	: The effects of basal thermal regime on the biogeochemistry of subg	lacial
systems		70
4.1 A	Abstract	70
4.2 I	Introduction	71
4.3 N	Methods	74
4.3.1	Study Site	74
4.3.2	Field sampling	75
4.3.3	Sample Processing	77
4.3.4	Analytical Methods	77
4.3.5	Data Processing and Statistical Analyses	80
4.4 F	Results	83
4.4.1	Major Ion Chemistry	83
4.4.2	Nutrients (N and P)	83
4.4.3	Dissolved Organic Matter	84
4.4.4	Microbial Assemblages	86
4.5 I	Discussion	87

Bibliography		
Chapter	5: Conclusions	107
4.7	Acknowledgements	
4.6	Conclusions	97
4.5.	3 The biogeochemistry of 'cold' basal ice	
4.5.	2 Biogeochemical processes in subglacial water	
4.5.	1 The biogeochemistry of 'warm' basal ice	87

List of Tables

Table 2-1: Sample descriptions
Table 4-1: Mean and standard deviation of measures of major ions, inorganic nutrients and DOM
components in basal ice, glacier ice, subglacial channel ice and subglacial channe
water
Table 4-2: Statistical tests between 'warm' basal ice and 'cold' basal and their parent materia
(glacier ice). P-values that represent significant differences (p<0.05) are red 101
Table 4-3: Excitation and emission maxima for the 5 component PARAFAC model, including the
identification of each component

List of Figures

Figure 1-1:	Hydrology of a warm-based, polar glacier (Source: Chu [2014]) 11
Figure 2-1:	Location of the Garwood Valley (top) and study site (bottom) indicating sample
	locations in italics. Supraglacial samples (cryoconite holes/ cryolakes, streams, snow
	and ice) were collected within the region indicated by the grey dotted line on the Joyce
	Glacier
Figure 2-2:	(a) Net shortwave radiation on the Joyce Glacier at 15 minute and 24 hour running
	averages. (b) Discharge rates at the "upstream" (Holland Stream) monitoring site
	during the study period
Figure 2-3:	ANOVA with Tukey's range test for various biogeochemical parameters along the
	flow path. Circles represent the mean and lines indicated the 95% confidence intervals
Figure 2-4:	Concentration and fluxes of total ions (top) and nitrate (bottom) in the Holland Stream
	(Upstream Site). x represent the concentrations measured in samples vs the discharge
	in the stream at the time of sampling and the number corresponds to the day of month
	for each data point. The black solid line represents the concentration-discharge
	relationship determined via LOWESS smoothing, and the dashed grey line indicates
	the confidence intervals (calculated as \pm two times the standard deviation of 1000
	LOWESS curves derived by bootstrapping)
Figure 2-5:	Percentage of samples above the PO4 ³⁻ and NH4 ⁺ detection limits. Letters above each

- Figure 4-2: Summary of a) major ion composition, produced by PCA using the contribution of each major ion to the solute load, with each major ion normalized to its mean and variance b) inorganic nutrients relative to the solute load (TDP (μg P/μeq) and TDN (μg N/μeq)) (c) character of dissolved organic matter determined by principle component analysis using the relative contributions of the 5 modeled fluorescent components, with each component normalized to its mean and variance and d) microbial assemblage structure determined by nonmetric multidimensional scaling (NMDS) of Bray-Curtis distance measure using 16S rRNA gene sequencing (stress =0.16).
- Figure 4-3: Relative abundance and range in concentrations of major ions (top), organic nutrients (middle) and inorganic nutrients (bottom) in basal ice, glacier ice, subglacial channel ice, and subglacial channel water. Data were scaled to the interval 0-1 and boxplots indicate the median, 25th and 75th percentiles, whiskers indicate the most extreme datapoints not considered outliers and outliers are indicated with a '+' symbol..... 105
- Figure 4-4: Venn Diagrams showing overlap in membership between the microbial assemblages observed in 'warm' basal ice, glacier ice, channel water and 'cold' basal ice samples.
 Numbers represent the number of operational taxonomic units (OTUs) that are unique to each environment or shared between environments.

Chapter 1: Introduction

1.1 Motivation

The Antarctic Ice Sheet (AIS), Greenland Ice Sheet (GrIS), and Canadian Arctic Archipelago (CAA) have experienced significant increases in mass loss and rates of glacial retreat in recent years [*Gardner et al.*, 2011] and the quantity of melt in these regions is predicted to continue to increase [*Radić et al.*, 2014]. Ice discharge from Antarctica was approximately 2000 Gt yr⁻¹ in 2015, and increased by ~36 Gt yr⁻¹ in 2013-2015 compared to 2008 [*Gardner et al.*, 2018]. Future increases in surface warming, basal ice shelf melting, and snowfall over Antarctica are predicted to increase ice discharge by up to three times by 2500 [*Winkelmann et al.*, 2012]. The GrIS, which currently discharges approximately 400 Gt yr⁻¹ of freshwater to the Arctic and Atlantic oceans, is already experiencing rapid acceleration in mass loss and discharge is predicted to exceed 1000 Gt yr⁻¹ by 2100 [*Fettweis et al.*, 2013]. The Canadian Arctic comprises approximately one-third of the global volume of land ice outside Greenland and Antarctica and is the next largest contributor to eustatic sea level rise, contributing 92 Gt yr⁻¹ [*Gardner et al.*, 2011].

The increasing melt rates and mass loss from polar ice sheets, ice caps and glaciers translate to high and increasing seasonal fluxes of glacially-derived meltwater to downstream ecosystems. The Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change estimates with high confidence that the future changes to glacial environments will affect downstream freshwater, riparian and near-shore marine ecosystems, but indicates that the biogeochemical processes and mechanisms that affect these ecosystems remain unclear and require further research [*Anisimov et al.*, 2007]. Understanding the biogeochemical characteristics of glacier meltwater is of global importance since downstream ecosystems support particularly high rates of primary productivity [*Rysgaard et al.*, 2012], contain genetically isolated populations [*Sköld et al.*, 2003], function as refugia for cold-water species

[*Węsławski et al.*, 2011], and are important feeding grounds and critical habitats for a number of marine mammals and seabirds [*Kuletz et al.*, 2003; *Mathews and Pendleton*, 2006; *Arimitsu et al.*, 2012].

The physical, chemical, and microbial characteristics of glacially-derived meltwaters are distinct from other natural water sources and may influence downstream ecosystem processes [Battin et al., 2004] and biodiversity [Wilhelm et al., 2013] and both the biogeochemistry [Logue et al., 2004; Battin et al., 2009; Singer et al., 2012] and microbial ecology of ford surface waters [Gutiérrez et al., 2014]. Glacier meltwaters can transport high reactive suspended sediment loads and an abundance of bioavailable nutrients [Telling et al., 2012; Bhatia et al., 2013a, 2013b] and viable microbes [Priscu and Christner, 2004; Hodson et al., 2008]. Glaciers can function as hot spots for bioavailable phosphorus [Hawkings et al., 2016], iron [Hawkings et al., 2014], nitrogen [Petrone et al., 2006; Lawson et al., 2014] and organic carbon [Lafrenière and Sharp, 2004; Barker et al., 2006; Hood et al., 2009; Dubnick et al., 2010; Pautler et al., 2012, 2013] that can be rapidly transformed in downstream freshwater and marine environments [Fellman et al., 2010; Nassry et al., 2013]. The microbes found in glacier ice and its meltwater are thought to be involved in a number of important nutrient producing and consuming reactions including heterotrophy [Lawson et al., 2013], sulphide oxidation [Skidmore et al., 2005], sulphate reduction [Wadham et al., 2004], methanogenesis [Wadham et al., 2012], nitrification, and nitrate-reduction [Boyd et al., 2011].

While the physical, chemical and microbial characteristics of glacially-derived meltwaters are often distinct from those of other natural water sources, they can show high temporal and spatial variability. We expect that this variability results from the combined presence of (i) distinct and variable biogeochemical environments, particularly on the glacier surface (supraglacial environment) and near the bed (subglacial environment), and (ii) strong temporal and spatial variability in hydrological dynamics within the glacial system, including flow rates, flow paths and residence times. Glacier hydrological systems are comprised of several sub-environments such as wet snow, cryoconite holes, supraglacial lakes, and streams on the surface of glaciers, to isolated cavities, thin films of water, water-saturated sediments, and large channels in the subglacial environments. Physical conditions differ greatly between these sub-environments including the availability of meltwater, its fluxes and residence times, ice and water temperatures, the presence/absence of light energy, the mineralogy/quantity/size distribution of sediment, redox conditions, and allochthonous sources of nutrients and microbes. Because of these physical differences, it is not surprising that distinct biogeochemical environments exist and that they produce vastly different mixtures of nutrients and microbes. The characteristics of bulk meltwater export are further complicated by the strong temporal and spatial variations in hydrological dynamics that occur in glaciated basins. Strong variations in flow rates, meltwater routing, and residence times along meltwater flow paths yield varying degrees of connectivity between different biogeochemical environments, and significant differences in the mixture of water sources that contribute to bulk meltwater export from glaciers.

1.2 Objectives and thesis outline

Although research over the past decade has advanced our understanding of both the biogeochemistry and hydrology of polar glaciers, it has yet to provide an integrated approach that investigates the links between glacier hydrology and biogeochemistry and evaluates biogeochemistry from both nutrient and microbial perspectives. The objectives of this research are to (1) investigate the variability in microbial assemblages and nutrient species/concentrations in the various biogeochemical environments that exist within and between polar glacier systems, and (2) evaluate how glacier hydrology influences the development and export of microbes and

nutrients from these systems. These objectives are explored via a series of studies that are presented in three main chapters.

The first study (Chapter 2) examines the distinct hydrological environments that occur along glacial-proglacial flow paths to evaluate whether they function as significant sources and/or sinks for dissolved macronutrients. It then explores how variations in glacier hydrology (e.g. meltwater routing and transit times through these environments) affect the export of dissolved macronutrients from the system as a whole. The second study (Chapter 3) examines how the seasonal evolution of meltwater sources and subglacial drainage system properties affect the character of microbial assemblages exported in glacial meltwater. The third study (Chapter 4) explores how basal temperature affects the biogeochemistry of basal ice and subglacial water. The results of these studies help to expand our knowledge of the distinct biogeochemical environments that exist in polar glacier systems, the mixtures of nutrients and microbes that they produce, and the controls on the biogeochemical processes and products of these systems.

1.3 Scientific background

Atmospheric aerosols and pollutants accumulate in the supraglacial snow pack of polar glaciers [*Laj et al.*, 1992; *Fischer and Wagenbach*, 1998] via wet and dry deposition. Solutes in glacier ice and snow are typically dominated by Na⁺, Cl⁻, and SO₄^{2- -} and although there is usually a relative abundance of labile inorganic nitrogen (NH₄⁺ and NO₃⁻), organic matter is usually at low concentrations, of which a high proportion is microbial in origin [*Bhatia et al.*, 2013a; *Antony et al.*, 2014]. Microbes can also be deposited from the atmosphere and are typically at concentrations of 10^3 - 10^4 mL⁻¹ in remote sites and at background atmospheric conditions [*Amato et al.*, 2007]. The snow surface can support autotrophic and mixotrophic algae communities [*Fogg*, 1967] that can be sites of carbon fixation and can provide nutrients to meltwater and downstream ecosystems

[*Lutz et al.*, 2014]. During the early stages of spring melt, when snowmelt is the main source of meltwater on glacier surfaces, elution processes release high concentrations of nutrients and solutes [*Hodson*, 2006; *Telling et al.*, 2014]. However, these waters often refreeze as they percolate through a cold snowpack in the early melt season, thereby delaying meltwater and nutrient delivery to downstream ecosystems until the snowpack warms and becomes isothermal, when lateral drainage can be established.

Once lateral drainage is established, snowmelt fills water storage sites in the supraglacial system, including the pore volume of snow and firn [*Fountain*, 1989], and ponds, lakes and stream channels both on the glacier surface [*Bartholomew et al.*, 2011] and along the margins of outlet glaciers (Figure 1-1). As the melt season progresses, the snow-line retreats up-glacier and the contributing drainage area expands. Bare ice is exposed at low elevations, and since it has relatively low albedo (0.3-0.5) relative to that of snow (~0.7), specific melt rates increase. These conditions generally lead to a progressive increase in the quantity of meltwater generated in the supraglacial environment over the course of the summer, although the effects of weather-related changes in surface melt rates are superimposed upon this well-defined seasonal runoff cycle.

Meltwater environments in the supraglacial system are generally exposed to light, atmospheric oxygen and carbon dioxide, and atmospheric/aeolian sources of nutrients and microbes. Consequently, they host microbial communities capable of photosynthesis and heterotrophy. Chemosynthetic organisms may also be present where wind-blown sediments are available. Cryoconite holes form where wind-blown sediment on the surface is heated preferentially relative to surrounding ice, causing accelerated melting of underlying/surrounding ice and result in water-filled cylindrical depressions. From a biogeochemical perspective, cryoconite holes are the most well-studied of all supraglacial meltwater environments. They are considered hotspots for primary productivity [*Anesio et al.*, 2010; *Bagshaw et al.*, 2013, 2016a] and nutrient cycling [*Hodson et al.*, 2010b; *Telling et al.*, 2011; *Cameron et al.*, 2012; *Bagshaw et al.*, 2013]. Cryoconite holes host active microbial communities including heterotrophic bacteria, cyanobacteria, microalgae, microfungi and metazoans [*Wharton et al.*, 1981; *Säwström et al.*, 2002; *Christner et al.*, 2003] which utilize inorganic nutrients, and can generate high concentrations of dissolved organic carbon, nitrogen and phosphorus [*Stibal et al.*, 2008; *Bagshaw et al.*, 2013]. The nutrients in cryoconite holes are often bio-available [*Stibal et al.*, 2008; *Anesio et al.*, 2009; *Bhatia et al.*, 2010; *Bagshaw et al.*, 2013] and may feed downstream ecosystems if the cryoconite holes connect to surface or shallow subsurface meltwater streams.

In warm-based glacier systems, supraglacial meltwater enters the ice through crevasses and moulins, reaches the bed, and drains through the subglacial environment, where physical conditions are very different from those in the supraglacial environment. Basal ice is defined as ice that is chemically and/or physically altered by processes operating at or near the bed of glaciers such as bedrock or sediment erosion, melt-freeze effects, freezing of groundwater, or metamorphosis by thermal, strain and near-bed hydraulic conditions [*Knight*, 1997; *Hubbard et al.*, 2009]. The subglacial environment is characterised by large or variable amounts of (often very fine-grained) eroded debris, permanent darkness and low temperatures, and in some cases, limited availability of liquid water, which restricts the components of subglacial ecosystems to psychrotollerant and psychrophyllic prokaryotes that use chemotrophic and/or heterotrophic pathways. Although these conditions are not favourable for many prokaryotic species, studies have identified the ubiquitous presence of viable and active microbial populations in subglacial systems worldwide [*Sharp et al.*, 1999; *Foght et al.*, 2004; *Skidmore et al.*, 2005; *Lanoil et al.*, 2009; *Yde*

et al., 2010]. Subglacial microbial concentrations are positively correlated with sediment concentrations in basal ice and subglacial meltwaters [*Sharp et al.*, 1999] and are orders of magnitude higher in subglacial sediment than in basal or glacier ice [*Sharp et al.*, 1999; *Foght et al.*, 2004], suggesting that overridden soils and sediments may be a primary source of microbes and/or may support microbial growth by providing sources of carbon, and aqueous and particulate nutrients that are either attached to the sediment or suspended in ice or basal meltwaters [*Skidmore et al.*, 2000].

While basal ice is often thick and widespread at the base of glaciers, the subglacial drainage network is often more variable and includes both permanent elements, and elements that form, grow, and change structure over the course of a melt season, and then collapse over winter. "Distributed" or multi-thread drainage networks dominate the subglacial environment in the winter and early in the melt season, when runoff is commonly derived from basal melt (from geothermal or frictional heat), groundwater, small amounts of snowmelt and/or supraglacial meltwater stored in the subglacial system since the previous melt season. Such drainage networks typically lack large, well-defined channels, and water passes through them relatively slowly following "distributed" pathways where water is under high pressure [*Fountain et al.*, 1998]. These pathways include water films, the pore volume of water-saturated till, and poorly inter-connected networks of water-filled cavities that develop on the downstream side of bedrock bumps or boulders on the glacier bed where ice separates from the bed during flow by basal sliding [*Tranter et al.*, 2005].

Water and microbes in "distributed" drainage networks typically have ready access to supplies of freshly comminuted, reactive minerals, such as carbonates and sulphides, that are released from bedrock during subglacial erosion. In the presence of oxygen, biogeochemical processes utilize oxygen as an electron acceptor, typically via sulphide oxidation coupled to carbonate dissolution (Equation 1-1), sulphide oxidation coupled to silicate dissolution (Equation 1-2), and/or oxidation of organic matter (Equation 1-3) [*Tranter et al.*, 2005]. Because distributed drainage networks are relatively isolated from the atmosphere, oxygen is only supplied to these areas from the release of air bubbles when ice melts *in situ*. Therefore, if reaction rates are higher than rates of oxygen supply, biogeochemical processes can drive some areas of the subglacial system towards sub-oxic or anoxic conditions. In such conditions, alternative electron acceptors may be utilized in biogeochemical reactions, such as NO₃⁻, Mn⁴⁺, Fe³⁺, SO4²⁻, S, or CO₂ [*Skidmore et al.*, 2000; *Bottrell and Tranter*, 2002; *Tranter et al.*, 2002; *Wadham et al.*, 2004, 2008, 2012; *Wynn et al.*, 2006; *Boyd et al.*, 2010, 2011; *Stibal et al.*, 2012a].

Equation 1-1: Sulphide oxidation coupled to carbonate dissolution

$$4FeS_{2(s)} + 16Ca_{1-x}Mg_xCO_{3(s)} + 15O_{2(aq)} + 14H_2O_{(l)}$$

$$\leftrightarrow 16(1-x)Ca_{(aq)}^{2+} + 16xMg_{(aq)}^{2+} + 16HCO_{3(aq)}^{-} + 8SO_{4(aq)}^{2-} + 4Fe(OH)_{3(s)}$$

Equation 1-2: Sulphide oxidation coupled to silicate (feldspar) dissolution

$$4FeS_{2(s)} + 16Na_{1-x}K_xAlSi_3O_{8(s)} + 15O_{2(aq)} + 86H_2O_{(l)}$$
$$\leftrightarrow$$

 $16(1-x)Na_{(aq)}^{+} + 16xK_{(aq)}^{+} + 8SO_{4(aq)}^{2-} + 4Al_4Si_4O_{10}(OH)_{8(s)} + 32H_4SiO_{4(aq)} + 4Fe(OH)_{3(s)}$

Equation 1-3: Oxidation of organic carbon

$$C_{org(s)} + O_{2(aq)} + H_2O_{(l)} \leftrightarrow CO_{2(aq)} + H_2O_{(l)} \leftrightarrow H^+ + HCO_{3(aq)}^-$$

Equation 1-4: Carbonation of carbonate

$$Ca_{1-x}Mg_{x}CO_{3(s)} + CO_{2(aq)} + H_{2}O_{(l)} \leftrightarrow (1-x)Ca_{(aq)}^{2+} + xMg_{(aq)}^{2+} + 2HCO_{3(aq)}^{-}$$

Equation 1-5: Carbonation of feldspar

$$CaAl_{2}Si_{2}O_{8(s)} + 2CO_{2(aq)} + H_{2}O_{(l)} \leftrightarrow Ca^{2+}_{(aq)} + 2HCO^{-}_{3(aq)} + H_{2}Al_{2}Si_{2}O_{8(s)}$$

As the flux of surface-generated meltwater delivered to the glacier bed increases over the melt season, large channels develop and become incised into either the overlying ice (tunnels) or underlying sediments (canals). These tunnels and/or canals comprise a more efficient "channelized" drainage system that receives meltwaters from both the supraglacial system and distributed areas of the bed, and they allow relatively rapid meltwater drainage to the glacier terminus. Efficient hydrological connectivity with the supraglacial environment (through crevasses and moulins) allows channelized drainage to experience weather-related or diurnal discharge-related fluctuations in water pressure which can result in reversals of the pressure gradient between the channelized and distributed drainage systems and bi-directional exchange of water between the two systems.

Reactive minerals are often exhausted in distributed drainage networks, so channelized drainage networks generally lack access to sulphides to drive weathering reactions. Instead, the dissolution of atmospheric CO₂ supplies these waters with protons for weathering, including the carbonation of carbonate (Equation 1-4) and feldspar (Equation 1-5) [*Tranter et al.*, 2005]. Since transit through the channelized system is quick relative to flow through distributed drainage systems, reactions with fast kinetics dominate solute acquisition by these waters.

On cold-based glaciers that are frozen to the bed, supraglacial waters bypass the subglacial system and are routed directly from the supraglacial environment to either an un-channelized icemarginal zone or a well-defined proglacial stream. Like the better-studied subglacial environment, the ice-marginal environment is an area in which dilute supraglacial meltwater comes into contact with abundant sediment, some of which is likely freshly comminuted. Also like the subglacial environment, the ice-marginal environment may contain a complex drainage network that includes thin films of water, water-saturated till, and poorly inter-connected ponds with various residence times, flushing rates, and degrees of rock-water contact. The main difference between the ice-marginal streams and pools are in full contact with the atmosphere and have access to a continuous supply of atmospheric CO₂ that can fuel weathering processes. These areas are also exposed to light and diurnal/seasonal fluctuations in weather and may therefore support different microbial communities and biogeochemical processes. Regardless, the chemical characteristics of meltwater are likely to undergo rapid and dramatic change in both settings.



Figure 1-1: Hydrology of a warm-based, polar glacier (Source: Chu [2014])

Chapter 2: Trickle or treat: the dynamics of nutrient export from polar glaciers

2.1 Abstract

Cold-based polar glacier watersheds contain well-defined supraglacial, icemarginal, and proglacial elements that differ in their degree of hydrologic connectivity, sources of water (e.g. snow, ice, and/or sediment pore water), meltwater residence times, allochthonous and autochthonous nutrient and sediment loads. We investigated 11 distinct hydrological units along the supraglacial, ice marginal, and proglacial flow paths that drain Joyce Glacier in the McMurdo Dry Valleys of Antarctica. We found that these units play unique and important roles as sources and/or sinks for dissolved inorganic nitrogen (DIN) and phosphorus (DIP), and for specific fractions of dissolved organic matter (DOM) as waters are routed from the glacier into nutrient-poor downstream ecosystems. Changes in nutrient export from the glacial system as a whole were observed as the routing and residence times of meltwater changed throughout the melt season. The concentrations of major ions in the proglacial stream were inversely proportional to discharge, such that there was a relatively constant "trickle" of these solutes into downstream ecosystems. In contrast, NO₃⁻ concentrations generally increased with discharge, resulting in delivery of episodic pulses of DIN-rich water ("treats") into those same ecosystems during high discharge events. DOM concentrations/fluorescence did not correlate with discharge rate, but high variability in DOM concentrations/fluorescence suggests that DOM may be exported downstream as episodic "treats", but with spatial and/or temporal patterns that remain poorly understood. The strong, nutrient-specific responses to changes in hydrology suggest that polar glacier drainage systems may export meltwater with nutrient compositions that vary within and between melt seasons and watersheds. Since nutrient dynamics identified

in this study differ between glacier watersheds with broadly similar hydrology, climate and geology, we emphasize the need to develop conceptual models of nutrient export that thoroughly integrate the biogeochemical and hydrological processes that control the sources, fate and export of nutrients from each system.

2.2 Introduction

Glaciers are a primary water source in many polar watersheds and are an important source of macronutrients, including nitrogen (N), phosphorus (P) and carbon (C) [Bagshaw et al., 2013; Bhatia et al., 2013a; Hawkings et al., 2016]. Most glacially-derived meltwater originates on the glacier surface (supraglacial environment) and in cold-based glacier systems in the McMurdo Dry Valleys of Antarctica (and many other glacier systems world-wide), this environment contains a number of discrete and relatively well-studied biogeochemical systems including snow, glacier ice, cryoconite holes, cryolakes, and supraglacial streams. The physical differences between these systems result in differences in both allochthonous and autochthonous sources/sinks for nutrients. Atmospheric aerosol deposition and *in situ* biogeochemical processes and microbial activity in supraglacial snowpacks [Hodson, 2006] can lead to the release of meltwaters with high concentrations of dissolved inorganic nitrogen (DIN; Tranter et al., 1993; Hodson et al., 2005) and labile organic matter [Barker et al., 2006, 2009; Dubnick et al., 2010]. Microbial activity in cryoconite holes can generate high concentrations of dissolved organic carbon (DOC), nitrogen (DON) and phosphorus (DOP) [Stibal et al., 2008; Bagshaw et al., 2013], even in Blue Ice areas of the East Antarctic ice sheet where DIN may accumulate and is recycled by the cryoconite microbial community [Hodson et al., 2013]. These nutrients may be bio-available [Stibal et al., 2008; Anesio et al., 2009; Bhatia et al., 2010; Bagshaw et al., 2013] and can feed downstream ecosystems [Foreman et al., 2004] if the meltwaters connect to streams that transport them across

the glacier surface. Surface streams are one of the least favourable biological habitats in the supraglacial system and are characterised by low concentrations of NO_3^- and low nutrient processing rates, but nitrification and dissolved organic matter (DOM) uptake have nonetheless been observed [*Fortner et al.*, 2005; *Scott et al.*, 2010].

On cold-based glaciers that are frozen to the bed, supraglacial streams transport meltwater across the glacier surface to either an un-channelized ice-marginal zone or a well-defined proglacial stream. This ice-marginal environment has geochemical similarities with the subglacial environments in warm-based and polythermal glaciers since it can host a complex drainage network that includes thin films of water, water-saturated till, and poorly inter-connected ponds. It is also the location where dilute supraglacial meltwater first comes into contact with abundant sediment, some of which may be freshly comminuted, and hence is an area of potentially high geochemical activity [*Anderson et al.*, 2000]. Unlike many subglacial regions, the ice-marginal environment is exposed to atmospheric sources of solutes and atmospheric gases (e.g. O₂ and CO₂) that can fuel weathering processes.

Studies of the form, availability, and cycling of glacially-derived nutrients highlight the importance of nutrients in supporting downstream ecosystems (e.g. Hood *et al.*, 2009; Bhatia *et al.*, 2013a; Lawson *et al.*, 2013, 2014; Hawkings *et al.*, 2015). This is particularly evident in the polar desert watersheds of Antarctica's Dry Valleys [*Moorhead et al.*, 1997, 2005; *Foreman et al.*, 2004; *Mcknight et al.*, 2004; *Barrett et al.*, 2007; *Bate et al.*, 2008] where glacier runoff is effectively the only source of water and downstream lakes are among the most nutrient-limited aquatic ecosystems on Earth [*Parker and Simmons*, 1985; *Priscu*, 1995; *Foreman et al.*, 2004; *Dore and Priscu*, 2013]. The fluxes and timing of nutrient delivery, especially of limiting nutrients,

to depauperate downstream ecosystems may play an important role in controlling the rates and timing of primary production in those systems [*Bagshaw et al.*, 2013].

To date, there has been no integrated study of the distinct sources/sinks of macronutrients in Dry Valley watersheds and the nutrient cycling that occurs as waters flow en route to downstream proglacial ecosystems. Joyce Glacier in the Garwood Valley of Southern Victoria Land, Antarctica, provides a unique opportunity to study these processes. Its watershed includes distinct and accessible supraglacial, ice-marginal and proglacial hydrological units that exhibit variability in flow rates, water levels, and water residence times over the course of a melt season. These hydrological units differ in their degree of hydrologic connectivity, sources of water (e.g. snow, ice, and/or sediment pore water), meltwater residence times, allochthonous and autochthonous nutrient and sediment loads.

This study has two objectives. The first is to evaluate whether/how the distinct hydrological environments encountered by meltwaters passing through Joyce Glacier's supraglacial, icemarginal and proglacial drainage systems function as sources and/or sinks for dissolved macronutrients (N, P, and C). We predict that each hydrological environment will play a unique role in the meltwater and nutrient dynamics of the whole drainage system because they differ in terms of the degree of contact that occurs between water, geological material, the atmosphere, biotic communities, and allochthonous nutrient sources. We expect nutrient export from the whole system to be sensitive to the fraction of water that passes through each environment, and to the amount of time that water spends in each of them. Our second objective is therefore to evaluate how variations in the routing and transit times of meltwater passing through the combined supraglacial, ice-marginal, and proglacial drainage system affect the export of macronutrients from the system as a whole. Specifically, we seek to determine whether nutrient delivery to downstream ecosystems occurs as a steady "trickle" or as a series of episodic "treats".

2.3 Methods

2.3.1 Study site

The Garwood Valley in Southern Victoria Land, East Antarctica, extends east-west between the East Antarctic Ice Sheet and the Ross Sea (78°1'S, 163°51'E). The area is considered a polar desert with high winds and very low precipitation, almost all of which falls as snow. The surficial geology of the Garwood Valley consists largely of calcareous aeolian and fluvial sediments and glacial moraines, with exposures of dolomite, granite, and metamorphosed bedrock. Basement rocks are dominated by impure calcareous rocks, with a mineral composition that includes calcite, calc-silicates, phlogopite, pargasite and chondrodite [*Williams et al.*, 1971]. Mafic and felsic rocks are also present, and include amphibolites and rocks containing quartz-feldsparbiotite [*Williams et al.*, 1971].

Joyce Glacier, located at the western end of the Garwood Valley, feeds proglacial Holland Stream (Figure 2-1), which flows along the north-east margin of the glacier and into proglacial Lake Colleen, approximately 750 m from the glacier terminus. This 1 km long lake is permanently ice-covered but develops a moat several meters wide and an outlet channel during the melt season. The outflow of Lake Colleen (Garwood Stream), flows along the terminus of the Garwood Glacier, and enters the Ross Sea ~10 km downstream.

Meltwaters are routed into the Holland Stream via one of two dominant flow paths. Water following the primary flow path originates from supraglacial ice and snow melt, and passes through cryoconite holes, cryolakes, and small supraglacial streams before draining into the icemarginal environment via gullies along the glacier margin. It then flows through multiple small, poorly-defined streams and/or via shallow subsurface pathways until it reaches the Holland Stream (Figure 2-1).

Considerably less water follows the second flow path to the proglacial stream. Most of this water originates as ice melt from either the terminal cliffs of Joyce Glacier or the apron of calved ice blocks at their foot. These waters drain through moraines via shallow subsurface pathways and collect in a small proglacial pond that fills and discharges intermittently (typically when melt rates are high) into proglacial Holland Stream via a well-defined channel.

2.3.2 Data collection

2.3.2.1 Discharge monitoring

Holland Stream stage was measured from January 7-31, 2010 at 15-minute resolution using a non-vented HOBO U20-001-04 Water Level Logger (range of 0 to 4 m and accuracy of \pm 0.3 cm). The stage data were barometrically compensated using data from a CS100 Setra barometer installed at the Joyce Glacier weather station (see below). Manual flow measurements, made almost daily between January 7th and January 31st, 2010, were used to estimate discharge using the USGS mid-section method, with velocity measured at 0.6 of water depth in each segment of the cross-section [*Turnipseed and Sauer*, 2010] using a Marsh-McBirney Flo-Mate 2000.

Stage-discharge relationships were established using the *Rating Curve* toolbox in the AQUARIUS[™] software suite, using 21 manual discharge measurements. Shift corrections were applied to the stage-discharge rating curve after January 17th to account for the effects of sediment aggradation on the hydraulic geometry. Due to difficulties in generating a stable rating curve, the magnitude of the calculated discharge values should be treated with caution.

2.3.2.2 Meteorological monitoring

Meteorological conditions on Joyce Glacier were recorded using a Campbell Scientific weather station powered by a solar panel. Measurements were logged every 5 minutes and stored as 15-minute averages in a Campbell Scientific CR1000 data logger and include air temperature and relative humidity (HMP45C sensor), incoming and outgoing short plus long wave radiation (CNR1 net radiometer), and wind speed and direction (RM Young 5103 sensor).

2.3.2.3 Sampling

A total of 154 water samples were collected from the supraglacial (cryoconite holes/cryolakes, supraglacial streams), ice-marginal (gullies and pond outflow) and proglacial (upstream, lake and downstream) environments between January 6 and February 2, 2010 (Table 2-1). The samples probably do not represent the full range of spatial or temporal variability in water chemistry that exists within each environment. Since the focus of our study is on nutrient dynamics in the proglacial stream, we targeted our sampling of the supraglacial and ice-marginal systems from multiple sites during conditions of high hydrological connectivity/export (between ~11:00 and 18:00) and interpret our results in the context of other studies that more fully capture the temporal and spatial variability of similar environments. We compare daily samples collected in the proglacial (Holland) stream in 2010 with samples from the source areas, as well as samples collected at 2-hour intervals over a 24-hour period on December 9-10, 2008.

Water samples were collected in 1-L plastic Nalgene bottles after rinsing three times with sample. Ice samples were collected using an ethanol-bathed and flame-sterilized steel chisel and were melted in the field in sterile Whirlpak bags. An aliquot of sample was filtered through sterile 0.7 µm GF/F syringe/filters (rinsed three times with sample prior to use). Two 28-mL universal glass vials were each rinsed three times with filtered sample before being filled and frozen (for

dissolved organic carbon (DOC), dissolved organic matter (DOM), and total nitrogen (TN) analyses). This procedure was also followed using 0.45 μ m cellulose nitrate filters to fill two 50-mL plastic Nalgene bottles (for major ions) and two 1.5-mL dry glass chromacol vials (for δ^{18} O and δ^{2} H) for each sample.

2.3.3 Laboratory analyses

Concentrations of major ions (Ca²⁺, K⁺, Na⁺, NH4⁺, SO4²⁻, NO3⁻, and Cl⁻) were determined using a Dionex (DX-500) ion chromatograph (IC) equipped with a GP50 gradient pump and an autosampler with 5 mL polypropylene polyvials (as described by Lawson *et al.*, 2013). For anion analyses, we used an IonPac AS11-HC Hydroxide Selective Anion-Exchange Column (4 x 250 mm) and IonPac AG11-HC Guard Column (2 x 50 mm) with an ASRS (4mm) suppressor, operated in 100 mA AutoRegen mode with 30 mM sodium hydroxide eluent. For cation analyses, we used an IonPac CS12A Cation-Exchange Column (4 x 250 mm) with CSRS ULTRA II 4 mm suppressor, operated in the 50 mA AutoRegen mode with 20 mM MSA eluent. Detection limits were: Ca²⁺ = 2.0 µeq L⁻¹, K⁺ = 0.26 µeq L⁻¹, Na⁺ = 3.0 µeq L⁻¹, NH4⁺ = 0.55 µeq L⁻¹, SO4²⁻ = 2.1 µeq L⁻¹, NO3⁻ = 0.48 µeq L⁻¹, and Cl⁻ = 2.8 µeq L⁻¹ and accuracies were c. 5%. HCO3⁻ concentrations were taken to be equal to the charge balance error for each sample. Concentrations of PO4³⁻, DSi, NO2⁻ were analyzed using a Bran and Luebbe continuous segmented-flow AutoAnalyser (AA3) based on principles of colorimetry. Detection limits for each ion were: PO4³⁻ = 0.42 µeq L⁻¹; DSi = 3.2 µM, NO2⁻ = 0.26 µM, and accuracies were c. 10%.

Total dissolved P was determined using a sulphuric acid/persulphate digestion step [*Johnes and Heathwaite*, 1992]. The samples were autoclaved with an oxidizing solution containing potassium persulphate, boric acid and sodium hydroxide. The samples were then measured colorimetrically on a Shimadzu UVmini-1240 spectrophotometer for total dissolved phosphorus.

The detection limit was 1.6 μ M and accuracy was <5%. Non-purgeable organic carbon and total nitrogen (TN) concentrations were determined by high temperature combustion (680°C) using a Shimadzu TOC-VCSN/TNM-1 Analyzer equipped with a high sensitivity catalyst. The detection limit for DOC was 17 μ M (accuracy of ca. 10%) and 0.7 μ M (accuracy of < ca. 5%) for TN. DON was subsequently calculated by subtracting corresponding NO₃⁻ and NH₄⁺ concentrations from TN.

The spectrofluorescent properties of DOM were determined using a Horiba Fluorolog-3 spectrofluorometer equipped with a xenon lamp as an excitation source. Frozen samples were thawed and warmed to room temperature immediately prior to analysis in a sample-rinsed quartz glass cuvette with a 10 mm path length. Synchronous scans were completed by measuring the fluorescence intensity at 1 nm intervals over emission wavelengths between 218 and 618 nm, with an excitation offset of 18 nm, an integration time of 0.5 s, and 10 nm slits. Internal and dark corrections were applied to the results.

2.3.4 Data processing and statistical analyses

Data were processed in Matlab R2015a. One-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) was used to assess the significance of differences in the concentrations of nutrients between sampling environments (e.g. cryoconite holes vs supraglacial streams). For chemical nutrients with concentrations that were below the analytical detection limit in most samples (i.e. NH4⁺ and PO4³), Fisher Exact Tests (FET) were used to evaluate the significance of between-environment differences in the frequency of detection. Where concentrations of a given constituent were above the detection limit in all samples taken from a specific environment, 2-sample T-tests were used to evaluate the statistical significance of concentration differences between environments. Spearman Rank correlations were used to evaluate the significance of dependency between variables within an environment. We acknowledge that because samples were not collected randomly (in space or time), p-values may not accurately reflect the true significance of the differences that exist within or between the hydrological environments sampled in this study. Nonetheless, a p-value of <0.05 was judged to indicate a significant difference for all statistical tests that were applied to the spatially and/or temporally clustered sample data that form the basis to this study.

The spectrofluorescence data were processed and modelled using Principal Components Analysis (PCA) to decompose the complex multivariate signals into linearly independent components [*Persson and Wedborg*, 2001; *Barker et al.*, 2009], which characterize the variance in the dataset and are interpreted as specific fractions of DOM. Due to the limitations associated with classifying individual components of DOM via fluorescence spectroscopy, particularly when using synchronous scans that cover only a small transect of the total optical space, we characterize DOM components broadly as being either protein-like (emission peak <350 nm) or humic-like (emission peak <350 nm) [*Carstea*, 2012].

Relationships between nutrient concentrations and coincident discharge rates (typically measured within 1 hour of sampling) were developed using Locally Weighted Scatterplot Smoothing (LOWESS) with a span of 0.7. Confidence intervals were calculated as \pm two times the standard deviation of 1000 LOWESS relationships derived by bootstrapping. The upper and lower confidence intervals from these curves were used to estimate nutrient fluxes at the calculated discharge rates throughout the monitoring period.

2.4 Results

2.4.1 Hydrology and major ions

Like other Dry Valley glaciers, Joyce Glacier's energy balance is driven primarily by shortwave radiation, resulting in strong diurnal and seasonal fluctuations in the volume of meltwater produced (Figure 2-2; Hoffman *et al.*, 2008). Supraglacial snow and glacier ice yielded the most dilute samples, with mean total ion concentrations of 180 µeq L⁻¹ and 97 µeq L⁻¹, respectively Figure 2-3a). Mean solute concentrations were significantly higher in cryoconite holes (662 µeq L⁻¹), supraglacial streams (596 µeq L⁻¹) and ice-marginal gullies (668 µeq L⁻¹) (ANOVA, p<0.05) and continued to increase downstream, including in the ice-marginal pond (1262 µeq L⁻¹) and proglacial environments. Mean solute concentrations increased significantly from the proglacial upstream site (1247 µeq L⁻¹) to the proglacial downstream site (1469 µeq L⁻¹; ANOVA, p<0.05), and the concentration of total ions at the proglacial upstream site was negatively correlated with discharge (rs=-0.64, n=22, p<0.01) (Figure 2-4).

2.4.2 Dissolved inorganic nitrogen

DIN in natural waters consists primarily of NO₃⁻, NO₂⁻, and NH₄⁺, all of which were analyzed in this study. While 83% of meltwater samples contained NO₃⁻ concentrations above the detection limit (0.48 μ M), only 64% contained NH₄⁺ above the detection limit (0.55 μ M), and none contained NO₂⁻ above the detection limit (0.52 μ M). Therefore, the discussion of DIN in this study is limited to NO₃⁻ and NH₄⁺, for which both concentration and/or detection rate varied significantly within and between meltwater environments (Figure 2-3b; Figure 2-5).

In the supraglacial environment, snow contained the highest average concentration of NO₃⁻ (5.0 μ M,) and glacier ice produced the highest detection rate of NH₄⁺ (90% of samples). Supraglacial streams and cryoconite holes, which are fed by snow and ice melt, produced a significantly lower detection rate of NH₄⁺ than glacier ice (FET, p<0.05) and significantly lower NO₃⁻ concentrations than snow (ANOVA, p<0.05). As supraglacial streams were routed through the ice-marginal gullies, mean NO₃⁻ concentrations increased from 1.87 μ M to 3.25 μ M (ANOVA, p<0.05). The ice-marginal pond waters contained even higher NO₃⁻ concentrations than were

found in the ice-marginal gully waters (8.61 μ M; ANOVA, p<0.05), but NH4⁺ was detected in only 50% of samples from these waters. NO3⁻ concentrations in the ice-marginal pond were significantly higher than those in potential source waters, including snow, glacier ice, moraine ice, and gully water (ANOVA, p<0.05). DIN was depleted and/or diluted in the proglacial stream and lake where the frequency of detection of NH4⁺ and the concentration of NO3⁻ decreased from 20% and 1.54 μ M at the upstream site to 8% and <0.48 μ M at the downstream site, respectively. At the proglacial upstream site, NO3⁻ was positively related to discharge (r₃=0.79, n=22, p<0.01; Figure 2-4).

2.4.3 Dissolved inorganic phosphorus

Only 47% of the meltwater samples in this study contained dissolved inorganic phosphorus concentrations (DIP; $PO4^{3-}$) above the detection limit (0.24 µM). However, significant variations in both detection rate and concentration were observed along the flow path (Figure 2-5). Low concentrations of rock-derived nutrients, including phosphorus, were found in supraglacial snow and ice (less than 30% of samples contained $PO4^{3-}$ concentrations above the detection limit). The detection rate of $PO4^{3-}$ increased significantly from ice to cryoconite holes (FET, p<0.05). However, $PO4^{3-}$ concentrations in cryoconite hole samples were highly variable, with 37% of samples below the detection limit, and others containing the highest concentrations observed among all meltwater samples (i.e. 3.5 µM and 1.6 µM).

All the ice-marginal samples contained PO_4^{3-} concentrations above the detection limit, which is a significantly higher detection rate than for snow (FET, p=0.02) and ice (FET, p=0.002). Similar to waters from ice-marginal gullies, all samples from the ice-marginal pond contained detectable quantities of PO_4^{3-} , but the average concentration in the pond waters (0.46 μ M) was significantly higher than in the gullies (0.34 μ M, T Test, n₁=6; n₂=3, p<0.01). All basal ice and moraine ice samples contained detectable quantities of PO_4^{3-} , with concentrations averaging 1.17 μ M and 0.49 μ M, respectively. Detection of PO_4^{3-} decreased significantly in the proglacial system, from 100% in the ice-marginal gullies to 25% at the upstream proglacial site (FET, p=0.001), and 0% at the downstream proglacial site (FET, p=0.01).

2.4.4 Dissolved organic matter

Dissolved organic matter (DOM) in the system was assessed by exploring dissolved organic carbon (DOC), nitrogen (DON) and phosphorus (DOP) concentrations and characterizing DOM using spectrofluorescence methods. While all samples contained detectable concentrations of DOC and DON, only 4 samples contained DOP above the detection limit. Although DON comprised most (average of 74%) of the dissolved nitrogen in the meltwater samples, with a mean concentration of 11 μ M, no significant differences in DON concentrations were observed between the various meltwater environments (ANOVA, p>0.05). Two Principal Components of the fluorescence spectra explained 76.9% and 21.6% of the variance in the dataset, and the remaining components each explained <0.6%. Component 1 had a prominent emission peak at 330 nm, associated with protein-like moieties, and Component 2 had an emission peak at 405 nm, associated with humic-like moieties [*Carstea*, 2012].

Although DOC concentrations in supraglacial snow and ice were not measured in this study, previous work reports DOC concentrations of between ~20 μ M and 40 μ M in supraglacial snow and ice from the Dry Valleys [*Bagshaw et al.*, 2013; *Barker et al.*, 2013]. Cryoconite hole waters had an average DOC concentration of 125 μ M with a standard deviation of 75 μ M (n=13). Despite this variability in DOC concentrations, all cryoconite hole DOM samples had similar spectrofluorescence properties. In addition to strong loadings on Components 1 and 2, cryoconite hole samples contained a prominent peak at 298 nm with a fluorophore-like signal (systematic

bell-shaped curve), described by PCA Component 7, suggesting the presence of an additional protein-like moiety [*Carstea*, 2012]. While this component explained only 0.04% of the variability in the total dataset, it had significantly higher loading on cryoconite hole DOM than on DOM from any of the other meltwater environments, including the outflow channels of the cryoconite holes (Figure 2-3h, ANOVA, p<0.05). Component 7 was negatively correlated with deuterium excess (r_s =-0.56, n=15, p=0.03) and air temperature (r_s =-0.63, n=10, p=0.05), suggesting that melt-refreeze cycling, evaporation effects and/or weather conditions may affect its abundance.

DOC concentrations decreased by more than 50% between supraglacial streams ($\bar{x} = 131 \mu$ M) and ice-marginal gullies ($\bar{x} = 54 \mu$ M) but increased again by a factor of approximately 3.5 in the ice-marginal pond ($\bar{x} = 192 \mu$ M, the highest mean DOC concentration among all meltwater environments). The ice-marginal pond water also yielded the highest fluorescence of the humic-like Component 2 DOM fraction, and the highest C/N ratio.

The proglacial stream contained some of the lowest DOC concentrations measured and displayed significantly less protein-like Component 1 fluorescence than was found in the supraglacial stream (ANOVA, p<0.05), and significantly less humic-like Component 2 fluorescence than the ice-marginal pond (ANOVA, p<0.05). In the proglacial stream, DOC concentrations and DOM characteristics remained relatively constant between the upstream and downstream monitoring sites, displaying no significant differences (ANOVA, p>0.05), despite the relative abundance of algal mat communities in the littoral zone of the proglacial lake and in stable, slow-flowing sections of the stream. Neither DOC concentrations nor the fluorescence intensity of the DOM components varied significantly with proglacial stream discharge (r_s =0.12, n=22, p=0.58), but DOC concentrations were significantly higher in January 2010 ($\bar{x} = 88 \mu$ M) than in
December 2008 (\bar{x} = 21 µM; T test, n₁ = 6; n₂ = 22, p<0.05) and they varied considerably throughout both melt seasons (σ = 47 µM).

2.5 Discussion

2.5.1 Nutrient sources and sinks along the flow path

2.5.1.1 Supraglacial environments

Most water in the Garwood Valley originated from supraglacial snow or ice melt, in which NO₃⁻ and NH₄⁺ concentrations were high (Figure 2-3; Figure 2-5; Figure 2-6). DIN in snow and ice can be derived from atmospheric sources via snowfall or dry deposition. Cryoconite holes and cryolakes functioned as a sink for NH₄⁺ and NO₃⁻ and as a source of PO₄³⁻ and the protein-like DOM Component 7 in this study (Figure 2-3; Figure 2-5; Figure 2-6). They are widely known as active biogeochemical systems [*Bagshaw et al.*, 2007; *Hodson et al.*, 2010b; *Tranter et al.*, 2010] and their nutrient dynamics are important because waters that pass through them comprise a significant portion of supraglacial runoff meltwater [*Fountain et al.*, 2004].

Cryoconite holes and cryolakes facilitate relatively prolonged and extensive rock-water contact, which can add rock-derived nutrients, such as DIP, to the solute-poor meltwaters. Geochemically active biota have been observed in cryoconite holes, which are known to assimilate inorganic nutrients (including DIN and DIP) in the production of organic material [*Hodson et al.*, 2005] and play an important role in defining the biogeochemistry of supraglacial waters and the range of nutrients exported to downstream ecosystems [*Bagshaw et al.*, 2010, 2013, 2016a]. For example, the DIN requirements of primary producers in cryoconite holes in Antarctic blue-ice environments exceed rates of DIN supply from ice melt at the base of the hole, suggesting that DIN is actively recycled within these systems and that they are likely to have an important influence on the nitrogen economy of supraglacial waters [*Hodson et al.*, 2013]. DIN may also be

utilized by microbes as an electron acceptor in energy-producing redox reactions such as denitrification [*Hodson et al.*, 2010b; *Telling et al.*, 2011]. Although nitrogen cycling in cryoconite holes and supraglacial streams can be complex, studies have identified the occurrence of nitrification [*Baron et al.*, 1995; *Hodson et al.*, 2005; *Scott et al.*, 2010], denitrification [*Hodson et al.*, 2011], nitrogen assimilation [*Hodson et al.*, 2005] and the production of particulate nitrogen [*Bagshaw et al.*, 2013].

Biological activity in cryoconite holes likely results in long-term net carbon fixation, which may be an important source of DOM for nutrient-poor downstream ecosystems [*Bagshaw et al.*, 2016a] and, potentially, the protein-like DOM (Component 7) observed in this study. The relative abundance of this DOM fraction in cryoconite holes and cryolakes, and its depletion downstream, suggest that this fraction of the DOM pool may be labile and provide a metabolic substrate for downstream ecosystems. Other studies have identified similar autochthonous/microbial/protein-like DOM compounds in cryoconite holes world-wide [*Lawson et al.*, 2013, 2014; *Pautler et al.*, 2013] and uniquely supraglacial fractions of DOM which are likely labile [*Bhatia et al.*, 2010; *Dubnick et al.*, 2010; *Barker et al.*, 2013; *Lawson et al.*, 2014], show non-conservative behaviour, and are depleted in downstream ecosystems [*Barker et al.*, 2006, 2013; *Hood et al.*, 2009; *Scott et al.*, 2010] by biotic or abiotic processes (e.g. photochemical reactions).

2.5.1.2 Ice-marginal environments

Solute-poor meltwaters from the supraglacial environment are routed into sediment-rich ice-marginal gullies, where large increases in NO₃⁻ occur (Figure 2-3b; Figure 2-6). A large portion of DIN supplied to meltwaters in the ice-marginal system may be sourced from the dissolution of nitrogen-containing salts. Low precipitation rates, humidity, and overland flow allow salts to accumulate in Dry Valley soils, similar to other arid regions where evaporation and sublimation

exceed precipitation [*Bisson et al.*, 2015]. Nitrates of sodium and magnesium, including Darapskite (Na₃NO₃SO₄H₂O) and soda niter (NaNO₃), are widespread in South Victoria Land [*Claridge and Campbell*, 1968; *Keys and Williams*, 1981], are highly soluble and, if present, could readily contribute NO₃⁻ to meltwaters. The ice-marginal water chemistries observed here are similar to those observed in ice-marginal ponds elsewhere in the Dry Valleys where the dissolution of atmospheric aerosols (e.g. HNO₃, (NH₄)₂SO₄) and nitrate-bearing salts contribute significantly to the solute load [*Healy et al.*, 2006; *Wait et al.*, 2006; *Webster-Brown et al.*, 2010].

Biogeochemical activity in the ice-marginal system may also supply meltwaters with DIN. Active microbial communities, which are likely important in N cycling, have been identified in recently deglaciated ice-marginal soils [*Strauss et al.*, 2012]. Studies of freshly-exposed, icemarginal soils report that in situ N-cycling is initially dominated by nitrogen mineralization via the decomposition of organic matter (<10 yrs exposed), followed by N-fixation (50 to 70 years exposed) [*Brankatschk et al.*, 2011]. Other studies have identified the presence of nitrification in ice-marginal environments [*Wynn et al.*, 2007; *Hodson et al.*, 2010a; *Ansari et al.*, 2012], and suggest that the amount of NO₃⁻ derived from nitrification can exceed that derived from atmospheric deposition [*Roberts et al.*, 2010].

There may be similar sources of DIN along the secondary flow path where meltwaters are routed from the apron of calved ice blocks along the terminus and the vertical ice cliffs to the ice-marginal pond. The ice-marginal pond was the most nutrient-rich environment along the flow path and contained the highest concentrations of DIN and DIP. These high concentrations may result from extensive access to nitrogen-containing salt deposits and longer contact with relatively phosphorus-rich glacial till [*Gudding*, 2003] as waters follow spatially and temporally dynamic flow paths in the shallow subsurface between the glacier terminus and the pond. Pond waters may

also acquire DIN and DIP from the melting of basal ice, which is found in nearby ice-cored moraines. Basal ice usually contained NH₄⁺ at concentrations at least an order of magnitude higher than found in most other environments, which could be oxidized to NO₃⁻ by nitrifying bacteria in the hyporheic zone or the soil, as has been reported for other Dry Valley streams [*Mcknight et al.*, 2004] subglacial and ice-marginal sediments [*Wynn et al.*, 2007; *Hodson et al.*, 2010a; *Ansari et al.*, 2012].

Pond water maintained high DIN and DIP concentrations despite the presence of abundant algae that likely function as a sink for inorganic nutrients. Extensive phytoplankton and microbial mat communities dominated by cyanobacteria have been observed in other Dry Valley icemarginal ponds [Webster-Brown et al., 2010]. The presence of algal communities in the pond may also affect the DOM characteristics of these waters. The ice-marginal pond waters had the highest fluorescence of the humic-like Component 2 DOM fraction and the highest C/N ratio of all meltwater environments sampled (Figure 2-3d,f). Both observations are consistent with the presence of humic substances that fluoresce at long wavelengths and have relatively high C content, and they suggest that the ice-marginal pond may be a source of humic DOM. Although humic DOM is typically produced by terrestrial vascular plants, which are absent from the Garwood Valley, a similar humic-like fluorescent component can be produced in aquatic environments by the microbial degradation of phytoplankton DOM [Stedmon and Markager, 2005]. Previous studies suggest that production and consumption of similar humic-like DOM can occur very rapidly, and that degradation can occur by microbial and photochemical processes [Stedmon and Markager, 2005].

Although the ice-marginal zone is a potentially important source of nutrients to downstream ecosystems, nutrient transfer from the ice-marginal pond to the proglacial stream occurs only intermittently. Outflow from the ice-marginal pond was typically active only during the daily flow peak (~12:00-24:00), on days with high solar radiation and/or during seasonal peak melt conditions (~Jan/Feb). The hydrology of the ice-marginal zone therefore plays an important role in the timing of nutrient transport to the proglacial stream.

2.5.1.3 **Proglacial environments**

DIN and DIP are supplied to meltwaters in the supraglacial and ice-marginal environments and are likely depleted in the proglacial stream. Decreases in DIN and DIP concentrations have been observed in other Dry Valley proglacial streams and have usually been attributed to nutrient uptake by benthic algal communities and mosses [*McKnight et al.*, 1998, 1999; *Mcknight et al.*, 2004]. Microbial processes in the hyporheic zone, including denitrification and dissimilatory NO₃⁻ reduction to NO₂⁻ and NH₄⁺, are also likely to contribute to DIN losses [*Maurice et al.*, 2002; *Mcknight et al.*, 2004], however these losses are likely minor in comparison to those attributable to benthic algal communities [*Mcknight et al.*, 2004]. Dry Valley streams and lake ecosystems have been identified as among the most nutrient-poor ecosystems on Earth [*Vincent and Vincent*, 1982; *Parker and Simmons*, 1985; *Priscu et al.*, 1989; *Priscu*, 1995; *Dore and Priscu*, 2013] and consequently have a high capacity for nutrient uptake [*Mcknight et al.*, 2004].

2.5.2 Trickle or Treat: hydrologically controlled nutrient dynamics

Distinct biogeochemical environments exist in the supraglacial, ice-marginal and proglacial systems explored in this study (Figure 2-6). Nutrient fluxes from the entire system are therefore likely to be sensitive to the proportions of water that are routed through each individual environment, and their respective residence times. The strong variability in meltwater fluxes and flow routing at daily, seasonal, and inter-annual timescales that is observed in the Dry Valleys led us to hypothesize that there would be a corresponding dynamic in the mix and quantity of nutrients

exported to downstream ecosystems under changing hydrological regimes. To explore this hypothesis, we examined the relationship between discharge and nutrient concentrations and fluxes in the Holland Stream (upstream site) to determine whether nutrient export from the glacial system throughout the melt season occurs as a constant "trickle" or as a series of episodic "treats".

We found differences in the dynamics of nutrient export to downstream environments under changing discharge regimes. The concentrations of most solutes in proglacial stream water are controlled primarily by chemical weathering of the highly permeable, unconsolidated sediments found in the channel margins and hyporheic zone [Gooseff et al., 2004] including carbonate and silicate weathering, and by salt dissolution [Lyons et al., 1998; Maurice et al., 2002; Fortner et al., 2005]. Weathering takes place where source material is supplied directly to the channel by aeolian transport, atmospheric deposition [Fortner et al., 2005, 2013] and/or bed/bank erosion. It is unsurprising then, that the concentrations of these solutes increased in the icemarginal gullies and proglacial stream where rock-water contact was high (Figure 2-3), and that they increased along both flow paths that fed the proglacial stream. Because the acquisition of these solutes requires prolonged rock-water contact, it is also unsurprising that their concentrations in the proglacial stream decreased with inverse proxies for residence time along both flow paths, including air temperature, incident solar radiation, and discharge (Figure 2-4). Consequently, downstream ecosystems receive relatively high concentrations of rock-derived solutes during low flow conditions and relatively low concentrations during high flow conditions, producing a relatively steady downstream "trickle" of such solutes (Figure 2-7), as has been observed in other Dry Valley streams [Lyons et al., 2003; Fortner et al., 2013].

 NO_3^- displayed a different hydrologic dynamic, where its concentration in upstream sections of the proglacial stream generally increased with discharge and the highest concentrations

were observed at relatively high discharges (Figure 2-4). Flux estimates derived from this concentration-discharge relationship suggest that, during high flow conditions, NO₃⁻ is exported in stronger pulses of DIN rich "treats" than is the case for most solutes (Figure 2-7). While not every high discharge event corresponds with a DIN "treat", particularly late in the melt season (e.g. January 29), a relatively large portion of the seasonal flux of NO₃⁻ occurs in pulses at times of high discharge.

The DIN sources and sinks identified along both flow paths (Figure 2-6) indicate a number of potential mechanisms that may together facilitate the delivery of episodic pulses of DIN during high discharge events. First, high melt/flow rates may allow more extensive wetting of the icemarginal zone, where waters can access new stores of reactive geologic nitrogen and accumulated NO³⁻ bearing salts. This may be particularly true early in the melt season when sediments are first wetted. Second, the ice-marginal zone along the secondary flow path, where DIN acquisition occurs (Figure 2-6), has relatively large meltwater storage capacity (in ice-marginal ponds and sediments) and only exports meltwater (and therefore DIN) under high melt/flow. Third, the DIN sinks along the flow paths likely consist of ecosystems that consume DIN via processes such as microbial denitrification and nitrogen assimilation. Under high flow conditions, waters containing DIN may travel downstream too rapidly for DIN to be assimilated or converted to N₂ by biota in the upper reaches of the watershed. Therefore, major sources of NO³⁻ are likely maximized and major sinks of NO³⁻ are likely minimized under conditions of high melt and runoff, allowing DIN to be mobilized and transported downstream as DIN-rich "treats" during pulses of high discharge.

The hydrological dynamics of DOM in the proglacial stream are considerably more complex than those of total ions and NO_3^- , as there is a less consistent relationship between DOC concentrations/DOM composition and either discharge or other indicators of hydrological routing

or runoff rate (e.g. solar radiation, air temperature, or total ion concentrations). DOM cycling in glacier systems is likely complex due to the presence of multiple sources (e.g. kerogen/fossil soil carbon, airborne organic matter, necromass, excretions from plants and other organisms), modes of transformation, and sinks (e.g. consumption, decomposition) that remain poorly understood. The lack of dominant source and sink locations for DOM along the flow path (Figure 2-6) and the complexity of DOM cycling processes likely contribute to the high variability in DOC concentrations and DOM characteristics observed in this study. While neither DOC concentrations nor DOM characteristics appear to be directly influenced by discharge rates, DOC concentrations were significantly higher in January 2010 ($\overline{x} = 88 \ \mu M$) than in December 2008 ($\overline{x} = 21 \ \mu M$) and showed considerable variability throughout both melt seasons ($\sigma = 47 \mu M$). Therefore, while DOC may be delivered to downstream ecosystems in episodic pulses ("treats"), these DOC-rich pulses may not occur at times of high discharge as consistently as the NO3⁻ "treats". Because DOC concentrations and DOM characteristics in Dry Valley proglacial streams show high variability both within and between catchments (e.g. McKnight et al., 2001; Barker et al., 2006, 2013) hydrologic controls on DOM fluxes in proglacial streams may also be inconsistent.

While we have established general relationships between total solutes and nitrate and proglacial stream discharge, considerable scatter exists (Figure 2-4), likely because watershed hydrology and biogeochemical environments evolve over the melt season. This evolution may involve, for example, changes in the rates of primary production in cryoconite holes due to seasonal variations in light intensity and air temperature [*Bagshaw et al.*, 2016b], changes in the chemistry of ice-marginal pond outflow due to vertical mixing in response to the effects of wind, precipitation, evaporation, and/or temperature [*Wait et al.*, 2006], changes in the availability of nitrate from the dissolution of salts if supplies become depleted as the melt season progresses, and

changes in biological nutrient sources/sinks as microbial, benthic algae, and moss communities develop during the growing season [*McKnight et al.*, 1998, 1999; *Mcknight et al.*, 2004]. Similarly, evolution of the hydrological system may involve flushing of the supraglacial environment during periods of rapid melt, expansion of the hyporheic zone and active layer over the summer, and erosion and sedimentation which can reconfigure supraglacial, ice-marginal, and proglacial drainage systems. The co-evolution of biogeochemical and hydrological systems suggests that the dynamics of nutrient export from these systems may change over time.

Although the negative relationship between solute concentration and discharge (Figure 2-4) is a relatively consistent observation in glacier systems, the strength of this relationship shows spatiotemporal variability between Dry Valley [Lyons et al., 2003; Fortner et al., 2013] and other polar glacier watersheds [Wadham et al., 1998; Brown, 2002; Yde et al., 2014]. Even more variability is found among polar glacier systems in the case of DIN concentration vs discharge relationships. While we observed a positive relationship between NO₃⁻ concentration and discharge in the Holland Stream, these parameters were found to be unrelated at a polythermal glacier in the Swiss Alps [Tockner et al., 2002], and inverse relationships have been observed in nearby Taylor Valley proglacial streams [Howard-Williams et al., 1989; Fortner et al., 2013], a polythermal glacier in Greenland [Wadham et al., 2016] and a temperate alpine glacier in the Canadian Rockies [Lafrenière and Sharp, 2005]. However, the strengths of these inverse relationships and the degree of scatter show considerable spatiotemporal variability. Proglacial NO₃⁻ concentration vs discharge relationships in waters draining a polythermal glacier system in Greenland (Leverett Glacier, Wadham et al., 2016) and a cold-based Glacier in the Dry Valleys of Antarctica (Canada Glacier; Fortner et al., 2013) are more similar to each other than those draining two nearby, cold-based glacier systems that have fundamentally similar glacier hydrology,

biogeochemical systems along the flow path, climate and geology (i.e. Joyce Glacier and Canada Glacier). Thus, while there is merit in making broad assumptions about the nutrient dynamics based on macro-scale glaciology and hydrology (e.g. cold-based vs warm-based glacier systems) and upscaling from measurements on one watershed to produce regional nutrient flux estimates [*Bhatia et al.*, 2013b; *Hawkings et al.*, 2016; *Wadham et al.*, 2016] and estimating nutrient fluxes under future climate conditions (e.g. Hawkings *et al.*, 2015), this study suggests that the detail of watershed biogeochemistry and hydrology in defining proglacial nutrient dynamics and spatiotemporal variability in fluxes may be substantial. The influence of nutrient-specific, watershed-specific, and temporal variability on the dynamics of nutrient fluxes from polar glacier systems is not a new theme for studies of the chemistry of glacially-derived meltwater. However, this study also underlines the important influence of dynamic changes in the connectivity of glacier-proglacial biogeochemical systems on nutrient fluxes (Gooseff *et al.*, 2016) and emphasizes the need to develop conceptual models that thoroughly describe the biogeochemical and hydrological components of the systems.

2.6 Conclusions

This study identifies a series of distinct biogeochemical environments in the supraglacial, ice-marginal and proglacial systems of Joyce Glacier in Southern Victoria Land, East Antarctica. While dissolved organic nutrient concentrations (DOC, DON and DOP) were either below our detection limits or showed little variability between these environments, potential sources and sinks for DIN, DIP and specific fractions of organic matter were identified. Specifically, snow, glacier ice, and the ice-marginal zone were important sources of DIN, and cryoconite holes and supraglacial and proglacial streams were sinks for DIN. Cryoconite holes, cryolakes, supraglacial

streams and the ice-marginal environment were sources of DIP, which were likely utilized in the proglacial system.

Seasonal changes in the routing and residence times of meltwaters through the various biogeochemical environments along the flow path yielded nutrient-specific dynamics. The concentration of solutes (total ions) decreased with increasing meltwater discharge and resulted in a relatively constant "trickle" of solutes to downstream ecosystems. In contrast, DIN concentrations increased with discharge, resulting in episodic pulses of DIN-rich "treats" during high discharge events. While DOC concentrations did not correlate with discharge rate, high variability in DOC concentrations may indicate that DOC is also exported downstream as episodic "treats", but that the timing of these "treats" may not coincide with peak discharge conditions as consistently as is the case for DIN. These nutrient-specific dynamics are not always consistent between proglacial streams in watersheds with similar climates, geology, and/or glacial thermal regimes, highlighting the important influence of dynamic changes in the connectivity of glacier-proglacial biogeochemical systems on nutrient fluxes (Gooseff *et al.*, 2016) and emphasizes the need to develop conceptual models that thoroughly describe the biogeochemical and hydrological components of the systems.

2.7 Acknowledgements

This research was supported by Antarctica New Zealand logistics funding for event K064 to S. Fitzsimons and J. Orwin, an NSERC Discovery grant to M. Sharp (155194-2010), an EPSRC grant to J.L. Wadham (EP/D057620/1), the Leverhulme Trust (Phillip Leverhulme Prize to J.L. Wadham, Leverhulme Fellowship to J.L. Wadham), a W. Garfield Weston Award for Northern Research and NSERC CGSD Award to A. Dubnick. We are grateful for Dr C. Butler who contributed to the analytical work.

Environment	Description	# of sites	# of samples (2010 only)
Cryoconite holes / Cryolakes	Representing both open and ice lidded systems near the margin of the Joyce Glacier	7	20
Supraglacial Streams	Representing cryoconite holes/cryolake outflow streams and larger cumulative supraglacial streams	10	22
Gullies	At the glacier margin between the supraglacial and moraine environments	3	7
Pond	At the inflow to the Holland stream	1	5
Upstream	Daily samples immediately downstream of the tributary inflow	1	28
Lake	At the moat on the north shore of the Proglacial Lake	1	5
Downstream	Daily samples from the outflow of the proglacial lake (upstream of Garwood Glacier inflows)	1	26
Snow	Supraglacial and fresh proglacial snow	10	10
Glacier Ice	From ice cliff exposures and the supraglacial environment	16	16
Moraines	Ice cored moraines from within 100 m of the glacier terminus	5	5
Basal Ice	Joyce Glacier basal ice	5	5

Table 2-1: Sample descriptions



Figure 2-1: Location of the Garwood Valley (top) and study site (bottom) indicating sample locations in italics. Supraglacial samples (cryoconite holes/ cryolakes, streams, snow and ice) were collected within the region indicated by the grey dotted line on the Joyce Glacier.



Figure 2-2: (a) Net shortwave radiation on the Joyce Glacier at 15 minute and 24 hour running averages. (b) Discharge rates at the "upstream" (Holland Stream) monitoring site during the study period.



Figure 2-3: ANOVA with Tukey's range test for various biogeochemical parameters along the flow path. Circles represent the mean and lines indicated the 95% confidence intervals



Figure 2-4: Concentration and fluxes of total ions (top) and nitrate (bottom) in the Holland Stream (Upstream Site). x represent the concentrations measured in samples vs the discharge in the stream at the time of sampling and the number corresponds to the day of month for each data point. The black solid line represents the concentration-discharge relationship determined via LOWESS smoothing, and the dashed grey line indicates the confidence intervals (calculated as \pm two times the standard deviation of 1000 LOWESS curves derived by bootstrapping).



Figure 2-5: Percentage of samples above the PO_4^{3-} and NH_4^+ detection limits. Letters above each bar indicate significant differences with other environments. Significance was determined using Fisher's exact test (FET) and p<0.05.



Figure 2-6: Summary of the sources and sinks for organic and inorganic nutrients in the supraglacial, ice-marginal and proglacial environments. Arrows indicate flow paths, "+" indicate sources, "-" indicate sinks.



Figure 2-7: Estimated total ion and NO₃⁻ fluxes in the Holland Stream (Upstream site) over the study period. Ranges were calculated using the upper and lower confidence intervals presented in Figure 2-4.

Chapter 3: Hydrological controls on glacially exported microbial assemblages

3.1 Abstract

The Greenland Ice Sheet (GrIS) exports approximately 400 km³ of freshwater annually to downstream freshwater and marine ecosystems. These meltwaters originate in a wide range of well-defined habitats that can be associated with very different physical environments within the ice sheet, ranging from oxygenated surface environments that are exposed to light and supplied with nutrients from atmospheric/aeolian sources to subglacial environments that are permanently dark, isolated from the atmosphere, and potentially anoxic. Hydrological conditions in the latter likely favour prolonged rock-water contact. The seasonally-evolving hydrological system that drains meltwaters from the GrIS connects these distinct microbial habitats and exports the microbes contained within them to downstream ecosystems. The microbial assemblages exported in glacier meltwater may have an impact on downstream ecosystem function and development. We explored how the seasonal development of a glacial drainage system influences the character of microbial assemblages exported from the GrIS by monitoring the seasonal changes in hydrology, water chemistry and microbial assemblage composition of meltwaters draining from a glacier in Southwest Greenland. We found that the microbial assemblages exported in meltwaters varied in response to glacier hydrological flow path characteristics. Whether or not meltwaters passed through the subglacial environment was the first-order control on the composition of the microbial assemblages exported from the glacier, while water source (i.e. supraglacial or extraglacial) and subglacial residence time were second-order controls. Glacier hydrology therefore plays a fundamental role in determining the microbial exports from glaciated watersheds.

3.2 Introduction

Once thought to be devoid of active microbial life, glacier systems are now known to harbour productive and diverse microbial assemblages [*Anesio and Laybourn-Parry*, 2012; *Boetius et al.*, 2014] that can be exported to downstream ecosystems in meltwater. The microbial exports from glacier systems can influence downstream ecosystem processes [e.g. *Battin et al.*, 2004], biodiversity [*Wilhelm et al.*, 2013], and the biogeochemistry [*Logue et al.*, 2004; *Battin et al.*, 2009; *Singer et al.*, 2012] and microbial ecology of fjord surface waters [*Gutiérrez et al.*, 2014; *Cameron et al.*, 2016]. The microbial characteristics of glacier runoff is of importance since downstream ecosystems support particularly high rates of primary productivity [*Rysgaard et al.*, 2012], contain genetically isolated populations [*Sköld et al.*, 2003], function as refugia for coldwater species [*Węslawski et al.*, 2011], and are important feeding grounds and critical habitats for a number of marine mammals and seabirds [*Kuletz et al.*, 2003; *Mathews and Pendleton*, 2006; *Arimitsu et al.*, 2012].

Some of the best documented microbial glacier habitats are those that are present on the glacier surface in wet snow, cryoconite holes, supraglacial lakes and streams (supraglacial environment) [*Hodson et al.*, 2008], and at the glacier bed in the pore waters of saturated till, water-filled cavities, and large subglacial channels and lakes (subglacial environment) [*Tranter et al.*, 2005; *Christner et al.*, 2014]. These habitats vary widely in terms of physical conditions, including the presence/absence of light energy and meltwater, the type/quantity of sediment available, allochthonous input of nutrients and microbes, redox conditions, temperature, seasonality, and meltwater residence times. These physical differences can give rise to site-specific microbial assemblages and biogeochemical processes. The most notable difference in microbial assemblages is the presence of photosynthetic species in the supraglacial environment [*Anesio et al.*, 2009;

Hodson et al., 2010b] and chemosynthetic organisms in the permanently dark, sediment-rich subglacial environment [*Boyd et al.*, 2014; *Christner et al.*, 2014]. However, even within the subglacial environment, microbial assemblages consist of both locally distinct [*Bhatia et al.*, 2006; *Lanoil et al.*, 2009] and globally distributed species [*Foght et al.*, 2004; *Tranter et al.*, 2005; *Bhatia et al.*, 2006; *Lanoil et al.*, 2009].

The hydrological networks that exports the ~400 km³ of meltwater from the GrIS to coastal environments each year [*Tedesco et al.*, 2013] evolve over the course of a melt season and dictates the proportion of water that is exported from microbial habitats within the supraglacial and subglacial systems, and the meltwater residence times in each. Most surface meltwater on the GrIS is derived from snow and ice melt on the glacier surface (supraglacial environment), where it may be routed through snow and firn, cryoconite holes, and/or supraglacial or ice-marginal lakes and streams. In these environments, microbial cells and nutrients are largely supplied by atmospheric/aeolian sources, and organisms are exposed to light. While some regions of the GrIS are cold-based, and supraglacial meltwater drains directly into the proglacial system, polythermal outlet glaciers draining the GrIS are believed to have similar hydrology to that of smaller, temperate and polythermal alpine glaciers [Bartholomew et al., 2011; Bhatia et al., 2011; Chandler et al., 2013]. In these systems, the accumulation of summer meltwaters on the glacier surface can induce the hydrologically-driven propagation of fractures and initiate connections between the surface and bed of the glacier via crevasses and moulins [Boon and Sharp, 2003], and drive the seasonal development of subglacial drainage.

The subglacial drainage system of polythermal glaciers drainage the GrIS, can include permanent elements as well as elements that form, grow, and change structure over the course of a melt season and then collapse over winter. There are two endmembers of subglacial drainage system structure, "distributed" and "channelized" networks [*Fountain et al.*, 1998, and references therein]. "Distributed" or multi-thread drainage networks dominate the subglacial environment in the winter and early in the melt season, when runoff is largely derived from basal melt (from geothermal or frictional heat), groundwater, and/or water stored at the bed in a preceding summer. Such networks typically lack large, well-defined channels and water passes through them relatively slowly following inefficient pathways where it is under high pressure (Fountain et al., 1998). These pathways include water films, till porewaters, and poorly inter-connected, water-filled cavities.

Large channels develop and form a more efficient "channelized" drainage system as the flux of supraglacial meltwater delivered to the glacier bed increases during the melt season. These systems receive meltwaters from both the supraglacial environment and regions of the bed with distributed drainage, and promote rapid transit to the terminus [*Chandler et al.*, 2013]. Efficient hydrological connectivity with the glacier surface allows channelized drainage systems to experience weather-related or diurnal discharge-related fluctuations in water pressure, which can result in reversals of the pressure gradient between the channelized and distributed drainage systems and bi-directional exchanges of water between the two systems [*Hubbard et al.*, 1995].

We hypothesized that seasonal changes in both hydrological routing and water sources would yield strong intra-seasonal differences in the makeup of microbial assemblages exported from the GrIS to downstream ecosystems in meltwaters. Here, we examine how the seasonal evolution of meltwater sources and subglacial drainage system properties affects the character of the microbial assemblages exported in runoff from a sector of the Greenland Ice Sheet (GrIS). We monitored meltwater discharge, hydrochemistry, and the composition of the microbial assemblages contained in waters exiting the GrIS throughout a single melt season. We found a significant change in the microbial assemblage composition exported in meltwaters as they were routed through the subglacial system. In addition, microbial assemblages in the proglacial stream became more similar to those in ice sheet surface waters as a more efficient, channelized subglacial drainage system developed, and as high channel discharges and water pressures restricted export of waters and microbes from the distributed component of the subglacial drainage system.

3.3 Methods

3.3.1 Field site

Kiattuut Sermiat (KS; Figure 3-1) is a 36 km² glacier in southern Greenland that terminates on land approximately 9 km from Tunulliarfik Fjord [*Hawkings et al.*, 2016]. The glacier is located in a mountainous region with a bedrock geology dominated by crystalline granite and diorite, pyroxene-biotite monzonite, and basaltic intrusions [*Henriksen et al.*, 2009]. The surrounding landscape contains podzolic soils [*Jones*, 2010] which support a vegetation cover of lichens, shrubs, sedges, and herbs. KS has an active subglacial drainage system fed by runoff from both the glacier surface and surrounding hills. It currently terminates in a small proglacial lake (0.5 km²).

3.3.2 Sample collection and processing

Fieldwork was completed at KS from May 1 to August 9, 2013 and, in summary, included 1) continuous hydrometric monitoring (water level and electrical conductivity, EC) on the proglacial stream, 2) daily biogeochemical (major ions, nutrients, pH and EC) and suspended sediment sampling on the proglacial stream, 3) microbial (~bi-weekly) sampling of the proglacial stream, and 4) microbial and biogeochemical spot-sampling of waters from cryoconite holes and both supraglacial and extraglacial (draining non-glaciated upland areas) streams (Figure 3-1).

A continuous discharge record was generated for the KS proglacial stream using multiple water level loggers (two HOBO® Onset water level loggers and two Druck wired pressure transducers), installed in the upper 3 km of the river. Water level data at 10 minute intervals were converted to discharge estimates using a rating curve generated from 51 instantaneous discharge measurements derived from rhodamine dye-dilution experiments as described by Bartholomew et al. [2011] and Hawkings et al. [*Hawkings et al.*, 2016]. Temperature-compensated electrical conductivity (EC) records were collected using Campbell Scientific sensors with 10 minute resolution. pH was measured continuously using an ISFET (ion-selective field-effect transistor) Honeywell Durafet® pH sensor, calibrated monthly using low ionic strength pH 4.01 and pH 6.96 Reagecon buffers. The pH and EC of discrete samples were measured using a Beckman Coulter ϕ 470 series handheld meter with the pH sensor calibrated daily using NIST-certified FisherbrandTM pH 7 and 10 buffers.

Proglacial meltwater samples were collected daily using a three-times sample-rinsed 1 L HDPE bottle (Nalgene®). This water was used for analyses of suspended sediment concentration, dissolved organic carbon (DOC), dissolved phosphorus species (dissolved inorganic phosphorus (DIP) and dissolved organic phosphorus (DOP)), dissolved nitrogen (NO₃⁻, NH₄⁺ and dissolved organic nitrogen (DON)), and major ions (Na⁺, K⁺, Mg²⁺, Ca²⁺, SO4²⁻, Cl⁻, and F⁻). Additional samples were collected from the supraglacial and extraglacial environments throughout the melt season. Separate collection bottles were used for each sample site. For suspended sediment concentration, a known water volume was filtered through a pre-weighed 47 mm 0.45 um Whatman® cellulose nitrate filter paper using a polyethersulfone filtration unit (Nalgene®). Papers were later oven dried overnight and re-weighed. Samples for analysis of δ^{18} O, δ^{2} H, and DOC were filtered through a 0.7 µm sample-rinsed syringe filter (Whatman® GD/X filter with

GF/F membrane), and collected into either a dry 1.5 ml ChromacolTM glass vial (isotopes), or a pre-combusted and three-times sample-rinsed 30 ml borosilicate glass vial (DOC). Samples for DIP, DOP, NH₄⁺ and NO₃⁻ were filtered through 0.45 μm syringe filters (Whatman® GD/XP polyethersulfone) into three-times sampled-rinsed 30 mL HDPE bottles (Nalgene®) and stored frozen near -20°C until analysis [*Hawkings et al.*, 2016]. Similarly, major ion samples were filtered through 0.45 μm syringe filters (Whatman® GD/XP polyethersulfone) into three-times bottles (Nalgene®) and stored for a near -20°C until analysis [*Hawkings et al.*, 2016]. Similarly, major ion samples were filtered through 0.45 μm syringe filters (Whatman® GD/XP polyethersulfone) into three-times sample-rinsed plastic 30 ml HDPE Nalgene® bottles, but were refrigerated until analysis.

Samples for microbial analyses were collected in sterile Nasco Whirl-Pak[™] sample bags and filtered within 2 hours through a three-times sample- rinsed glass filtration kit and a Pall Supor® 47mm diameter, 0.2 µm pore size, sterile filter paper. The filter paper was retrieved using acid-washed and rinsed forceps and placed into an autoclave-sterilized Eppendorf tube with 1 ml RNALater (Qiagen). Samples were frozen immediately and stored at -20°C until analysis.

3.3.3 Chemical indices

Differences in the geochemical histories of waters emerging from the glacier were detected using four simple chemical indices:

Equation 3-1
$$D: M = \frac{(Ca^{2+}+Mg^{2+})}{(Na^{+}+K^{+})}$$

*Where concentrations are in μ eq L⁻¹

Equation 3-2
$$SMF = \frac{SO_4^{2-}}{(SO_4^{2-} + HCO_3^{-})}$$

*Where concentrations are in μ eq L⁻¹

Equation 3-3
$$\rho CO_2 = \log_{10}[HCO_3^-] - pH + K_H + K_1$$

*Where concentrations are mol, $K_{\rm H}$ is 10^{-1.12} mol L⁻¹ amt ⁻¹ and $K_1 = 10^{-6.6}$ mol L⁻¹ amt ⁻¹

(i) the ratio of divalent to monovalent cations (D:M; Equation 3-1), which is a proxy for the relative contributions of silicate and carbonate weathering to the total solute load. Na⁺ and K⁺ are assumed to be derived primarily from silicate weathering, and Ca²⁺ and Mg²⁺ primarily from carbonate weathering [*Tranter et al.*, 2002; *Wadham et al.*, 2010]. Silicate weathering has relatively slow reaction kinetics and is thought to occur primarily in the distributed drainage system, while carbonate weathering, which has relatively rapid reaction kinetics, dominates the solute load of waters that pass rapidly through the channelized system [*Tranter et al.*, 2002]. As a result, waters from distributed drainage networks typically yield low divalent to monovalent cation ratios while those from channelized drainage systems typically yield high divalent to monovalent cation ratios [*Wadham et al.*, 2010].

(ii) the sulphate mass fraction of the total anion load (SMF; Equation 3-2), provides a measure of the fraction of HCO₃⁻ that is derived from sulphide oxidation coupled with carbonate dissolution. As meltwaters from distributed drainage networks have more prolonged access to freshly comminuted reactive sulphide minerals than waters from channelized systems they typically have higher SMF values than those from channelized drainage networks [*Wadham et al.*, 1998, 2004; *Tranter et al.*, 2002]. Sulphide oxidation coupled with carbonate dissolution (Equation 3-1) results in SMF = 0.5. Carbonation reactions (where aqueous CO₂ provides the proton source Equation 3-2) dominate weathering in channelized systems where meltwater residence times are short and result in SMF < 0.5. Sulphide oxidation coupled with silicate weathering and/or precipitation of carbonate (Equation 3-3) yields SMF > 0.5.

(iii) the partial pressure of CO_2 with which the waters appear to be in equilibrium (ρCO_2 ; Equation 3-3) provides a measure of the degree to which waters appear to be in equilibrium with atmospheric CO_2 and indicates the balance between CO_2 diffusion into/out of solution and the rate

of CO₂ drawdown via chemical weathering processes [*Raiswell*, 1984; *Raiswell and Thomas*, 1984]. Waters in equilibrium with atmospheric CO₂ have a ρ CO₂ of 10^{-3.5} atm. Higher ρ CO₂ values are possible if the rate of proton supply exceeds the rate of consumption, for example if there is an additional source of H⁺ beyond the dissolution of atmospheric CO₂ in water (e.g. from oxidation of organic carbon or sulphide minerals). In contrast, lower ρ CO₂ values occur when rates of CO₂ consumption by chemical weathering processes exceed rates of CO₂ diffusion into solution [*Sharp*, 1991]. Differences in proton supply and consumption between distributed and channelized systems tend to suggest that high ρ CO₂ waters are characteristic of distributed systems, while low ρ CO₂ waters are associated with channelized systems.

(iv) the EC of meltwaters is a proxy for the solute concentration in meltwaters. EC tends to be higher in distributed drainage networks, where prolonged contact between water and highly reactive minerals yields higher solute concentrations, and lower in dilute supraglacial and channelized subglacial systems where the duration of rock-water contact is limited.

3.3.4 Analytical procedures

Major cation (Na⁺, K⁺, Mg²⁺, Ca²⁺) and anion (Cl⁻, NO₃⁻, SO₄²⁻) concentrations were measured using a Thermo ScientificTM DionexTM capillary ICS-5000 fitted with simultaneous anion and cation columns, with HCO₃⁻ estimated as the charge deficit [*Hawkings et al.*, 2015].DOC and TN were measured via high-temperature combustion (680°C) using a Shimadzu TOC-V_{CSN}/TNM-1 analyzer. DIP and DOP were measured using a LaChat QuickChem® 8500 series 2 flow injection analyzer as in Hawkings *et al.* [*Hawkings et al.*, 2016] with DOP determined after acid persulfate digestion. NH₄⁺ was also measured using a LaChat QuickChem® 8500 series 2 flow injection analyzer, as described by Wadham *et al.* [*Wadham et al.*, 2016]. Oxygen and hydrogen isotopes were measured using a Los Gatos Research liquid-water isotope analyzer following the procedure described by Lis et al. [*Lis et al.*, 2008].

DNA extraction from preserved filters was performed using a FastDNA® SPIN KIT following the manufacturer's protocol. DNA was extracted from duplicate filter papers collected from each sampling site, and combined prior to library preparation. Library construction included a two-step PCR protocol designed to prepare amplicons for IonTorrent Personal Genome Machine sequencing. In the first step, the V3 variable region was targeted using a 341 forward primer (5' -CCTACGGGAGGCAGCAG-3') carrying а universal **GLENN** (5' tag CAGTCGGGCGTCATCA- 3'; developed by Travis Glenn, http://www.gvsu.edu/dna/universalprimer-tag-6.htm), and a 518 reverse primer (5' -ATTACCGCGGCTGCTGG- 3') carrying a trP1 adapter (5' -CCTCTCTATGGGCAGTCGGTGAT- 3'). Barcodes to allow multiplexing of samples were added in the second step, which used the matching GLENN universal tag carrying a barcoded forward primer and the matching trP1 adapter as the reverse primer. PCR conditions were as follows: 95°C for 4 minutes, followed by 10 cycles of 95°C for 15 seconds, 65°C for 30 seconds, and 72°C for 30 seconds; the next 20 cycles included 95°C for 15 seconds, 55°C for 30 seconds, and 72°C for 30 seconds; finally, the last elongation step was performed at 72°C for 10 minutes. Subsamples were mixed in equal concentrations and purified using UltraClean GelSpin DNA Extraction Kit. Samples were amplified in triplicate in the first step, combined, and amplified in triplicate and combined in the second step to control for PCR biases. Negative control blanks were extracted and processed along with the samples and no PCR product or sequences were obtained from these blanks. The subsequent sequencing protocol was performed using Ion Torrent technology with the Ion PGMTM Sequencing 200 Kit v2 with the Ion 316 Chip v2.

3.3.5 DNA sequence processing and statistical analyses

sequences were processed using the Mothur 454 SOP (v. 1.33.3; Raw http://www.mothur.org/wiki/454 SOP; [Schloss et al., 2009, 2011]). Briefly, sequences were initially subject to quality control parameters that discarded those sequences (i) below a quality score of 25; (ii) shorter than 100 bp; (iii) containing primer and barcode mismatches; (iv) containing homopolymers longer than 8 bp. Alignment of sequences was performed using the SILVA reference database. Sequences were then pre-clustered for further noise reduction as recommended [Pruesse et al., 2007; Huse et al., 2010; Schloss, 2010; Schloss et al., 2011]. Chimeras were removed using the UCHIME implementation within Mothur [Edgar et al., 2011; Schloss et al., 2011]. Operational Taxonomic Units (OTUs) were assigned using a 97% sequence similarity definition with the average-neighbor clustering algorithm. OTUs were then classified to the highest taxonomic resolution possible (i.e. phylum, class, family, and/or genus level) using the Ribosomal Database Project classifier (train set 9) with a 60% confidence threshold (RDP; http://rdp.cme.msu.edu/). Those sequences corresponding to chloroplast, mitochondria, Eukarya, or unknown were removed; furthermore, those OTUs represented by only a single sequence were removed.

Processed sequences were subsampled to lower than the smallest library size to allow identical sequencing depth for each sample before further alpha and beta diversity analyses [*Gihring et al.*, 2012]. For the complete dataset (supraglacial, extraglacial and proglacial samples), each sequence dataset was subsampled to 1000 sequences, while for the sample group including only the proglacial samples, each sequence dataset was subsampled 2500 sequences.

Taxon (OTU) richness was measured in Mothur using observed richness and estimated richness with Chao1 non-parametric richness estimator; overall diversity was estimated using

inverse Simpson's index (1/D) as well as the Shannon diversity index (H), which are nonparametric diversity estimators that consider both species richness and species evenness [*Shannon*, 1947; *Simpson*, 1949; *Chao*, 1984; *Chao and Shen*, 2003].

Beta diversity was examined using PC-ORD (version 6; McCune & Grace, 2002) where changes in bacterial assemblage composition were visualized using nonmetric multidimensional scaling (NMS) ordination using 100 runs of real data. To determine if axes created were significantly better than would be obtained by chance, a Monte Carlo test of 100 runs on randomized data was also performed. Based on three distinct hydrological periods, we grouped samples in the NMS ordination into "Early Season", "Transition Period", and "Late Season" groups and determined whether there were significant changes in assemblage composition between these groups using the multi-response permutation procedure (MRPP; McCune & Grace, 2002). Three statistical values are obtained in MRPP analysis: the test statistic (T) describing separation between groups, where greater separation is implied as values become more negative; withingroup agreement (A), which is a chance-corrected value where A=0 when within-group heterogeneity equals that expected by chance, A<1 when within-group heterogeneity is greater than expected by chance, A=1 (max value) when all samples within a group are identical; MRPP also produces a p value for overall and multiple comparisons [*McCune et al.*, 2002].

The relationship between physical/chemical variables and changes in bacterial assemblage composition were determined in PC-ORD using Mantel tests; Mantel tests were conducted using independent runs for each environmental parameter. To determine specific changes in biogeochemical or microbial parameters, we used ANOVA with Tukey's post hoc HSD for multiple comparisons.

3.4 Results

3.4.1 Hydrology/hydrochemistry

Three distinct hydrological periods were defined on the basis of major shifts in the discharge, electrical conductivity, suspended sediment content, and chemical composition of the proglacial stream waters at KS. We use these shifts to define three distinct runoff periods that we refer to as the Early Season, Transition Period, and Late Season (Figure 3-2). Although there is some variability in the exact dates on which distinct shifts in each parameter occur, the shifts are present in all records and, in each case, are synchronous to within a 2-day period (Figure 3-2).

The Early Season (prior to June 6) was characterized by low proglacial discharge (<10 m³s⁻¹) with little diurnal variability, even though daytime high air temperatures were above 0°C and there was a strong diurnal air temperature signal. The chemistry of these waters was distinct from that of waters leaving the glacier in subsequent periods. It is characterised by the lowest average ratio of divalent to monovalent cations (5.91) and the highest mean values of SMF (0.16), ρ CO₂ (10^{-3.90} atm), and EC (49.6 μ S cm⁻¹; ANOVA, p<0.05), indicating long transit times. Only during this period did suspended sediment concentrations increase consistently over time (from ~0.04 g L⁻¹ to ~ 0.22 g L⁻¹).

The Transition Period lasted from June 7 to ~June 26. Its onset was marked by a "spring event" [*Mair et al.*, 2004], including a distinct peak in discharge (43 m³ s⁻¹) and suspended sediment concentration (0.22 g L⁻¹) (Figure 3-2). Waters draining from the glacier during this interval showed a consistent increase in the ratio of divalent to monovalent cations (5.59 to 6.81), and consistent decrease in pCO₂ (10^{-4.36} to 10^{-5.20} atm), SMF (0.18 to 0.08) and EC (39.7 to 24.6 μ S cm⁻¹) (Figure 3-2), indicating that meltwater residence times decreased as the flux of dilute supraglacial meltwaters increased.

The Late Season extended from ~June 26 to the end of sampling in early August. Discharge reached a seasonal peak in mid-July (64 m³ s⁻¹) in response to the high daytime temperatures (Figure 3-2) and then receded (to 25 m³ s⁻¹ in mid-August). Throughout this period, clear diurnal variations in discharge were superimposed upon longer-term trends. Suspended sediment concentrations generally decreased over time, from 0.15 g L⁻¹ to 0.09 g L⁻¹, as in the Transition Period. Late Season waters had chemical signatures distinctly different from highest average ratio of divalent to monovalent cations (7.32), and the lowest average values for ρ CO₂ (10^{-5.23} atm), SMF (0.078) and EC (22.2 μ S cm⁻¹) (ANOVA, p<0.05), indicating a strong influence of surface waters and short subglacial residence times.

3.4.2 Microbiology

To estimate coverage of diversity, Good's coverage indicated high coverage within all samples collected, with the lowest sample having 84% coverage (data not shown). However, we propose some caution with respect to these results as both rarefaction analysis and the relatively high number of Chao1 estimated OTUs compared to observed OTUs imply increased sampling may lead to discovery of new OTUs and increased diversity.

Microbial assemblages in the proglacial stream waters were significantly different from those in waters sampled from the extra-glacial and supra-glacial environments throughout the melt season (Figure 3-3a, T= -12.96; A= 0.15; p<0.001). The composition of the microbial assemblage in the proglacial stream waters was remarkably stable throughout the melt season (Figure 3-3a). For example, the variability in microbial assemblage composition among the 21 proglacial stream samples collected over a 10-week period is approximately the same as that found among the assemblages from the 4 extraglacial stream samples that were collected over a 4-week period (Figure 3-3a). This stability in proglacial stream microbial assemblage composition occurred

despite large inferred changes in subglacial residence times, flow paths, and water sources over the melt season. These hydrological changes include a more than 100-fold increase in discharge, a 9-fold increase in suspended sediment concentration, a decrease in electrical conductivity from ~50 μ S cm⁻¹ to 20 μ S cm⁻¹, an increase in the divalent to monovalent cation ratio from ~6 to 8, a drop in the SMF from ~0.15 to 0.07 and a drop in the partial pressure of CO₂ (ρ CO₂) from ~10-4 atm to 10-5 atm (Figure 3-2).

Although microbial assemblage composition in the proglacial stream was generally stable throughout the melt season, it is possible to recognize three statistically significant clusters of microbial assemblages corresponding to the Early Season, Transition Period, and Late Season hydrological periods (MRPP; T= -10.59; A= 0.21; p<0.001, Figure 3-3b). The changes in microbial assemblage composition between the three periods appear to involve a shift from a "subglacial" assemblage to one more similar to assemblages from the extraglacial and supraglacial samples. The meltwater microbial assemblage composition shifted towards that of the extraglacial environment during a short period from June 6 – June 16 (the beginning of the Transition Period; Figure 3-3b, Axis 2). Another, more dramatic, shift occurred between June 16 and June 29 when the proglacial stream assemblage composition became more characteristic of the supraglacial environment (Figure 3-3b, Axis 1). These compositional shifts were associated with changes in discharge, pH, major ion content and composition (total IN, SO4²⁻, NO3⁻, Na⁺, Mg²⁺, K⁺, HCO3⁻, F⁻, Cl⁻, Ca²⁺), and δ^{18} O (Mantel tests; p<0.001; Figure 3-3b). There were no significant correlations with other parameters such as deuterium excess (indicative of melt-freeze processes), or the concentrations of suspended sediment, DON, DOC, DIP, or DOP. However, the occurrence of seven of the ten most dominant classified OTUs found in the proglacial waters (Acetobacteraceae, Flavobacteriaceae, Comamonadaceae, Rhizobiaceae, and unclassified

families belonging to the phylum *Proteobacteria*, *Actinobacteria*, and the order *Sphingobacteriales*) were significantly (p<0.05) and positively correlated with suspended sediment concentration.

3.5 Discussion

3.5.1 Hydrological regime

Early Season meltwaters displayed a chemical signature characteristic of both relatively long rock-water contact (e.g. silicate weathering) and weathering processes that involve reactive sediments (e.g. sulphides and carbonates). This suggests the existence of a relatively inefficient subglacial drainage system, with water sources that might include basal ice melt (from geothermal or frictional heating), supraglacial snowmelt from the current season that was routed slowly through the subglacial system, and/or meltwater from the end of the previous melt season that was retained in the subglacial environment over winter.

High runoff volumes and diurnal hydrograph signatures suggest that channelized drainage was established by the onset of the Transition Period (~June 7). The seasonal peak in suspended sediment concentration in the proglacial stream coincides with the first major peak in discharge of the melt season (Figure 3-2), suggesting that this was likely a period of high basal water pressure, reduced basal drag, increased basal motion by sliding and/or sediment deformation, and reorganization of the subglacial drainage system [*Mair et al.*, 2004; *Swift et al.*, 2005]. The water chemistry suggests a growing contribution from dilute supraglacial waters that passed rapidly through an increasingly efficient subglacial drainage system during this period. However, the stream water chemistry does show a continuing but diminishing contribution to the solute load from slow reactions and reactive minerals (such as sulphide oxidation coupled to carbonate and

silicate dissolution), suggesting drainage from areas of the bed with an inefficient distributed meltwater drainage system.

The chemical signature of Late Season waters, which began to emerge on ~June 24 and continued to do so until the end of the sampling period, suggest an increasing proportion of water draining through an efficient, channelized subglacial drainage network. These waters are likely sourced predominantly from supraglacial snow and ice melt and are routed relatively quickly and efficiently across the largely snow-free lower elevations of the glacier surface. During transit through the channelized subglacial drainage network, these relatively dilute meltwaters are involved in chemical weathering reactions, such as the carbonation of carbonates, which have relatively quick reaction kinetics and occur in the absence of proton supply from sulphide oxidation. However, there is also evidence for continued drainage from distributed elements of the subglacial drainage system throughout the Late Season. This is particularly obvious at times when surface melt inputs to the channelized drainage system were exceptionally low (e.g. between June 24 and July 5). Persistent drainage from regions of the bed with distributed drainage systems, even during seasonal peak discharge conditions, has been described previously [*Tranter et al.*, 2005] and observed elsewhere on the GrIS [*Bhatia et al.*, 2011; *Hawkings et al.*, 2016].

The Early Season, Transition Period, and Late Season subglacial drainage regimes reported here imply strong intra-seasonal variability in the sources of water and solute exported from the glacier, and in subglacial water residence times and the rock-water contact that occurs during passage through the glacier. These hydrological characteristics are typical of many warm-based and polythermal glacier systems, and are consistent with observations elsewhere on the GrIS [*Bartholomew et al.*, 2010, 2011; *Bhatia et al.*, 2011; *Chandler et al.*, 2013].
3.5.2 First-order control on exported microbial assemblages: subglacial drainage

The proglacial stream at KS had microbial assemblages that differed significantly from those found in supraglacial and extraglacial source waters, suggesting that the passage of water through the subglacial environment was a first-order control on the microbial assemblages exported from the glacier. The microbial assemblages in proglacial stream waters remain distinct from source waters (i.e. extraglacial and supraglacial), even during periods of high discharge in the late season when meltwaters were routed relatively quickly through the subglacial system. Therefore, changes in the microbial assemblages contained in meltwaters as they were routed from the supraglacial system through the subglacial system must have also occurred relatively rapidly. Changes in the microbial assemblages contained in meltwater in the subglacial environment likely resulted from the mixing of surface-derived waters with subglacial delayed-flow waters that were routed slowly through distributed drainage networks. The microbial contributions from delayed-flow waters are likely to contain both distinct microbial assemblages and high microbial abundances [*Sharp et al.*, 1999; *Foght et al.*, 2004].

Areas of the glacier bed away from major channels provide microbial habitats that are permanently dark and cold, relatively isolated from the atmosphere, and which allow prolonged rock-water contact. These environments support psychrotolerant or psychrophilic organisms that acquire nutrients and energy from reactions involving minerals or organic compounds derived from both underlying and entrained debris and bedrock [*Sharp et al.*, 1999; *Bottrell and Tranter*, 2002; *Foght et al.*, 2004; *Wadham et al.*, 2008, 2012], which is different from those found in surface environments where light and oxygen are more abundant. Remote areas of the bed may tend towards anoxia because oxidation of sulphides and organic matter can consume the oxygen available in these relatively closed systems [*Wadham et al.*, 2012]. As a result subglacial environments host microbial species capable of nitrate, iron, or sulphate reduction and methanogenesis [*Skidmore et al.*, 2000; *Boyd et al.*, 2010; *Yde et al.*, 2010; *Stibal et al.*, 2012a; *Wadham et al.*, 2012; *Telling et al.*, 2015].

Entrainment of distinctive microbes that reside in both sediments and water within the subglacial system may change the composition of the microbial assemblage in emergent meltwaters. While glacier ice, snow, cryoconite hole waters, and supraglacial stream water typically contain bacterial cell concentrations on the order of 10^4 cells ml⁻¹ [*Säwström et al.*, 2002; *Foreman et al.*, 2007; *Anesio et al.*, 2010], basal ice and subglacial water can contain cell concentrations 1-2 orders of magnitude higher [*Karl et al.*, 1999; *Sheridan et al.*, 2003; *Gaidos et al.*, 2004; *Skidmore et al.*, 2005]. More than 0.03 g L⁻¹ sediment was acquired by meltwaters in the subglacial environment at KS and subglacial microbial concentrations are positively correlated with sediment concentrations in basal ice and meltwater [*Sharp et al.*, 1999] and are orders of magnitude higher in subglacial sediment than in basal ice [*Sharp et al.*, 1999; *Foght et al.*, 2004; *Tung et al.*, 2006]. At other sites, the GrIS subglacial environment hosts between 10^5 cells g⁻¹ sediment [*Lawson*, 2012] and up to the equivalent of 10^{11} cells g⁻¹ dry weight silt [*Tung et al.*, 2006]. Thus, entrainment of even small concentrations of subglacial water and/or sediment likely strongly influences the composition of the proglacial stream microbial assemblage.

3.5.3 Second-order control on exported microbial assemblages: source water and subglacial residence time

Despite the remarkably consistent microbial assemblage composition of proglacial stream waters at KS, there is still significant seasonal variability (p<0.001; Figure 3-3b). Although this variability is relatively small compared to the changes that occur as supraglacial or extraglacial

waters are routed through the subglacial system, it does suggest a second-order control on the nature of the microbial assemblages exported from KS.

Two independent lines of evidence suggest that seasonal variability in microbial exports from KS is a response to changes in the sources, flow routing and subglacial residence time of emerging meltwaters. First, changes in microbial assemblage composition were significantly correlated with changes in pH, discharge rate, δ^{18} O, EC, and major ion composition (Figure 3-3b), which are proxies for water sources and/or subglacial residence time. Second, the microbial assemblage found in Early Season proglacial stream waters was most distinct from the assemblages found in supraglacial and extraglacial waters, and it become more similar to that of extraglacial waters during the Transition Period, and to supraglacial waters during the Late Season (Figure 3-3a). These shifts are consistent with inferred changes in the relative contributions to runoff of the different water sources over the melt season. Early Season proglacial stream waters likely spent a prolonged period at the glacier bed, where viable microbial populations that are distinct from those found in supraglacial and extraglacial environments are known to exist [Sharp et al., 1999; Foght et al., 2004; Skidmore et al., 2005; Lanoil et al., 2009; Yde et al., 2010]. The shift in microbial assemblage composition during the Transition Period, towards one characteristic of extraglacial waters, coincides approximately with the timing of the spring freshet, when extraglacial snowmelt inputs to the subglacial system likely peaked. The subsequent shift in microbial assemblage composition towards that typical of supraglacial waters during the Late Season coincides approximately with the timing of peak supraglacial meltwater production.

3.6 Conclusions

We used next-generation sequencing of bacterial small subunit rRNA genes to explore the microbial assemblage compositions recovered from a glacial drainage system in southwest

Greenland. Drainage through the subglacial environment significantly altered the microbial assemblages exported in meltwater. Changes in assemblage composition occurred relatively rapidly relative to the subglacial residence times (i.e. significant changes occurred even during those parts of the season with the shortest subglacial residence times) and were consistent in nature (i.e. they resulted in relatively stable microbial assemblages in the proglacial stream). These results contribute to mounting evidence that suggests the presence of an active, endogenous microbial assemblage in the subglacial environment [*Skidmore and Sharp*, 1999; *Foght et al.*, 2004; *Skidmore et al.*, 2005; *Lanoil et al.*, 2009; *Stibal et al.*, 2012a; *Wadham et al.*, 2012]. They also confirm that the subglacial environment is a strong and stable source of distinct microbial assemblages to waters that pass through it [*Cameron et al.*, 2016].

While passage (or not) through the subglacial drainage system is the first-order control on the composition of proglacial stream microbial assemblages, changes in water source and subglacial residence time have second-order effects. These explain small but significant shifts in the composition of microbial assemblages in the proglacial stream over a melt season and highlight the potential influence of water from supraglacial and extraglacial environments on the microbiology of proglacial and downstream environments. Although this study only examined the microbial assemblages exported during a single melt season from one glacier and may not represent the full range of spatial and temporal conditions on the GrIS, it does suggest a strong connection may exists between the microbial assemblages contained in proglacial stream and the hydrological regime of the glacial system.

3.7 Acknowledgements

This research was supported by an NSERC Discovery grant to M. Sharp (05234-2015), a NERC grant (NE/I008845/1) and Leverhulme research fellowship to J. Wadham, and an NSTP

grant, C/BAR grant, W. Garfield Weston Award for Northern Research, and a NSERC CGSD Award to A. Dubnick. We thank the entire field team at KS and the staff in LOWTEX laboratories at the University of Bristol. Data from this paper can be made available upon request to the corresponding author.



Figure 3-1: Study site including Kiattuut Sermiat (white), its proglacial lake/stream (dark grey) and extraglacial streams (black), and sample locations (italics).



Figure 3-2: (a) Divalent $(Mg^{2+}+Ca^{2+})$ to monovalent (K^++Na^+) cation ratios, (b) partial pressure of CO₂ with which the water appears to be in equilibrium (c) Sulfate mass fraction (SMF), (d) air temperature and precipitation (from Cappelen [2015]) and, (e) discharge, electrical conductivity, suspended sediment and microbial sampling dates of proglacial stream waters. Vertical lines distinguish the "Early Season", "Transition", and "Late Season" hydrological phases.



Figure 3-3: Microbial assemblage composition determined by Nonmetric Multidimensional Scaling (NMS) ordination of Bray-Curtis distance measure using 16S rRNA gene sequencing (stress=0.06). Values in parentheses next to axis labels indicate the percent of variance in the distance matrix explained by each axis. Multiresponse Permutation Procedure (MRPP) reveals significant differences between a) proglacial, supraglacial and extraglacial microbial assemblages (1000 subsamples) and b) Early Season, Transition Period, and Late Season proglacial stream microbial assemblages (2500 subsamples). Colored arrows represent significant correlations with physical parameters using Mantel tests (P<0.001).

Chapter 4: The effects of basal thermal regime on the biogeochemistry of subglacial systems

4.1 Abstract

Ice formed in the subglacial environment can contain some of the highest concentrations of solutes, nutrients and microbes found in glacier systems. Upon glacial melt, these biogeochemical materials can be exported to downstream freshwater and marine ecosystems and glacier forefields. Basal thermal regime might play an important role in controlling variability in subglacial biogeochemistry by influencing the extent to which glaciers mobilize material from the underlying substrate and the extent and type of biogeochemical activity that can occur *in situ*. To explore the biogeochemical variability in subglacial systems, we characterized the solutes, nutrients, and microbes found in the basal regions of polythermal glaciers (which host relatively 'warm' subglacial environments) and a cold-based glacier (which host relatively 'cold' subglacial environments) and compare them to material from their parent glacier ice. We also characterized the solutes, nutrients and microbes contained in meltwater that survived the winter as liquid beneath a polythermal glacier to evaluate the subglacial biogeochemical processes that can occur in the presence of liquid water. Compared to its parent glacier ice, we find basal ice from polythermal glaciers to be consistently enriched in major ions, dissolved organic matter (including a specific fraction of humic-like fluorescent material), and microbes, and occasionally enriched in dissolved phosphorus, reduced nitrogen (NH_4^+) and a second component of humic-like fluorescent dissolved material. However, overwintered subglacial meltwater showed evidence of *in situ* biogeochemical activity that depleted its reservoir of potentially labile dissolved nutrients, including dissolved inorganic

phosphorus and nitrogen and dissolved organic matter. These waters also contained a unique microbial assemblage, of which at least a portion is closely related to psychrophilic or oligotrophic microbes. In contrast, the biogeochemistry of basal ice from cold-based glacier systems remained remarkably similar to that of its parent glacier ice. Although the 'cold' basal ice samples explored show some evidence that they may have acquired inorganic and organic nutrients from the subglacial substrate, the substrate did not appear to contribute significant amounts of solutes or microbes to the basal ice. Findings from this study suggest that basal thermal regime and the presence of subglacial water can play important roles in controlling the subglacial biogeochemistry and the mix of solutes, nutrients, and microbes that are acquired from substrates beneath glaciers or produced within subglacial environments.

4.2 Introduction

Subglacial environments can host a diverse range of physical and biogeochemical conditions. Basal ice forms at or near the bed of glaciers as ice deforms and/or slides over the underlying substrate, erodes bedrock and/or subglacial sediments and entrains these materials. In relatively fast-flowing temperate and polythermal glaciers, geothermal and frictional heat sources can warm ice near the bed; in some areas, to the pressure-melting point. Relatively warm ice temperatures and melt-freeze processes near the bed can increase subglacial erosion and ice deformation, and promote chemical weathering reactions with both the underlying bedrock and unconsolidated sediments. In slow-flowing cold based glaciers, ice is frozen to the bed, and the cold temperatures limit erosion, ice deformation and chemical weathering processes. Subglacial processes in glaciers with relatively 'warm' or relatively 'cold' basal temperatures can produce sequences of basal ice that are chemically and/or physically distinct from the parent glacier ice,

which has a largely meteoric origin through snowfall [*Knight*, 1997; *Hubbard et al.*, 2009]. Basal ice typically acquires solutes (often dominated by Ca²⁺, Mg²⁺, HCO₃⁻ and SO₄²⁻), via reactions involving carbonate and sulphide minerals, which are trace components in most types of bedrock [*Holland*, 1978]. It may also incorporate nutrients (e.g. phosphorus, silica, potassium) and microbes from the underlying substrate [*Sharp et al.*, 1999; *Montross et al.*, 2014]. Basal ice and subglacial water may also host microbes that mediate redox reactions [*Sharp et al.*, 1999] and play an active role in bedrock weathering [*Tranter et al.*, 2002], producing and/or consuming ecologically important nutrients such as sediment-bound phosphorus [*Hodson et al.*, 2005; *Hodson*, 2007], iron [*Statham et al.*, 2008; *Bhatia et al.*, 2013a; *Wadham et al.*, 2013], sulphate [*Bottrell and Tranter*, 2002; *Wadham et al.*, 2004], silica [*Hodson et al.*, 2006; *Wadham et al.*, 2012; *Bhatia et al.*, 2013b].

A large portion of the sediment, solutes, nutrients and microbes that are contained in glacier systems are initially mobilized by subglacial processes and stored within basal ice and subglacial water [e.g. *Raiswell*, 1984; *Sharp et al.*, 1999; *Barker et al.*, 2010; *Hawkings et al.*, 2016]. As such, elements of subglacial environments can play a fundamental role in defining the biogeochemistry of meltwater discharge from glaciers and ice caps. In temperate and polythermal glaciers, water can be produced and stored in remote areas of the bed (in pools, lakes and streams, in the pore volume of subglacial sediments, and in fractured bedrock) before it eventually drains into downstream environments. Meltwater flow through subglacial drainage networks can dramatically alter the geochemical [*Tranter et al.*, 2002], nutrient [*Hawkings et al.*, 2014; *Wadham et al.*, 2016] and microbial composition [*Dubnick et al.*, 2017a] of supraglacially-derived meltwater during its transit to downstream proglacial environments. During glacial retreat, melting of basal ice can also

release the sediment, solutes, nutrients and microbes it contains to glacier forefields. Subglacial microbes released from melting basal ice are initial colonizers of forefield soils and contribute to the nutrient dynamics in these terrestrial environments [*Mindl et al.*, 2007; *Sattin et al.*, 2010; *Kazemi et al.*, 2016]. Glacial deposits form the basis of the soils from which postglacial landscapes evolve [*Kastovská et al.*, 2005], making their biogeochemical attributes of importance to these changing ecosystems.

Despite the relatively high concentrations of solutes, nutrients and microbes found in subglacial systems, and their potential impact on downstream ecosystems and forefield composition, our understanding of subglacial biogeochemical processes and products, and their spatio-temporal variability, remains limited. We expect basal thermal regime to play an important role in defining the physical and biogeochemical environment of basal ice and subglacial water. Basal thermal regime can influence the extent to which glaciers mobilize material from the underlying substrate, and the extent and types of biogeochemical activity that can occur in situ. Thus, to explore the spatio-temporal variability in the biogeochemistry of subglacial systems, we have characterized the solutes, nutrients, and microbes found in the basal regions of glaciers inferred to have different basal thermal regimes. Fast-flowing glaciers typically have warmer basal temperatures than slow-flowing glaciers since warm ice deforms more easily than cold ice and subglacial water promotes basal sliding [Iken, 1981; Iken and Bindschadler, 1986]. We therefore sampled basal ice from three fast-flowing, polythermal outlet glaciers (Sverdrup Glacier, Belcher Glacier, and East 7 Glacier) that drain from the Devon Ice Cap (DIC, Devon Island, Nunavut, Canada). These samples represent basal ice that likely formed and persisted under relatively warm conditions. Additionally, we collected liquid water that was stored over-winter in a subglacial channel beneath Sverdrup Glacier. We also collected basal ice that likely formed and persisted

under relatively cold conditions from the slow-flowing Western Margin of the DIC. We compared the biogeochemistry of these basal ice samples to that of the likely source ice (overlying glacier ice of meteoric origin, or subglacial channel ice formed by refreezing of subglacial meltwater) to evaluate how basal thermal regime affects the biogeochemical materials that glaciers mobilize from the substrate or produce/cycle within subglacial environments.

4.3 Methods

4.3.1 Study Site

The Devon Ice Cap (DIC) covers an area of approximately 14,400 km² [Burgess and Sharp, 2004] and has had a relatively consistent negative mass balance since 2005 [Sharp et al., 2011]. Its recent decrease in surface area [Burgess and Sharp, 2004] and ice thickness [Mortimer et al., 2018] is coincident with increases in regional summer air and glacier surface temperatures [Mortimer et al., 2016]. We studied three fast-flowing outlet glaciers (Sverdrup Glacier, Belcher Glacier, and East 7 Glacier) and the slow-flowing Western Margin of the ice cap (Figure 4-1). Although the surface velocities along the fast-flowing glaciers can be variable, all three have surface velocities that exceed 20 m a⁻¹ and a component of this flow is attributed to basal motion [Burgess et al., 2005; Van Wychen et al., 2017] (Figure 4-1). The presence of basal motion implies that geothermal and frictional heat sustain basal ice temperatures at or near the pressure-melting point in a considerable portion of their beds [Burgess et al., 2005; Cuffey and Paterson, 2010]. These findings are consistent with field observations of large subglacial meltwater channels draining the margins of both Sverdrup Glacier and Belcher Glacier. Air temperatures in these subglacial channels, at distances of 500-1000 m from the glacier margin, were relatively warm (near or slightly below 0°C) in May, prior to the melt season. We have therefore assumed that the basal ice in these systems likely formed and persisted under relatively warm conditions and is referred to hereafter as 'warm' basal ice.

The slow-flowing Western Margin of the ice cap is not constrained laterally by bedrock topography and surface velocities are generally <10 m a⁻¹ [*Burgess et al.*, 2005]. Ice motion in this region is believed occurs exclusively by internal deformation and ice is frozen to the bed [*Burgess et al.*, 2005]. Therefore, unlike the 'warm' basal ice that formed and persisted at the beds of fast-flowing glaciers, we assume that the basal ice at the Western Margin formed and persisted under relatively cold conditions, so we refer to this ice as 'cold' basal ice.

While the three fast-flowing, polythermal glaciers explored in this study, located up to ~100 km apart, are underlain by metasedimentary rocks and gneiss, the Western Margin is largely underlain by sandstone, dolomite and limestone bedrock [*Harrison et al.*, 2016] (Figure 4-1). Ice marginal – subglacial channels were observed beneath both the Sverdrup Glacier and Belcher Glaciers and a slushy subglacial meltwater pond (with no ice cover) was present in multiple years at approximately 750 m into the subglacial channel beneath the Sverdrup Glacier. The subglacial channel water was observed prior to the onset of the melt season and temperatures at this remote location of the bed were likely relatively stable throughout the winter. We therefore assume that most of this water originated as late-season subglacial runoff that remained ponded in the subglacial channel over-winter. Channel ice, found in colder areas nearer the channel entrance, likely also originated as late-season runoff but did not remain liquid over winter, probably because of cold air drainage into the channel.

4.3.2 Field sampling

We sampled 'warm' basal ice, from the three fast-flowing glaciers, and 'cold' basal ice from the Western Margin of the ice cap, as well as their parent meteoric glacier ice (Figure 4-1). We used visual observations to identify basal ice near the glacier bed as an ice facies with high debris and low air bubble contents, distinctive ice and debris structures, and ice crystallography [*Knight*, 1997]. While glacier ice of meteoric origin is typically white bubbly ice that is horizontally stratified, basal ice can have a much higher debris content and an anisotropic structure with features such as discontinuous layers, lenses and pods of varying size [*Hubbard and Sharp*, 1989]. Basal ice samples were collected from marginal ice cliff faces, ice rubble at the base of cliff faces, and the walls of subglacial meltwater channels. Meteoric glacier ice was sampled from cliff faces or from rubble at the bases of cliff faces.

We also sampled subglacial channel water from a slushy subglacial meltwater pond (with no ice cover) located at approximately 750 m into the subglacial channel beneath the Sverdrup Glacier. We consider its parent material to be late-season meltwater draining this subglacial channel. Although we did not sample late-season meltwater in this channel, we collected 'channel ice' as a proxy. Channel ice was found in colder areas nearer the channel entrance and thus represents runoff that froze *in situ* at the end of the melt-season, thereby preserving the general biogeochemical characteristics of late-season runoff.

All ice samples were collected using sterile (furnaced at 500°C for 8 hrs) carbide chisels that were ethanol-bathed and flame-sterilized in the field before each use. One chisel was used for debris-poor samples and another was used for debris-rich samples. At least 10 cm of material was removed from exposed surfaces in the field before samples were collected. Samples were stored in 5L Whirl-pak bags (Nasco, Fort Atkinson, USA) and kept frozen (\sim -20°C) until analysis. The subglacial channel water sample was collected by scooping with separate Whirl-pak bags in different areas of the subglacial pond system that were separated by >1m. The subglacial channel water samples were kept frozen (\sim -20°C) until analysed.

4.3.3 Sample Processing

Prior to analysis, samples were removed from the freezer and melted at 4°C in Whirl-pak bags. For each sample, a sterile syringe (60 ml) with a 0.45 μ m cellulose acetate luer-lok filter was used to fill two 15 ml centrifuge tubes for analyses of soluble reactive phosphorus (SRP), NO₃⁻ +NO₂, and NH₄⁺. One 120 ml Nalgene® bottle was also filled (with no headspace) for major ion analyses. This sample was stored at 4°C for approximately 2 weeks until analysis. A 0.7 μ m GF/F luer-lok filter was used to fill two 45 ml universal glass vials and a piece of foil was placed beneath the cap for closure. These samples were frozen immediately until analysis for dissolved organic carbon (DOC) quantification and dissolved organic matter (DOM) characterization. For sediment concentration measurements, 50 ml of unfiltered sample was measured using a 60 ml syringe, put in a (pre-weighed) 50 ml polystyrene hexagonal weigh dish (Cole-Palmer), and placed in a drying oven at 50 °C. A glass filter tower and 0.2 µm Pall Supor® polysulfone 47 mm sterile filter papers were used to filter samples for 16S rRNA gene sequencing. Filter papers were collected in duplicate and stored in sterile petri dishes at -80°C until further processing.

All filtration equipment was rinsed 3 times with sample, and a minimum of 5 ml of sample was passed through each filter paper before the sample was filtered for analysis. Glassware was acid-washed (10% HCl for >48 hrs), and both glassware and foil were combusted (450°C for 8 hrs) prior to use. All storage bottles, lids, and foil caps were rinsed 3 times with filtrate before a sample was collected for analysis.

4.3.4 Analytical Methods

*Nutrient concentrations (SRP/TDP/NH*₄⁺/*NO*₃⁻+*NO*₂⁻/*TDN/SiO*₂): Determinations of soluble reactive phosphorus (SRP) and total dissolved phosphorus (TDP), ammonium (NH₄⁺), nitrate (NO_3^{-}) + nitrite (NO_2^{-}) , total dissolved nitrogen (TDN) and reactive silica (SiO₂) were made with

a Lachat QuickChem QC 8500 FIA Automated Ion Analyzer (Lachat Instruments, Loveland, CO, USA) using methods outlined by Rice *et al.* [2012] and O'Dell [1993] for $NO_3^- + NO_2^-$. Detection limits were TDP = 1.8 ppb, SRP = 0.9 ppb, NH_4^+ = 3 ppb, $NO_3^- + NO_2^-$ = 2 ppb, TDN = 7 ppb, and SiO₂ = 0.02 ppm.

DOC concentrations: dissolved organic carbon was quantified using a Shimadzu TOC-5000A Total Organic Carbon Analyzer (Shimadzu, Japan) equipped with a high-sensitivity platinum catalyst using US EPA method # 415.1. Detection limit for DOC was 0.2 mg L⁻¹.

DOM characteristics: Although isolating and defining the compositional characteristics of DOM often requires large sample volumes and can be analytically expensive, fluorescence spectroscopy provides a relatively rapid, simple and inexpensive technique for characterizing DOM in dilute concentrations with small sample volumes. Fluorescence spectroscopy and three-dimensional Excitation Emission Matrices (EEMs) can broadly characterize DOM into humic-like and protein-like fractions and correlate specific fluorescence was measured in ratio mode (S/R) using an Agilent G1321B fluorescence detector (Agilent Technologies, Santa Clara, USA) and methods outlined by Cuss and Gueguen [2015]. Prior to each run, the system was rinsed 3 times with deionized water and 3 times with sample that was brought to room temperature. Excitation-emission matrices (EEMs) were produced by measuring the fluorescence intensity every 1 nm at excitation wavelengths 220-450 nm and every 5 nm at emission wavelengths 280-545 nm. EEMs of deionized water were produced at the start of each day for data processing (see below).

Major Ions (Ct, SO_4^{2-} , Na^+ , K^+ , Mg^{2+} , Ca^{2+}): Anions were quantified using a Dionex DX-600 Ion Chromatograph (Dionex, USA) and methods outlined by US EPA method # 300.1. Cations were measured using Inductively Coupled Plasma - Optical Emission Spectroscopy (ICP-OES; Thermo Scientific iCAP 6300, Cambridge, UK) and US EPA method #200.7. Detection limits were $Cl^{-} = 0.85 \ \mu eq \ L^{-1}$, $SO_{4^{2-}} = 0.83 \ \mu eq \ L^{-1}$, $Na^{+}=0.87 \ \mu eq \ L^{-1}$, $K^{+}=0.26 \ \mu eq \ L^{-1}$, $Mg^{2+}=0.82 \ \mu eq \ L^{-1}$, and $Ca^{2+}=0.5 \ \mu eq \ L^{-1}$.

Sediment concentration: 50 ml of unfiltered sample was placed in a pre-weighed 50 ml dish and dried at 50 °C. The dish was then reweighed and the sediment in 50 ml was calculated as the change in mass from before to after the sample was added/dried.

16S rRNA gene sequencing: DNA was extracted from filter papers using a PowerSoil ® DNA Isolation kit following the manufacturer's protocol, but with several modifications to maximize the efficiency of the extraction, including: 1) at Step 14, solution C4 was added for a total of 4 ml instead of 1,200µl and vortexing was for 20 seconds instead of 5 seconds, 2) prior to step 15, the samples were incubated for 30 minutes, and 3) at step 20, the DNA was eluted in 50µl of solution C6 instead of 100µl. Polymerase chain reaction (PCR) was performed using a Veriti 96 well thermal cycler (Applied Biosystems) and 0.25 µM primers targeting the V3 region, including Primer 341F (5'-CCTACGGGAGGCAGCAG-3') and Primer 518R (5'-GTATTACCGCGGCTGCTGG-3'). The procedure for a 25 µL reaction included 1x Q5 Reaction buffer (New England BioLabs Inc.), 100 µM dNTP mixture (Invitrogen/ThermoFisher), 1.25 U/µl Q5 High-Fidelity DNA Taq polymerase (0.25 μ L per reaction; New England Biolabs Inc), 17.5 µL Nuclease-free H₂O (Integrated DNA Technologies) and 2 µL of the 1:2 and 1:10 diluted template DNA in Nuclease-free H2O. PCR conditions were as follows: 94°C for 3 min, followed by 10 cycles of 94°C for 30 s, 65-55 °C for 40 s, 72°C for 1 min, followed by 20 cycles of 94°C for 30s, 55°C for 40s, 72°C for 1 min; 53°C for 40s, with a final elongation step for 10 min at 72°C, with a holding temperature at 4°C. PCR amplicons were quantified in a 1.0% agarose gel (GelRed) and equal quantities of amplicon from replicate samples were pooled. The pooled 16S rRNA

amplicons were purified using Wizard SV Gel and PCR Clean-Up Systems (Promega). Illumina libraries were denatured and diluted according to Illumina guidelines (Document no 15039740 v01). An 8 pM library (containing 7% PhiX) was sequenced using a MiSeq (Illumina Inc, San Diego, USA) with 2 x 250 cycle MiSeq Reagent Kit v2 (Illumina Canada Inc) at the Department of Biology, University of Waterloo.

4.3.5 Data Processing and Statistical Analyses

Geochemistry and inorganic nutrients: The concentration of HCO_3^{-} (µeq L⁻¹) was calculated as the charge deficit between the sum of cations (µeq L⁻¹) and the sum of anions (µeq L⁻¹). To summarize the geochemical composition of the solute load in each sample, we (i) calculated the fractional contribution of each major ion to the total solute load by dividing the concentration of each major ion (µeq L⁻¹) by either the sum of cations or the sum of the anions in the respective sample, (ii) normalized the fractional contributions of each ion species by their respective mean and variance [*Iwamori et al.*, 2017] and (iii) conducted a Principal Components Analysis (PCA) in Matlab R2018a using these data. To summarize the nutrient composition of each sample and evaluate the concentration of TDP and TDN relative to the solute load, the concentrations of TDP (µg P L⁻¹) and TDN (µg N L⁻¹) were divided by the solute concentration (µeq L⁻¹) of the corresponding sample. To evaluate the significance of dependency between geochemical/nutrient variables, Spearman rank correlations were used.

DOM Characterization: Parallel Factor Analysis (PARAFAC) is a statistical technique commonly applied to EEMs to decompose complex spectral signatures into discrete components. Although the modeled components cannot be identified as specific organic compounds, they can be compared to fractions of fluorescent DOM that have previously been described in the literature. To complete PARAFAC, we used the drEEM toolbox and methods developed by *Murphy et al.*

[2013] in Matlab R2018a. Corrections were applied for instrument spectral bias and for inner filter effects, and Raman scatter was normalized to daily Raman scans, as described by *Murphy et al.* [2013]. The scatter region for each EEM was excised and smoothed and EEMs were normalized to unit variance. The PARAFAC was completed using non-negativity constraints and the EEM normalization was reversed after modeling. Although split-half analysis is typically used to validate PARAFAC models, it does not validate models that are produced from datasets that are small relative to the intra-sample variance [*Stedmon and Bro*, 2008]. Since the samples in this dataset were few (<50) and came from diverse environments with highly variable fluorescence, split-half analysis did not successfully validate our PARAFAC model. The modeled components were, however, identified using the OpenFluor database [*Murphy et al.*, 2014] and comparisons with previous literature. To summarize the DOM composition of each sample, the fluorescent intensity of each component was normalized to its mean and variance across the dataset and a PCA was completed.

Microbial Assemblage: Paired-end reads were assembled using PANDAseq [*Masella et al.*, 2012] and analyzed using Quantitative Insights Into Microbial Ecology (QIIME, [*Caporaso et al.*, 2010]), managed by the automated exploration of microbial diversity v. 1.5 (AXIOME, [*Lynch et al.*, 2013]). Sequences were clustered with UPARSE [*Edgar*, 2013] and compressed into unique taxa with 97% similarity, and classified by The Ribosomal Database Project (RDP) [*Wang et al.*, 2007] with a confidence threshold of 0.8. Rarefaction analysis was used to sub-sample the processed dataset to lower than the smallest library for subsequent analyses. The microbial assemblages in each sample were summarized by completing non-metric multidimensional scaling (NMDS) in R with the Vegan toolbox. Unlike PCA, NMDS is particularly well suited for sequencing datasets that often have many zeros. The NMDS code used in this study calculates

NMDS using multiple random starting configurations until a similar minimum stress solution is resolved twice. Multiple linear regressions were used to fit environmental vectors onto the NMDS (also using the Vegan toolbox in R). The environmental variables included the major ion concentrations and percent composition, nutrient concentrations or fluorescent index, and sample location (calculated as the distance from the most northerly glacier).

Channel water concentration effects: The subglacial meltwater pond was slushy at the time of sampling and the channel roof and walls were covered in hoar frost. The pond therefore likely experienced extensive cryo-concentration and evapo-concentration over the winter. We assumed that the CI⁻ content of each sample behaves conservatively in solution and that the un-concentrated CI⁻ content of the channel water was equivalent to that of its parent material. We consider its parent material to be late-season meltwater draining this subglacial channel. Although we did not sample late-season meltwater in this channel, we collected 'channel ice' as a proxy. Channel ice was found in colder areas nearer the channel entrance and thus represents runoff that froze *in situ* at the end of the melt-season, thereby preserving the general biogeochemical characteristics of late-season meltwater. Therefore, to correct for the effects of concentration and evaluate the biogeochemical composition of this water relative to other samples in the dataset, we standardized the concentration of each major ion and nutrient species in the subglacial channel water sample as follows:

Equation 4-1
$$*X = X_{meas} \times \frac{Cl_{CI}}{Cl_{CW}}$$

Where *X is the corrected concentration of species X in subglacial channel water, X_{meas} is the measured concentration of species X in subglacial channel water, Cl_{CI}^{-} is the measured concentration of Cl⁻ (µeq/L) in subglacial channel ice and Cl_{CW}^{-} is the measured concentration of Cl⁻ (µeq/L) in subglacial channel water.

4.4 Results

4.4.1 Major Ion Chemistry

'Warm' basal ice had different solute compositions than its parent glacier ice (Figure 4-2), suggesting that distinct solute sources exist in relatively 'warm' subglacial systems. Glacier ice had relatively low solute concentrations ($\bar{x} = 15.6 \ \mu eq \ L^{-1}$) that were dominated by atmospherically-derived solutes, including Cl⁻, SO4²⁻, and Na⁺ (Table 4-1). 'Warm' basal ice samples contained significantly higher concentrations of solutes ($\bar{x} = 241 \ \mu eq \ L^{-1}$), including common rock-derived solutes such as K⁺, Ca²⁺, Mg²⁺, and HCO3⁻, than did glacier ice (T-test, p<0.05) (Table 4-2; Figure 4-3). The concentration of Cl⁻ in subglacial channel water was 16 times higher than the concentration of Cl⁻ in corresponding channel ice, indicating extensive cryoconcentration and/or evapo-concentration. After correcting the solute concentrations in subglacial channel water for the effects of cryo-concentration and evapo-concentration (Equation 4-1), subglacial channel water had solute concentrations similar to those in glacier ice (Figure 4-3). However, the solute composition was similar to that of 'warm' basal ice (Figure 4-2). Cold basal ice samples had relatively low solute concentrations ($\bar{x} = 22 \ \mu eq \ L^{-1}$) that, like its parent glacier ice, were dominated by Cl⁻, SO4²⁻, and Na⁺ (Table 4-1).

4.4.2 Nutrients (N and P)

There were no significant differences in the mean concentrations of dissolved inorganic nitrogen (NH4⁺, NO3⁻) or phosphorus (TDN, SRP and TDP) species between 'warm' basal ice and glacier ice (T-Test, p>0.05), but the inter-sample variability in concentrations of NH4⁺, SRP and TDP in 'warm' basal ice was significantly higher (F-Test, p<0.05; Table 4-2, Figure 4-3). Therefore, the sources (and potentially also sinks) of these inorganic nutrients may be spatially heterogeneous in relatively 'warm' subglacial systems. Subglacial channel water had among the

lowest concentrations of NH₄⁺, SRP, TDP in the dataset, suggesting *in situ* processes function as a sink for some inorganic nutrient species. Cold basal ice samples had significantly higher concentrations of NH₄⁺, TDN, SRP, TDP than samples of parent glacier ice (T-test, p<0.05; Table 4-2), suggesting the presence of a subglacial source for these nutrients.

4.4.3 Dissolved Organic Matter

A 5 component PARAFAC model was produced that explained 98.6% of the variability in the spectrofluorescence dataset. PARAFAC Component 1 (C1) (Table 4-3) was not similar (>90% certainty) to any previously modeled fluorphores that are available in the online repository of published fluorescence data (OpenFluor [Murphy et al., 2014]). However, this component's fluorescence peak is close (within 5 nm) to that of 'Peak B' [Coble, 1996], which is considered tyrosine-like fluorescence [Kowalczuk et al., 2003] (Table 4-3) and may originate from the degradation of terrestrially-derived humic-like DOM [Mopper and Schultz, 1993; Coble et al., 1998; Stedmon and Markager, 2005; Coble, 2007] and microbial exudates [Smith et al., 2017]. Component 2 (C2) (Table 4-3) is similar (>95% certainty) to three modeled components available in OpenFluor and is referred to as tryptophan-like fluorescence [Coble et al., 1998; Lakowicz, 1999] and has been associated with the autochthonous production of DOM in various environments [Mopper and Schultz, 1993; Coble, 1996; Yamashita and Tanoue, 2003; Fellman et al., 2008]. Component 3 (C3) (Table 4-3) is similar (>95% certainty) to a component found in 9 previous studies [Murphy et al., 2014], and is referred to as humic-like or fulvic acid-like fluorescence that is derived from higher plants, can be of terrestrial origin, and/or is a product of microbial degradation of organic matter [Cory and McKnight, 2005; Osburn et al., 2016]. Component 4 (C4) (Table 4-3) is less similar to any previously modeled components (90%-95% certainty), but is similar to humic-like DOM and highly processed terrestrial DOM of low

bioavailability [*Lapierre and Del Giorgio*, 2014]. Lastly, Component 5 (C5) (Table 4-3) is similar (>95% certainty) to 12 other modeled components in the OpenFluor database and is the mostly widely modeled component resolved in this study. C5 has been associated with humic-like fluorescence derived from marine [*Coble*, 1996] and/or terrestrial [*Stedmon et al.*, 2003] environments, but it has also been linked to microbial reprocessing of organic matter [*Stedmon and Markager*, 2005].

DOC concentrations in 'warm' basal ice ($\bar{x} = 0.4$ ppm) were significantly (T-test, p<0.05) higher than those in glacier ice ($\bar{x} = 0.2$ ppm) (Table 4-1; Table 4-2), suggesting basal ice acquires DOC in relatively 'warm' subglacial environments. DOC concentrations in 'warm' basal ice were positively correlated with the tyrosine-like C1 fluorescence ($r_s = 0.61$, p=0.01, n=9). 'Warm' basal ice also contained significantly more humic-like C3 fluorescence (T-test, p<0.05), and significantly more variable humic-like C3 and C5 fluorescence (*F*-test, p<0.05) than its parent glacier ice (Table 4-3). Thus, a relatively consistent fraction of the DOC derived from these subglacial systems was probably in the form of proteinaceous and humic organic matter. Subglacial channel water had lower *DOC concentrations and lower fluorescence intensity for components *C2-*C5 than any other sample in this dataset, indicating biogeochemical processes in subglacial channel water may function as a sink for DOM.

Cold basal ice contained significantly higher DOC concentrations ($\bar{x} = 0.4$ ppm) than did glacier ice ($\bar{x} = 0.2$ ppm) (T-test, p<0.05; Table 4-1; Table 4-2) suggesting that ice can acquire DOC in 'cold' basal environments. 'Cold' basal ice also contained significantly higher and more variable fluorescence of humic-like DOM component C3 and C5 (T-test and F-Test, p<0.05; Table 4-2) and had significantly more variable fluorescence of protein-like DOM component C2 (*F*-test, p<0.05) (Table 4-2; Table 4-3). Since C3 and C5 humic-like DOM is typically associated with terrestrial soils and vegetation [*Stedmon et al.*, 2003; *Cory and McKnight*, 2005; *Osburn et al.*, 2016], this DOM may have been acquired during past glacial advances over soils and sediments.

4.4.4 Microbial Assemblages

'Warm' basal ice and glacier ice microbial assemblages were two distinct sample groups (Figure 4-2). 76% of the operational taxonomical units (OTUs) observed in 'warm' basal ice were absent in its parent glacier ice (Figure 4-4), suggesting a large portion of the microbial assemblage in 'warm' basal ice was sourced from the subglacial environment. Microbial assemblages in 'warm' basal ice were also highly variable as less than half a percent of the OTUs found in 'warm' basal ice were present in all 'warm' basal ice samples. Geographic location influenced the structure of microbial assemblages in 'warm' basal ice since 'warm' basal ice samples from a given glacier had more OTUs in common with other basal ice samples from the same glacier (42%of their OTUs and 26% of their assemblages) than they did with basal ice samples from other 'warm' based glaciers (32% of their OTUs and 15% of their assemblages) (T-test, p<0.001). Furthermore, although there were no significant correlations between the major ion concentrations, major ion composition, nutrient concentrations or fluorescence index and the microbial assemblage structure of 'warm' basal ice samples using multiple linear regressions, sample location significantly correlated with the structure of microbial assemblages in 'warm' basal ice samples (p=0.01).

Subglacial channel water contained a microbial assemblage that was distinct from the assemblages found in potential water sources, including 'warm' basal ice, glacier ice and subglacial channel ice (Figure 4-2), suggesting that the microbial assemblage of these waters probably changed *in situ* over the winter. The most abundant OTU in the subglacial channel water (comprising 42% of the assemblage) was identified in the family Comamonadaceae and genus

Paucibacter. The other most dominant OTUs included an actinobacterium ACK-M1 (comprising 6% of the assemblage), a Comamonadaceae in the genus *Polaromonas* (comprising 4% of the assemblage), a Gemmataceae (comprising 4% of the assemblage) and *Flavobacterium succinicans* (comprising 4% of the assemblage).

The microbial assemblages in 'cold' basal ice were broadly similar to those in glacier ice (Figure 4-2). Cold basal ice shared most (73%) OTUs with glacier ice (Figure 4-4). Of the shared OTUs between 'cold' basal ice and glacier ice, many (37%) were absent from 'warm' basal ice samples. Thus, the microbial assemblages in 'cold' basal ice remained remarkably similar to those in its parent material, despite potential interaction with the substrate.

4.5 Discussion

4.5.1 The biogeochemistry of 'warm' basal ice

Glacier ice that flows towards the bed of glaciers (i.e. the parent material of basal ice) originates as snow in the accumulation zone of glaciers/ice caps. This ice is of meteoric origin and receives chemical and biological inputs primarily from the atmosphere, experiences consistently sub-freezing temperatures and is likely to host limited *in situ* biogeochemical activity. Geothermal and frictional heat sources in warm sections of polythermal glaciers can cause glacier ice to melt and potentially refreeze. The interaction between ice/water and the substrate can mobilize and incorporate sediment, solutes, microbes, and nutrients from the underlying substrate into the base of the glacier during the formation of 'warm' basal ice. Relatively warm temperatures at and near the glacier bed may also promote biogeochemical activity by increasing the abundance of water, the metabolic rates of micro-organisms, and rates of chemical weathering. Thus, 'warm' basal ice can generate very different biogeochemical environments than those found in overlying

glacier ice and can have some of the highest concentrations of solutes, nutrients and microbes found in glacier systems [e.g. *Raiswell*, 1984; *Sharp et al.*, 1999; *Barker et al.*, 2010].

The basal ice layers of the polythermal glaciers explored in this study were consistently enriched in solutes, including SiO₂, SO₄²⁻, K⁺, Ca²⁺, Mg²⁺, and HCO₃⁻, compared to their parent glacier ice (Table 4-1; Table 4-2; Figure 4-3). These solutes were likely derived from weathering of reactive minerals such as carbonates (e.g. dolomite and calcite), sulphides (e.g. pyrite) and aluminosilicates (e.g. feldspars) [*Tranter et al.*, 1996], which are commonly present in trace amounts in bedrock [*Holland*, 1978]. Furthermore, the presence of water during the formation of 'warm' basal ice, and in veins along ice crystal boundaries, would support reactions involving acid hydrolysis, which are usually the most important weathering processes in subglacial environments [*Raiswell*, 1984].

'Warm' basal ice was also consistently enriched in DOM, containing on average ~ 0.3 ppm DOC. Unlike the DOM in glacier ice, 'warm' basal ice consistently contained humic-like C3 material and occasionally contained humic-like C5 material (Table 4-2). Previous studies have associated both C3 and C5 fluorescence with microbial processing of organic matter [*Cory and McKnight*, 2005; *Stedmon and Markager*, 2005; *Osburn et al.*, 2016], suggesting the occurrence of heterotrophic microbial activity in subglacial environments, extraglacial soils and sediments that were subsequently overridden and entrained by glaciers, or in supraglacial or ice marginal material that drained into the subglacial system. Although basal ice in polythermal glaciers was not consistently enriched in protein-like DOM relative to glacier ice, DOC concentrations in 'warm' basal ice were positively correlated with the tyrosine-like C1 fluorescence ($r_s = 0.61$, p=0.02, n=9) suggesting that a relatively consistent fraction of the DOC derived from these subglacial systems was proteinaceous in character. The production of tyrosine-like fluorescence has been widely linked to the degradation of terrestrially-derived humic-like DOM [*Mopper and Schultz*, 1993; *Coble et al.*, 1998; *Stedmon and Markager*, 2005; *Coble*, 2007] and microbial exudates [*Smith et al.*, 2017]. Since tyrosine-like fluorophores are considered to be highly biodegradable [*Yamashita and Tanoue*, 2003], it is likely that tyrosine-like fluorescence was produced *in situ* within the subglacial environment from the degradation of allochthonous organic matter and/or the production of autochthonous organic matter. This is consistent with other studies that suggest subglacial environments contain both allochthonous organic matter (i.e. from bedrock/paleosols/overridden soils and vegetation) and autochthonous organic matter that may be produced *in situ* from microbial metabolism [*Hodson et al.*, 2005; *Wadham et al.*, 2016].

Although the 'warm' basal ice samples explored in this study were not enriched in nitrate, they were occasionally enriched in reduced nitrogen (NH4⁺) and dissolved phosphorus (SRP and TDP) (Table 4-2), suggesting that the sources (and potentially also sinks) of these inorganic nutrients in the subglacial system were spatially heterogeneous. Phosphorus in rocks is almost exclusively found in apatite mineral groups [*Taylor and McClennan*, 1985], and concentrations of P in shield rocks and volcaniclastics can be spatially heterogeneous [*Porder and Ramachandran*, 2013]. Similarly, the nitrogen content of bulk granite can vary by over two orders of magnitude [*Holloway and Dahlgren*, 2002], and other rock types in the Canadian Shield contain highly variable nitrogen concentrations [*Honma and Schwarcz*, 1979; *Honma*, 1996]. Although nitrogen can occur as recalcitrant organic matter in rocks, it commonly occurs as NH4⁺ in silicate minerals. Subglacial microbial communities may also function as a source of NH4⁺. Excess NH4⁺ would be particularly prevalent during the degradation of nitrogen-rich organic matter, such as the protein-like DOM that was observed in basal ice (described by PARAFAC C1 and C2). In

subglacial environments where organic matter contains insufficient nitrogen to meet the requirements for anabolic metabolism, specific organisms may fix nitrogen *in situ*. Genes indicative of nitrogen fixation (nitrogenase iron protein (*nifH*) gene) have been found in subglacial microbial communities [*Boyd et al.*, 2011]. However, despite the presence of *nifH* genes [*Boyd et al.*, 2011] and observations of N₂ fixation on glacier surfaces [*Telling et al.*, 2011] N₂ fixation has yet to be detected in subglacial environments.

Although sample location did not affect the major ion chemistry, nutrient, or organic matter composition of basal ice, it was an important and dominant influence on the composition of the microbial assemblages in 'warm' basal ice. We also observed that microbial assemblages in basal ice samples from the same glacier were more similar to each other than were assemblages in basal ice from different glaciers. Inter-glacier differences in basal microbial assemblages were therefore resolved over relatively small distances (less than 100 km), and between glaciers with similar basal thermal regimes and underlying substrates (Figure 4-1). Geographic location has been previously identified as an important determinant of microbial assemblages across various spatial scales, from meters [Lear et al., 2014] to global [Fuhrman et al., 2008] scales and within other polar environments including Antarctic and Arctic terrestrial and aquatic habitats [Yergeau et al., 2007; Comte et al., 2016]. Compared to most other terrestrial and aquatic habitats, basal ice environments are particularly isolated from each other, so microbial dispersal between systems is probably very limited. Furthermore, although residence times of 'warm' basal ice within a system is difficult to estimate, it may be sufficiently long to allow stochastic processes, such as random extinction, chance colonization, drift, and priority effects [Vellend and Agrawal, 2010; Chase and *Myers*, 2011], to play particularly important roles in shaping the structure of microbial assemblages in basal ice. In contrast, basal processes within a system, including ice deformation and meltfreeze effects, would provide some degree of intra-glacial mixing of microbial assemblages and may explain the higher degree of similarity between assemblage in basal ice from the same system.

The subglacial environments explored in this study yielded a very small portion of 'ubiquitous' OTUs. Less than 1% of the OTUs found in the 'warm' basal ice samples were present in all 'warm' basal ice samples. The abundances of these 'ubiquitous' subglacial organisms were, however, highly variable between samples, ranging between a minimum of <0.01% of the assemblage, to a maximum of 2-40% of the assemblages, suggesting that the distributions of either the source(s) of these microbes and/or their *in situ* activity (i.e. reproduction) are spatially heterogeneous. Thus, even though there is evidence for globally-distributed microbial species that are capable of survival across the range of extreme subglacial environments [*Skidmore et al.*, 2005; *Bhatia et al.*, 2006; *Lanoil et al.*, 2009], these species appear to be few and their local abundance may be highly dependent on site-specific conditions.

4.5.2 Biogeochemical processes in subglacial water

In polythermal glaciers, geothermal and frictional heat sources can produce enough heat to warm areas of the bed to the point where melting occurs, and where liquid water can be stored at the bed. Since 'warm' basal temperatures and liquid water promote biogeochemical cycling, these areas are likely to be hotspots for microbial activity and nutrient cycling. However, due to the inaccessible nature of subglacial water systems, few studies have cleanly-accessed subglacial water *in situ* to explore its biogeochemistry. The subglacial channel water sample collected in this study from the base of the polythermal Sverdrup Glacier probably originated as late-summer runoff that drained into the subglacial system around the time of freeze-up and remained ponded in the subglacial channel over-winter. Water from areas of the bed with basal ice melt and/or distributed subglacial drainage may also have drained into the pool over winter. During its ~8 months of

storage beneath the glacier, this pool of water would have experienced relatively stable environmental conditions including continuous darkness, stable temperatures near or slightly below 0°C, abundant oxygenated headspace, and increasing solute concentrations because of cryoconcentration and/or evapo-concentration. Although biogeochemical conditions in subglacial meltwater drainage systems are likely variable, the unique subglacial water sample collected in this study nonetheless provides some initial insights into the potential characteristics of *in situ* subglacial water and the biogeochemical processes that can occur where water is stored at the bed over-winter.

Although the major ion composition of the channel water was like that of basal ice and subglacial channel ice (Figure 4-2), it differed from its likely water sources (basal ice, glacier ice and subglacial channel ice) in terms of its DOM characteristics, inorganic nutrient content, and microbial assemblage structure (Figure 4-2; Figure 4-3). Part of the microbial assemblage observed in this sample is closely related to psychrophilic or oligotrophic bacteria. The microbial assemblage was dominated by an unidentified species in the family Comamonadaceae and genus Paucibacter (comprising 42% of the assemblage). The genus Paucibacter includes gram-negative, rod-shaped, non-spore forming, motile bacteria found in oligotrophic fresh water (Paucibacter oligotrophus) [Pheng et al., 2017]. The other most dominant OTUs included an actinobacterium ACK-M1 (comprising 6% of the assemblage), a Comamonadaceae in the genus Polaromonas (comprising 4% of the assemblage), a Gemmataceae (comprising 4% of the assemblage) and Flavobacterium succinicans (comprising 4% of the assemblage). Comamonadaceae, Polaromonas and Flavobacterium succinicans have been widely observed in polar environments including subglacial water and basal ice [Skidmore et al., 2000; Sheridan et al., 2003; Marteinsson et al., 2013; Dubnick et al., 2017a; Kayani et al., 2018] and glacier forefields [Bradley et al., 2016;

Kazemi et al., 2016; *Kim et al.*, 2017] in Arctic, Antarctic and alpine systems. Some *Flavobacterium* are thought to function as heterotrophs in glacial habitats [*Margesin et al.*, 2002; *Mikucki and Priscu*, 2007] and a species of *Flavobacterium* (*glaciei*) was isolated from the China No 1 glacier and identified as a obligate aerobic psychrophile [*Zhang et al.*, 2006]. *Polaromonas* are abundant and ubiquitous in glacier systems and although different strains of *Polaromonas* can have almost identical 16S rRNA genes, they can display very different metabolic traits in different glaciers [*Gawor et al.*, 2016]. Local chemical and physical conditions and/or interactions with other microbiota may play an important role in shaping the metabolic traits of these organisms [*Gawor et al.*, 2016]. The presence of specific OTUs that are closely related to species that inhabit similar environments supports the notion that at least some members of the microbial assemblage observed in these subglacial waters may have adaptations that allow them to function in glacial habitats.

Even without correcting for the effects of concentration in the subglacial channel waters, these waters had distinct biogeochemical characteristics, including the lowest concentrations of presumably labile nutrients observed in this study. For example, the subglacial water sample contained the lowest measured levels of tryptophan-like (C2) and humic-like (C4) fluorescence, and amongst the lowest levels of NH₄⁺, SRP, TDP and tyrosine-like (C1) fluorescence. After correcting nutrient concentrations for the effects of cryo-concentration and evapo-concentration (Equation 4-1), this sample had the lowest * NH₄⁺, *DOC and *C2, *C3 and *C4 and *C5 DOM fluorescence in the dataset (Figure 4-3; Table 4-1). These solutes are presumably some of the most labile and biogeochemically important nutrients explored in this study. Tryptophan and tyrosine are associated with the autochthonous production of DOM in various environments [*Mopper and Schultz*, 1993; *Coble*, 1996; *Yamashita and Tanoue*, 2003; *Fellman et al.*, 2008] and are widely

considered to be among the most labile fluorescing components of DOM [*Wu et al.*, 2003; *Saadi et al.*, 2006; *Fellman et al.*, 2008]. SRP in particular, is considered to be a preferred and universal source of phosphorus to microbes [*Björkman and Karl*, 1994]. Fixed nitrogen (NH₄⁺, NO₃⁻ and TDN) can be assimilated by microbes to relieve fixed N limitation, as has been previously observed in subglacial environments [*Boyd et al.*, 2011]. NO₃⁻ can also serve as an electron acceptor for microbially-mediated redox reactions in subglacial systems [*Yde et al.*, 2010].

The relatively low concentrations of specific biologically-important nutrients, coincident with a distinct, and potentially psychrophilic/oligotrophic, microbial assemblage, suggest the presence of *in situ* microbial activity and biogeochemical cycling in the subglacial pool. Heterotrophic and chemoautotrophic microbial activity can deplete reservoirs of labile solutes in subglacial water, as has been demonstrated from laboratory incubations of subglacial sediments and water [*Stibal et al.*, 2012b; *Montross et al.*, 2014]. The processes that occurred *in situ* in the subglacial channel water occurred at rates that resulted in significant changes to the biogeochemistry of the water over the course of ~8 months. Thus, although the subglacial environment of polythermal glaciers can be a source of solutes, nutrients and microbes, distinct microbial assemblages can develop in isolated subglacial water bodies and may cycle nutrients *in situ*.

4.5.3 The biogeochemistry of 'cold' basal ice

The subglacial conditions in cold-based glaciers that are frozen to the bed differ considerably from those in polythermal glaciers where meltwater is present in some areas of the bed, and where basal temperatures are generally warmer. The modes of formation of 'cold' basal ice can vary between glaciers and are generally poorly understood. Thus, interpretations of the environments in, and processes by, which such ice is formed are often ambiguous. Our understanding of the biogeochemistry of these facies is consequently even more limited. The classic model for the formation of basal ice in cold-based glaciers is described by the 'apron entrainment model' that invokes the production of basal ice by the overriding of apron material (snow, ice blocks, refrozen melt water and debris) along an advancing margin [Shaw, 1977]. This model does not involve a role for meltwater and consequently implies limited opportunities for biogeochemical alterations to occur. The absence of coarse-grained debris and blocks of white bubbly ice in Western Margin basal ice facies examined here suggests that the apron entrainment model may not describe its mode of formation. Case studies have demonstrated that basal ice in cold-based systems can also be produced by subglacial processes such as the deformation and entrainment of subglacial permafrost [Fitzsimons et al., 2008], the overriding of ice marginal lakes [Lorrain et al., 1999], and from refreezing of water produced in warm thermal zones and/or high pressure zones at the glacier bed that then flows into cold thermal zones and/or low pressure zones where it refreezes [Wettlaufer et al., 1996; Knight, 1997] and can entrain debris [Gilpin, 1979; *Walder*, 1986]. The dark, largely bubble-free character of Western Margin basal ice suggests that melt-freeze effects may have been involved in the formation of these facies.

The 'cold' basal ice at the Western Margin shows some evidence that it interacted with the substrate and acquired specific 'subglacial' biogeochemical characteristics, as was the case in polythermal glaciers. The 'cold' basal ice explored here contained sediment and, in comparison to glacier ice, had relatively high concentrations of TDP, TDN (particularly NH4⁺) and DOC, and high/variable proportions of humic-like fluorescence (C3 and C5) (Table 4-2; Figure 4-3). The substrate surrounding the Western Margin sample sites is composed largely of Cambrian and Ordovician sandstone, dolomite, limestone and conglomerate [*Harrison et al.*, 2016], which likely contain higher phosphorus concentrations than do the metasedimentary rocks [*Porder and*]

Ramachandran, 2013] that underly the polythermal glaciers in this study. The sedimentary rocks around the Western Margin also support relatively well-developed soils and vegetation, which are common sources of the humic DOM and humic-like C3 and C5 fluorescence [*Stedmon et al.*, 2003; *Cory and McKnight*, 2005; *Osburn et al.*, 2016]. The 'cold' basal ice could have acquired these 'subglacial' biogeochemical characteristics during past glacial advances and/or if meltwater interacted with the substrate during the formation of the basal ice.

Although the 'cold' basal ice along the Western Margin may have acquired some inorganic and organic nutrients from the underlying substrate, there is little evidence to suggest that it acquired other major ions or microbes from the subglacial environment. The relatively low mean solute concentration (22 ueq/L) of the 'cold' basal ice was dominated by atmospherically-derived solutes (Cl⁻, SO₄²⁻, and Na⁺), rather than by solutes likely to be derived from the local sandstone, dolomite, limestone and conglomerate rocks (Ca²⁺, Mg²⁺, HCO₃⁻). Furthermore, the microbial assemblages in the 'cold' basal ice were very similar to those in the parent glacier ice, sharing most (i.e. 73%) OTUs, of which many (37%) were unique to glacier ice and absent from other 'warm' basal ice samples.

Unlike the 'warm' basal ice and channel water, which consistently acquired biogeochemical characteristics from the underlying substrate and probably hosted *in situ* microbial activity, the 'cold' basal ice explored in this study remained remarkably similar to its parent material of meteoric origin. However, the mechanism that facilitated the acquisition or *in situ* production/decomposition of specific inorganic and organic nutrients in 'cold' basal ice, but not of other major ions or microbes, remains unknown. It is not clear whether the biogeochemical differences between the 'cold' basal ice and the 'warm' basal ice reflect (i) differences in the characteristics of the underlying/surrounding substrates, (ii) specific glaciological/hydrological

processes that occurred during the formation of the 'cold' basal ice, or (iii) biogeochemical processes that occur *in situ* within 'cold' basal ice. Further research is clearly required to define how the 'cold' basal ice at the Western Margin of the DIC was formed, and to identify those biogeochemical processes that do occur in subglacial environments where liquid water is limited.

4.6 Conclusions

We investigated the biogeochemical properties of 'warm' basal ice from three polythermal glaciers that drain a region of the Devon Ice Cap that is underlain by metasedimentary rocks and gneiss. We found samples of basal ice from their subglacial environments to be consistently enriched in solutes (i.e. SiO₂, SO₄²⁻, K⁺, Ca²⁺, Mg²⁺, and HCO₃⁻), dissolved organic matter (including a specific fraction of humic-like fluorescent DOM (C3)), and microbes compared to their parent glacier ice. Although these basal ice samples were not enriched in nitrate, they were occasionally enriched in dissolved phosphorus (SRP and TDP), reduced nitrogen (NH4⁺) and a second component of humic-like fluorescent DOM (C5), compared to glacier ice. The sources and/or sinks of these nutrients can therefore be spatially heterogeneous in the relatively warm subglacial systems of polythermal glaciers. Large fractions of the solutes, microbes, and nutrients derived from these subglacial systems were probably acquired directly from the underlying substrate. However, in situ microbial activity likely also influences the biogeochemical characteristics of these systems, particularly where meltwater is present. Waters that persisted over winter (~8 months) in a subglacial meltwater channel, showed evidence of *in situ* biogeochemical activity that significantly altered aspects of their biogeochemistry. Relative to their probable water sources (i.e. basal ice, glacier ice, and/or re-frozen late-season subglacial channel water), these subglacial waters had a depleted reservoir of potentially labile dissolved nutrients (i.e. DIP, DIN and DOM), and a unique microbial assemblage of which at least a portion is closely related to
known psychrophilic/oligotrophic microbes. These findings suggest that microbial activity in subglacial water can deplete reservoirs of labile solutes at rates that result in significant changes to the biogeochemistry of the water over the course of a single winter season. Thus, the subglacial environments of polythermal glaciers can be sources of solutes, nutrients and microbes and can host active biogeochemical environments in which distinct microbial assemblages develop, and nutrients are cycled *in situ*.

Unlike the biogeochemistry of the basal ice produced in relatively warm subglacial systems, and water that resides in relatively warm subglacial systems, basal ice produced in coldbased systems remained remarkably similar to that of its parent glacier ice. Although the 'cold' basal ice samples analyzed in this study may have acquired some inorganic and organic nutrients from the subglacial substrate, the substrate did not appear to contribute significant solutes or microbes to the basal ice. It remains unknown whether the biogeochemical differences between 'cold' basal ice and 'warm' basal ice reflect (i) differences in the characteristics of the underlying/surrounding substrate, (ii) specific glaciological/hydrological processes that occurred during the formation of the 'cold' basal ice, or (iii) biogeochemical processes that occur in situ in 'cold' basal ice. Further research is required to define how the 'cold' basal ice at the Western Margin of the DIC developed, and to better characterize the biogeochemical processes that occur in subglacial environments where liquid water is limited. Nevertheless, findings from this study suggest that basal temperature and the presence of subglacial water play an important role in controlling subglacial biogeochemistry and the suite of solutes, nutrients, and microbes that glaciers mobilize from the substrate or produced within subglacial systems.

4.7 Acknowledgements

This research was supported by an NSERC Discovery grant to M. Sharp (05234-2015), Polar Continental Shelf Program (PCSP) field support (604-16 and 620-17) and an NSTP grant, C/BAR grant, the W. Garfield Weston Award for Northern Research, and a NSERC CGSD Award to A. Dubnick. We thank the staff at the BASL Laboratory for chemical analyses, Chad Cuss at the SWAMP Laboratory for assistance with DOM/PARAFAC analyses, the Neufeld lab at the University of Waterloo for DNA sequencing and past field crews on the Devon Ice Cap for accumulating such a valuable wealth knowledge about the ice cap.

	Units	Detection limit	Mean				Standard Deviation			
			Glacier ice	'Warm' Basal ice	'Cold' Basal ice	Channel Ice	Channel Water*	Glacier ice	'Warm' Basal ice	'Cold' Basal ice
Ionic strength	(µeq/L)	N/A	16	241	22	29	22	7	265	10
SiO ₂	(ppm)	0.02	0.04	0.24	0.04	0.02	0.02	0.0	0.3	0.00
Cŀ	(µeq/L)	0.85	2.9	9.1	5.2	1.4	1.4	1.1	16.5	2.3
SO ₄ ²⁻	(µeq/L)	0.83	3.6	19.6	4.3	4.2	2.7	3.1	25.8	3.7
Na ⁺	(µeq/L)	0.87	3	46	4	2	2	2	101	2
K ⁺	(µeq/L)	0.26	0.34	9.04	0.50	0.77	0.66	0.24	7.60	0.45
Ca ²⁺	(µeq/L)	0.50	2.31	43.29	2.50	8.48	6.18	1.36	52.96	2.39
Mg ²⁺	(µeq/L)	0.82	1.4	22.3	3.0	3.3	2.4	0.8	18.3	2.6
HCO ₃ -	(µeq/L)	0.87	1	92	0	9	7	5	104	8
TDP	(P µg/L)	0.2	25	24	90	8	3	9	17	110
NH4 ⁺	(N µg/L)	3	11.9	9.1	6.0	13.0	11.1	6.0	10.7	3.7
NO ₂ ⁻ + NO ₃ ⁻	(N µg/L)	2	45	44	134	28	15	16	25	138
TDN	(N µg/L)	7	1.0	11.9	3.2	0.9	0.1	0.3	32.6	2.8
SRP	(P µg/L)	0.9	1.8	13.7	3.8	1.8	0.1	0.1	35.5	3.0
DOC	(ppm)	1.8	0.15	0.49	0.40	0.10	0.02	0.06	0.59	0.25
DOM C1	(FI)	N/A	3.24	3.72	3.22	5.85	0.02	2.94	3.71	2.24
DOM C2	(FI)	N/A	5.27	6.40	3.28	3.41	0.03	4.27	4.41	1.25
DOM C3	(FI)	N/A	1.63	6.44	21.22	2.97	0.27	1.46	6.48	28.47
DOM C4	(FI)	N/A	2.96	4.69	2.74	4.68	0.04	2.39	3.49	0.94
DOM C5	(FI)	N/A	1.95	4.78	6.77	2.65	0.19	2.25	5.48	5.29

Table 4-1: Mean and standard deviation of measures of major ions, inorganic nutrients and DOM components in basal ice, glacier ice, subglacial channel ice and subglacial channel water.

* the concentration of each dissolved species in channel water was corrected for concentration effects (Equation 4-1)

		basal ice 's er ice	'Cold' basal ice vs glacier ice		
	T-test p-value	F-test p-value	T-test p-value	F-test p-value	
Ionic strength	0.00	0.00	0.17	0.30	
SiO ₂	0.01	0.00	0.75	0.00	
Cŀ	0.17	0.00	0.02	0.06	
SO 4 ²⁻	0.33	0.17	0.68	0.59	
Na ⁺	0.01	0.37	0.56	0.88	
K ⁺	0.00	0.00	0.81	0.39	
Ca ²⁺	0.00	0.00	0.85	0.14	
Mg ²⁺	0.00	0.00	0.09	0.00	
HCO ₃ -	0.00	0.00	0.85	0.17	
NH4 ⁺	0.86	0.04	0.03	0.04	
$NO_2^- + NO_3^-$	0.00	0.00	0.06	0.36	
TDN	0.96	0.17	0.03	0.11	
SRP	0.27	0.26	0.00	0.03	
TDP	0.08	0.00	0.03	0.00	
DOC	0.12	0.61	0.00	0.68	
DOM C1	0.76	0.50	0.99	0.63	
DOM C2	0.58	0.91	0.33	0.03	
DOM C3	0.04	0.00	0.00	0.00	
DOM C4	0.22	0.28	0.85	0.09	
DOM C5	0.15	0.02	0.03	0.03	

Table 4-2: Statistical tests between 'warm' basal ice and 'cold' basal and their parent material (glacier ice). P-values that represent significant differences (p<0.05) are red.

Table 4-3: Excitation and emission maxima for the 5 component PARAFAC model, including the identification of each component

	Ex (nm)	Em (nm)	Description	# of OpenFlour matches (>95% certainty)
C1	276	300	Protein (tyrosine)-like fluorescence that can be microbial in origin [<i>Coble</i> , 1996; <i>Kowalczuk et al.</i> , 2003; <i>Stedmon and Markager</i> , 2005]	0
C2	230 (286)	325	Protein (tryptophan)-like fluorescence [<i>Coble et al.</i> , 1998; <i>Lakowicz</i> , 1999] that has been liked to microbial activity [<i>Elliott et al.</i> , 2006]	3
C3	232 (336)	460	Humic (fulvic acid)- like fluorescence derived from higher plants (terrestrial) and/or organic matter with a certain degree of microbial processing [<i>Cory and McKnight</i> , 2005; <i>Osburn et al.</i> , 2016]	10
C4	298 (231)	410	Humic-like fluorescence that can be highly processed terrestrial DOM with low biolability [<i>Lapierre and Del Giorgio</i> , 2014]	0 (4*)
C5	237 (317)	395	Humic-like fluorescence from marine [<i>Coble</i> , 1996] and terrestrial [<i>Stedmon et al.</i> , 2003] environments and can be affiliated with microbial reprocessing of organic matter [<i>Stedmon and Markager</i> , 2005]	12

* 90-95% certainty



Figure 4-1 Study Site indicating the geology of the surrounding substrate [*Harrison et al.*, 2016] and flow velocity of the Devon Ice Cap [*Van Wychen et al.*, 2012]. Samples were collected from 3 polythermal glaciers with relatively fast flowing ice that are surrounded by Archean bedrock, and two locations along the relatively slow flowing cold-based section of the Western Margin



Figure 4-2: Summary of a) major ion composition, produced by PCA using the contribution of each major ion to the solute load, with each major ion normalized to its mean and variance b) inorganic nutrients relative to the solute load (TDP (μ g P/ μ eq) and TDN (μ g N/ μ eq)) (c) character of dissolved organic matter determined by principle component analysis using the relative contributions of the 5 modeled fluorescent components, with each component normalized to its mean and variance and d) microbial assemblage structure determined by nonmetric multidimensional scaling (NMDS) of Bray-Curtis distance measure using 16S rRNA gene sequencing (stress =0.16).



Figure 4-3: Relative abundance and range in concentrations of major ions (top), organic nutrients (middle) and inorganic nutrients (bottom) in basal ice, glacier ice, subglacial channel ice, and subglacial channel water. Data were scaled to the interval 0-1 and boxplots indicate the median, 25th and 75th percentiles, whiskers indicate the most extreme datapoints not considered outliers and outliers are indicated with a '+' symbol.



Figure 4-4: Venn Diagrams showing overlap in membership between the microbial assemblages observed in 'warm' basal ice, glacier ice, channel water and 'cold' basal ice samples. Numbers represent the number of operational taxonomic units (OTUs) that are unique to each environment or shared between environments.

Chapter 5: Conclusions

Glacier systems host distinct biogeochemical environments on the glacier surface (supraglacial system), inside the glacier (englacial system) and near the glacier bed (subglacial system). Sub-environments in the supraglacial system, including wet and dry snow, firn and bare glacier ice, cryoconite holes, and lakes and streams, are typically exposed to the atmosphere and light for at least part of the year and experience seasonal fluctuations in temperature. However, the physical conditions of these sub-environments can differ substantially in terms of the quantity of water that is available, and the type and quantity of sediment, nutrients and microbes they contain. In contrast, sub-environments within the subglacial system (including thin films of water, linked cavity systems, large meltwater channels, permeable subglacial sediments, basal ice, and vein water found along ice and sediment grain boundaries) are permanently dark, are characterised by relatively stable temperatures, and can contain abundant sediment. However, physical conditions in the subglacial environment can vary spatially and temporally, largely in response to variability in the availability and distribution of water, the type and reactivity of sediment, and redox conditions. The different physical and thermal/hydrological conditions that exist within glacier systems result in locally-distinct mixtures of allochthonously-derived and autochthonously produced nutrients and microbes, and physical and chemical products of rock weathering. Meltwater flow rates, flow paths, and residence times can vary over time and both within and between glacier systems and can yield varying degrees of connectivity and exchange between different biogeochemical environments. The hydrology of glaciers can therefore play an important role in controlling both the mixture of water sources that contribute to glacier runoff, and the range of nutrients and microbes that are exported from glaciers.

The objectives of this research were to (1) investigate the variability in microbial assemblages and nutrient species/concentrations that exists within and between the various biogeochemical environments that are found in polar glacier systems and (2) evaluate how glacier hydrology influences the development and export of microbes and nutrients from these systems. The results of this research lead to a refinement in our understanding of the biogeochemical characteristics of supraglacial, englacial and subglacial ice and meltwater environments, and of the roles of authochthonous and allochthonous processes in defining these biogeochemical characteristics. In addition, this research highlights the important influence of glacier hydrology on nutrient and microbe export from these systems. Specifically, the studies completed in this thesis show that:

- Definable sources and sinks for specific fractions of dissolved organic matter (DOM), dissolved inorganic nitrogen (DIN) and dissolved inorganic phosphorus (DIP) can exist along combined supraglacial-ice marginal-proglacial meltwater flow pathways (Chapter 1) and within relatively warm subglacial environments (Chapter 4).
- Basal thermal regime plays an important role in controlling the subglacial biogeochemistry and the mix of solutes, nutrients, and microbes that are acquired from substrate beneath glaciers or produced within subglacial environments. We found basal ice produced in relatively cold subglacial environments contain solutes and microbial assemblages that are remarkably similar to those in its parent glacier ice. In contrast, we found basal ice produced in relatively warm environments to be consistently enriched in major ions, dissolved organic matter (including humic material), and microbes, and occasionally enriched in dissolved phosphorus and reduced nitrogen (NH4⁺) (Chapter 4). The subglacial

system of relatively warm-based polar glaciers can also consistently change both the solute composition and microbial assemblages of meltwaters that drain though them (Chapter 3).

- Subglacial water that is stored over-winter in subglacial channels (with residence times of ~8 months) probably sustains *in situ* microbial activity that can deplete the reservoirs of labile dissolved nutrients (i.e. DIP, DIN and specific fractions of DOM) and develop distinct microbial assemblage structures (Chapter 4).
- The nutrients (Chapter 1) and microbes (Chapter 2) exported in glacial meltwaters can vary with the sources, flow routing, and residence times of meltwaters draining via the glacier-proglacial flow path. As a result, biogeochemical exports can 1) differ between glaciers with different biogeochemical sub-environments and/or hydrological systems, 2) change over the course of the melt season as the hydrological system within a glacier evolves, and 3) show different seasonal patterns for specific microbiological and nutrient parameters. For example:
 - In a cold-based glacier system in the Dry Valleys of Antarctica, nitrate concentrations increased with discharge, resulting in the export of episodic pulses of DIN-rich waters from the system. The sources and sinks of major ions along the same flow path were very different, and an inverse relationship was observed between major ion concentrations and discharge, resulting in a relatively constant 'trickle' of these solutes to downstream ecosystems. These dynamics differ from those in glacier systems that have different sources and sinks of nutrients and solutes, and/or different meltwater drainage system structures and flow routing (Chapter 1).

• In a glacier system with connected supraglacial and subglacial drainage elements, and an active subglacial drainage network that evolves spatially and structurally over the course of a melt season, the microbial assemblages exported from the system depended on whether the waters originated in the supraglacial or extraglacial environment, and on how long they spent in the subglacial system before draining from the glacier (Chapter 2).

The results from this thesis indicate that sources and sinks can be distinct for specific microbiological and nutrient parameters. It also indicates that the spatial and temporal variability of watershed characteristics have an important influence on the biogeochemical conditions that exist on, within and beneath glaciers and on the biogeochemical properties of the meltwater that they exported to downstream environments. These concepts are not new to studies of the chemistry and microbial ecology of glacier ice and meltwater; however, there are still few conceptual models that provide an integrated and detailed interpretation of the biogeochemical and hydrological characteristics of glacier systems. Furthermore, studies of glacier biogeochemistry over the past decade have frequently made broad generalizations about the nutrient and microbial characteristics and dynamics based on macro-scale glaciology and hydrology (e.g. temperate vs polar glacier systems) and upscale from measurements on one watershed to produce regional nutrient flux estimates [Bhatia et al., 2013a; Cameron et al., 2016; Hawkings et al., 2016; Wadham et al., 2016] or extrapolate observed relationships to estimate nutrient fluxes from glaciers under future climate conditions [Hawkings et al., 2015]. Although there is merit in making these extrapolations, the studies completed in this thesis suggest that spatiotemporal variability in the biogeochemical characteristics of glacier ice and the meltwater derived from it may currently be underappreciated. This thesis also highlights the overwhelming need for future research to investigate and define the

dominant controls on the biogeochemistry of glacier ice and meltwater so that we can develop a more comprehensive and coherent understanding of the biogeochemistry all glacier systems and their meltwater exports. Only with such an understanding will it become possible to model these environments and their biogeochemical outputs, how they have changed in the past, and how they are likely to change in the future.

Bibliography

- Amato, P., M. Parazols, M. Sancelme, G. Mailhot, P. Laj, and A. M. Delort (2007), An important oceanic source of micro-organisms for cloud water at the Puy de Dôme (France), *Atmos. Environ.*, 41(37), 8253–8263, doi:10.1016/j.atmosenv.2007.06.022.
- Anderson, S. P., J. I. Drever, C. D. Frost, and P. Holden (2000), Chemical weathering in the foreland of a retreating glacier, *Geochim. Cosmochim. Acta*, 64(7), 1173–1189, doi:10.1016/S0016-7037(99)00358-0.
- Anesio, A. M., and J. Laybourn-Parry (2012), Glaciers and ice sheets as a biome., *Trends Ecol. Evol.*, 27(4), 219–225, doi:10.1016/j.tree.2011.09.012.
- Anesio, A. M., B. Sattler, C. M. Foreman, J. P. Telling, A. J. Hodson, M. Tranter, and R. Psenner (2010), Carbon fluxes through bacterial communities on glacier surfaces, *Ann. Glaciol.*, 51(56), 32–40, doi:10.3189/172756411795932092.
- Anesio, A. M. M., A. J. Hodson, A. Fritz, R. Psenner, and B. Sattler (2009), High microbial activity on glaciers: importance to the global carbon cycle, *Glob. Chang. Biol.*, *15*(4), 955–960, doi:10.1111/j.1365-2486.2008.01758.x.
- Anisimov, O. A., D. G. Vaughan, T. V. Callaghan, C. Furgal, H. Marchant, T. D. Prowse, H. Vilhjalmsson, and J. E. Walsh (2007), Polar regions (Arctic and Antarctic), in *Climate Change 2007: Impacts, Adaptation and Vulnerability. Contribution of Working Group II to the Fourth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change*, edited by M. L. Parry, O. F. Canziani, J. P. Palutikof, P. J. van der Linden, and C. E. Hanson, pp. 653–685, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.
- Ansari, A. H., A. J. Hodson, T. H. E. Heaton, J. Kaiser, and A. Marca-Bell (2012), Stable isotopic evidence for nitrification and denitrification in a High Arctic glacial ecosystem, *Biogeochemistry*, 113(1–3), 341–357, doi:10.1007/s10533-012-9761-9.
- Antony, R., A. M. Grannas, A. S. Willoughby, R. L. Sleighter, M. Thamban, and P. G. Hatcher (2014), Origin and sources of dissolved organic matter in snow on the East Antarctic ice sheet., *Environ. Sci. Technol.*, 48(11), 6151–9, doi:10.1021/es405246a.
- Arimitsu, M. L., J. F. Piatt, E. N. Madison, J. S. Conaway, and N. Hillgruber (2012), Oceanographic gradients and seabird prey community dynamics in glacial fjords, *Fish. Oceanogr.*, 21(2–3), 148–169, doi:10.1111/j.1365-2419.2012.00616.x.
- Bagshaw, E. A., M. Tranter, A. G. Fountain, K. A. Welch, H. J. Basagic, and W. B. Lyons (2007), Biogeochemical evolution of cryoconite holes on Canada Glacier, Taylor Valley, Antarctica, J. Geophys. Res., 112(G4), G04S35, doi:10.1029/2007JG000442.
- Bagshaw, E. A., M. Tranter, J. L. Wadham, A. G. Fountain, and H. J. Basagic (2010), Dynamic behaviour of supraglacial lakes on cold polar glaciers: Canada Glacier, McMurdo Dry Valleys, Antarctica, J. Glaciol., 56(196), 366–368, doi:10.3189/002214310791968449.
- Bagshaw, E. A., M. Tranter, A. G. Fountain, K. Welch, H. J. Basagic, W. B. Lyons, A. G. Fountain, and K. Welch (2013), Do cryoconite holes have the potential to be significant sources of C, N, and P to downstream depauperate ecosystems of Taylor Valley, Antarctica?, *Arctic, Antarct. Alp. Res.*, 45(4), 440–454, doi:10.1657/1938-4246-45.4.440.
- Bagshaw, E. A., J. Wadham, M. Tranter, A. G. Fountain, A. Dubnick, and S. Fitzsimmons (2016a), Processes controlling carbon cycling in Antarctic glacier surface ecosystems, *Geochemical Perspect. Lett.*, (2), 44–54, doi:10.7185/geochemlet.1605.
- Bagshaw, E. A., J. Wadham, M. Tranter, R. Perkins, A. Morgan, C. J. Williamson, A. G. Fountain, S. Fitzsimons, and A. Dubnick (2016b), Response of Antarctic cryoconite microbial communities to light, *FEMS Microbiol. Ecol.*, 92(6), 1–11, doi:10.1093/femsec/fiw076.

- Barker, J. D., M. J. Sharp, S. J. Fitzsimons, and R. J. Turner (2006), Abundance and dynamics of dissolved organic carbon in glacier systems, *Arctic, Antarct. Alp. Res.*, 38(2), 163–172, doi:10.1657/1523-0430(2006)38[163:AADODO]2.0.CO;2.
- Barker, J. D., M. J. Sharp, and R. J. Turner (2009), Using synchronous fluorescence spectroscopy and principal components analysis to monitor dissolved organic matter dynamics in a glacier system, *Hydrol. Process.*, 23(April 2009), 1487–1500, doi:10.1002/hyp.
- Barker, J. D., J. L. Klassen, M. J. Sharp, S. J. Fitzsimons, and R. J. Turner (2010), Detecting biogeochemical activity in basal ice using fluorescence spectroscopy, *Ann. Glaciol.*, 51(56), 47–55, doi:10.3189/172756411795931967.
- Barker, J. D., A. Dubnick, W. B. Lyons, and Y. Chin (2013), Changes in dissolved organic matter (DOM) fluorescence in proglacial Antarctic streams, *Arctic, Antarct. Alp. Res.*, 45(3), 305–317, doi:10.1657/1938-4246-45.3.305.
- Baron, J. L., E. J. Allstott, and B. K. Newkirk (1995), Analysis of long term sulfate and nitrate budgets in a Rocky Mountain basin. Biogeochemistry of Seasonally Snow-Covered Catchments, in *Biogeochemistry of Seasonally Snow-Covered Catchments*, vol. 228, pp. 255– 261, IAHS Publ, Colorado.
- Barrett, J. E., R. A. Virginia, W. B. Lyons, D. M. McKnight, J. C. Priscu, P. T. Doran, A. G. Fountain, D. H. Wall, and D. L. Moorhead (2007), Biogeochemical stoichiometry of Antarctic Dry Valley ecosystems, J. Geophys. Res., 112(G1), G01010, doi:10.1029/2005JG000141.
- Bartholomew, I., P. Nienow, D. Mair, A. Hubbard, M. A. King, and A. Sole (2010), Seasonal evolution of subglacial drainage and acceleration in a Greenland outlet glacier, *Nat. Geosci.*, *3*(6), 408–411, doi:10.1038/ngeo863.
- Bartholomew, I., P. Nienow, A. Sole, D. Mair, T. Cowton, S. Palmer, and J. Wadham (2011), Supraglacial forcing of subglacial drainage in the ablation zone of the Greenland ice sheet, *Geophys. Res. Lett.*, 38(8), 1–5, doi:10.1029/2011GL047063.
- Bate, D. B., J. E. Barrett, M. A. Poage, and R. A. Virginia (2008), Soil phosphorus cycling in an Antarctic polar desert, *Geoderma*, 144(1–2), 21–31, doi:10.1016/j.geoderma.2007.10.007.
- Battin, T. J., A. Wille, R. Psenner, and A. Richter (2004), Large-scale environmental controls on microbial biofilms in high-alpine streams, *Biogeosciences*, 1(2), 159–171, doi:10.5194/bg-1-159-2004.
- Battin, T. J., L. A. Kaplan, S. Findlay, C. S. Hopkinson, E. Marti, A. I. Packman, J. D. Newbold, and F. Sabater (2009), Biophysical controls on organic carbon fluxes in fluvial networks, *Nat. Geosci.*, 2(8), 595–595, doi:10.1038/ngeo602.
- Bhatia, M. P., M. J. Sharp, and J. M. Foght (2006), Distinct bacterial communities exist beneath a high Arctic polythermal glacier., *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.*, 72(9), 5838–45, doi:10.1128/AEM.00595-06.
- Bhatia, M. P., S. B. Das, K. Longnecker, M. A. Charette, and E. B. Kujawinski (2010), Molecular characterization of dissolved organic matter associated with the Greenland ice sheet, *Geochim. Cosmochim. Acta*, 74(13), 3768–3784, doi:10.1016/j.gca.2010.03.035.
- Bhatia, M. P., S. B. Das, E. B. Kujawinski, P. Henderson, A. Burke, and M. A. Charette (2011), Seasonal evolution of water contributions to discharge from a Greenland outlet glacier: Insight from a new isotope-mixing model, J. Glaciol., 57(205), 929–941, doi:10.3189/002214311798043861.
- Bhatia, M. P., E. B. Kujawinski, S. B. Das, C. F. Breier, P. B. Henderson, and M. A. Charette (2013a), Greenland meltwater as a significant and potentially bioavailable source of iron to

the ocean, Nat. Geosci., 6(3), 1-5, doi:10.1038/ngeo1746.

- Bhatia, M. P., S. B. Das, L. Xu, M. A. Charette, J. L. Wadham, and E. B. Kujawinski (2013b), Organic carbon export from the Greenland ice sheet, *Geochim. Cosmochim. Acta*, 109, 329–344, doi:10.1016/j.gca.2013.02.006.
- Bisson, A. K. M., K. A. Welch, S. A. Welch, J. M. Sheets, W. B. Lyons, and J. S. Levy (2015), Patterns and processes of salt efflorescences in the McMurdo region, Antarctica, Arctic, Antarct. Alp. Res., 47(3), 407–425, doi:10.1657/AAAR0014-024.
- Björkman, K. M., and D. M. Karl (1994), Bioavailability of inorganic and organic phosphorus compounds to natural assemblages of microorganisms in Hawaiian coastal waters, *Mar. Ecol. Process Ser.*, *111*(3), 265–273, doi:10.3354/meps111265.
- Boetius, A., A. M. Anesio, J. W. Deming, J. Mikucki, and J. Z. Rapp (2014), Microbial ecology of the cryosphere: sea ice and glacial habitats, *Nat. Rev. Microbiol.*, *13*(11), 677–690, doi:10.1038/nrmicro3522.
- Boon, S., and M. Sharp (2003), The role of hydrologically-driven ice fracture in drainage system evolution on an Arctic glacier, *Geophys. Res. Lett.*, *30*(18), 3–6, doi:10.1029/2003GL018034.
- Bottrell, S. H., and M. Tranter (2002), Sulphide oxidation under partially anoxic conditions at the bed of the Haut Glacier d'Arolla, Switzerland, *Hydrol. Process.*, *16*(12), 2363–2368, doi:10.1002/hyp.1012.
- Boyd, E. S., M. Skidmore, A. C. Mitchell, C. Bakermans, and J. W. Peters (2010), Methanogenesis in subglacial sediments., *Environ. Microbiol. Rep.*, 2(5), 685–92, doi:10.1111/j.1758-2229.2010.00162.x.
- Boyd, E. S., R. K. Lange, A. C. Mitchell, J. R. Havig, T. L. Hamilton, M. J. Lafrenière, E. L. Shock, J. W. Peters, and M. Skidmore (2011), Diversity, abundance, and potential activity of nitrifying and nitrate-reducing microbial assemblages in a subglacial ecosystem., *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.*, 77(14), 4778–87, doi:10.1128/AEM.00376-11.
- Boyd, E. S., T. L. Hamilton, J. R. Havig, M. Skidmore, and E. L. Shock (2014), Chemolithotrophic primary production in a subglacial ecosystem, *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.*, 80(August), 6146– 6153, doi:10.1128/AEM.01956-14.
- Bradley, J. A. et al. (2016), Microbial dynamics in a High Arctic glacier forefield: A combined field, laboratory, and modelling approach, *Biogeosciences*, *13*(19), 5677–5696, doi:10.5194/bg-13-5677-2016.
- Brankatschk, R., S. Töwe, K. Kleineidam, M. Schloter, and J. Zeyer (2011), Abundances and potential activities of nitrogen cycling microbial communities along a chronosequence of a glacier forefield., *ISME J.*, 5(6), 1025–1037, doi:10.1038/ismej.2010.184.
- Brown, G. H. (2002), Glacier meltwater hydrochemistry, *Appl. Geochemistry*, *17*(7), 855–883, doi:10.1016/S0883-2927(01)00123-8.
- Burgess, D., and M. J. Sharp (2004), Recent Changes in Areal Extent of the Devon Ice Cap, Nunavut, Canada, Arctic, Antarct. Alp. Res., 36(2), 261–271.
- Burgess, D. O., M. J. Sharp, D. W. F. Mair, J. A. Dowdeswell, and T. J. Benham (2005), Flow dynamics and iceberg calving rates of Devon Ice Cap, Nunavut, Canada, *J. Glaciol.*, *51*(173), 219–230, doi:10.3189/172756505781829430.
- Cameron, K. A., A. J. Hodson, and A. M. Osborn (2012), Carbon and nitrogen biogeochemical cycling potentials of supraglacial cryoconite communities, *Polar Biol.*, 35(9), 1375–1393, doi:10.1007/s00300-012-1178-3.
- Cameron, K. A., M. Stibal, J. R. Hawkings, A. B. Mikkelsen, J. P. Telling, T. J. Kohler, E. Gözdereliler, J. D. Zarsky, J. Wadham, and C. S. Jacobsen (2016), Meltwater export of

prokaryotic cells from the Greenland Ice Sheet, *Environ. Microbiol.*, 00, 1–35, doi:10.1111/1462-2920.

- Caporaso, J. G. et al. (2010), correspondence QIIME allows analysis of high-throughput community sequencing data Intensity normalization improves color calling in SOLiD sequencing, *Nat. Publ. Gr.*, 7(5), 335–336, doi:10.1038/nmeth0510-335.
- Cappelen, J. (2015), Weather observations from Greenland 1958-2014, Available from: http://www.dmi.dk/laer-om/generelt/dmi-publikationer/2013/ (Accessed 27 July 2015)
- Carstea, E. (2012), Fluorescence Spectroscopy as a Potential Tool for in-situ Monitoring of Dissolved Organic Matter in Surface Water Systems, in *Water Pollution*, pp. 47–68, Nuray Balkis, InTech, Rijeka, Croatia.
- Chandler, D. M. et al. (2013), Evolution of the subglacial drainage system beneath the Greenland Ice Sheet revealed by tracers, *Nat. Geosci.*, *6*(3), 195–198, doi:10.1038/ngeo1737.
- Chao, A. (1984), Nonparametric estimation of the number of classes in a population, *Scand. J. Stat.*, *11*(4), 265–270, doi:10.1214/aoms/1177729949.
- Chao, A., and T.-J. Shen (2003), Nonparametric estimation of Shannon's index of diversity when there are unseen species in sample, *Environ. Ecol. Stat.*, *10*, 429–443.
- Chase, J. M., and J. A. Myers (2011), Disentangling the importance of ecological niches from stochastic processes across scales, *Philos. Trans. R. Soc. B Biol. Sci.*, *366*(1576), 2351–2363, doi:10.1098/rstb.2011.0063.
- Christner, B. C., B. H. Kvitko, and J. N. Reeve (2003), Molecular identification of bacteria and Eukarya inhabiting an Antarctic cryoconite hole., *Extremophiles*, 7(3), 177–83, doi:10.1007/s00792-002-0309-0.
- Christner, B. C. et al. (2014), A microbial ecosystem beneath the West Antarctic ice sheet, *Nature*, *512*(7514), 310–313, doi:10.1038/nature13667.
- Chu, V. W. (2014), Greenland ice sheet hydrology: A review, *Prog. Phys. Geogr.*, *38*(1), 19–54, doi:10.1177/0309133313507075.
- Claridge, G. G. C., and I. B. Campbell (1968), Origin of nitrate deposits, *Nature*, 217, 428–430.
- Coble, P. G. (1996), Characterization of marine and terrestrial DOM in seawater using excitiationemission spectroscopy, *Mar. Chem.*, *51*, 325–346.
- Coble, P. G. (2007), Marine optical biogeochemistry: the chemistry of ocean color., *Chem. Rev.*, 107(2), 402–18, doi:10.1021/cr050350+.
- Coble, P. G., C. E. Del Castillo, and B. Avril (1998), Distribution and optical properties of CDOM in the Arabian Sea during the 1995 Southwest Monsoon, *Deep Sea Res. Part II Top. Stud. Oceanogr.*, 45(10–11), 2195–2223, doi:10.1016/S0967-0645(98)00068-X.
- Comte, J., A. Monier, S. Crevecoeur, C. Lovejoy, and W. F. Vincent (2016), Microbial biogeography of permafrost thaw ponds across the changing northern landscape, *Ecography* (*Cop.*)., 39(7), 609–618, doi:10.1111/ecog.01667.
- Cory, R. M., and D. M. McKnight (2005), Fluorescence Spectroscopy Reveals Ubiquitous Presence of Oxidized and Reduced Quinones in Dissolved Organic Matter, *Environ. Sci. Technol.*, *39*(21), 8142–8149, doi:10.1021/es0506962.
- Cuffey, K. M., and W. S. B. Paterson (2010), The Physics of Glaciers, Elsevier Science.
- Cuss, C. W., and C. Gueguen (2015), Relationships between molecular weight and fluorescence properties for size-fractionated dissolved organic matter from fresh and aged sources, *Water Res.*, *68*, 487–497, doi:10.1016/j.watres.2014.10.013.
- Dore, J. E., and J. C. Priscu (2013), Phytoplankton phosphorus deficiency and alkaline phosphatase activity in the McMurdo, *Limnol. Oceanogr.*, 46(6), 1331–1346,

doi:10.4319/lo.2001.46.6.1331.

- Dubnick, A., J. D. Barker, M. Sharp, J. Wadham, G. Lis, J. P. Telling, S. Fitzsimons, and M. Jackson (2010), Characterization of dissolved organic matter (DOM) from glacial environments using total fluorescence spectroscopy and parallel factor analysis, *Ann. Glaciol.*, 51(56), 111–122, doi:10.3189/172756411795931912.
- Dubnick, A., S. Kazemi, M. Sharp, J. Wadham, J. Hawkings, A. Beaton, and B. Lanoil (2017a), Hydrological controls on glacially exported microbial assemblages, J. Geophys. Res. Biogeosciences, 1–13, doi:10.1002/2016JG003685.
- Dubnick, A., J. Wadham, M. Tranter, M. Sharp, J. Orwin, J. D. Barker, E. A. Bagshaw, and S. Fitzsimons (2017b), Trickle or treat : the dynamics of nutrient export from polar glaciers, *Hydrol. Process.*, 1–14, doi:10.1002/hyp.11149.
- Edgar, R. C. (2013), UPARSE: Highly accurate OTU sequences from microbial amplicon reads, *Nat. Methods*, *10*(10), 996–998, doi:10.1038/nmeth.2604.
- Edgar, R. C., B. J. Haas, J. C. Clemente, C. Quince, and R. Knight (2011), UCHIME improves sensitivity and speed of chimera detection, *Bioinformatics*, 27(16), 2194–2200, doi:10.1093/bioinformatics/btr381.
- Elliott, S., J. R. Lead, and A. Baker (2006), Characterisation of the fluorescence from freshwater, planktonic bacteria., *Water Res.*, 40(10), 2075–83, doi:10.1016/j.watres.2006.03.017.
- Fellman, J. B., D. V. D'Amore, E. W. Hood, and R. D. Boone (2008), Fluorescence characteristics and biodegradability of dissolved organic matter in forest and wetland soils from coastal temperate watersheds in southeast Alaska, *Biogeochemistry*, 88(2), 169–184, doi:10.1007/s10533-008-9203-x.
- Fellman, J. B., R. G. M. Spencer, P. J. Hernes, R. T. Edwards, D. V. D'Amore, and E. W. Hood (2010), The impact of glacier runoff on the biodegradability and biochemical composition of terrigenous dissolved organic matter in near-shore marine ecosystems, *Mar. Chem.*, 121(1– 4), 112–122, doi:10.1016/j.marchem.2010.03.009.
- Fettweis, X., B. Franco, M. Tedesco, J. H. van Angelen, J. T. M. Lenaerts, M. R. van den Broeke, and H. Gallée (2013), Estimating Greenland ice sheet surface mass balance contribution to future sea level rise using the regional atmospheric climate model MAR, *Cryosph.*, 7, 469– 489, doi:10.5194/tcd-6-3101-2012.
- Fischer, H., and D. Wagenbach (1998), Sulfate and nitrate firn concentrations on the Greenland ice sheet, J. Geophys. Res., 103(D17), 927–934, doi:10.1029/98JD01886.
- Fitzsimons, S., N. Webb, S. Mager, S. MacDonell, R. Lorrain, and D. Samyn (2008), Mechanisms of basal ice formation in polar glaciers: An evaluation of the apron entrainment model, J. *Geophys. Res. Earth Surf.*, 113(2), 1–10, doi:10.1029/2006JF000698.
- Fogg, G. E. (1967), Observations on the snow algae of the South Orkney Islands, in *Proceedings* of the Royal Society London, Series B, pp. 279–286.
- Foght, J. M., J. Aislabie, S. Turner, C. E. Brown, J. Ryburn, D. J. Saul, and W. Lawson (2004), Culturable bacteria in subglacial sediments and ice from two Southern Hemisphere glaciers., *Microb. Ecol.*, 47(4), 329–340, doi:10.1007/s00248-003-1036-5.
- Foreman, C. M., C. F. Wolfe, and J. C. Priscu (2004), Impact of episodic warming events on the physical, chemical and biological relationships of lakes in the McMurdo Dry Valleys, Antarctica, Aquat. Geochemistry, 12, 239–268, doi:10.1007/s10498-004-2261-3.
- Foreman, C. M., B. Sattler, J. A. Mikucki, L. Porazinska, Dorota, and J. C. Priscu (2007), Metabolic activity and diversity of cryoconites in the Taylor Valley, Antarctica, J. Geophys. Res. Biogeosciences, 112, 1–11, doi:10.1029/2006JG000358.

- Fortner, S. K., M. Tranter, A. Fountain, W. B. Lyons, and K. A. Welch (2005), The geochemistry of supraglacial streams of Canada Glacier, Taylor Valley (Antarctica), and their evolution into proglacial waters, *Aquat. Geochemistry*, 11(4), 391–412, doi:10.1007/s10498-004-7373-2.
- Fortner, S. K., W. B. Lyons, and L. Munk (2013), Diel stream geochemistry, Taylor Valley, Antarctica, *Hydrol. Process.*, 27(3), 394–404, doi:10.1002/hyp.9255.
- Fountain, A. G. (1989), The storage of water in, and hydraulic characteristics of, the firn of South Cascade Glacier, Washington State, USA, *Ann. Glaciol.*, *13*, 69–75.
- Fountain, A. G., S. Walder, and U. S. Geological (1998), Water flow through temperate glaciers, *Rev. Geophys.*, *36*, 299–328.
- Fountain, A. G., M. Tranter, T. H. Nylen, K. J. Lewis, and D. R. Mueller (2004), Evolution of cryoconite holes and their contribution to meltwater runoff from glaciers in the McMurdo Dry Valleys, Antarctica, J. Glaciol., 50(168), 35–45, doi:10.3189/172756504781830312.
- Fuhrman, J. A., J. A. Steele, I. Hewson, M. S. Schwalbach, M. V. Brown, J. L. Green, and J. H. Brown (2008), A latitudinal diversity gradient in planktonic marine bacteria, *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.*, 105(22), 7774–8, doi:10.1073/pnas.0803070105.
- Gaidos, E., B. Lanoil, T. Thorsteinsson, A. Graham, M. Skidmore, S.-K. Han, T. Rust, and B. Popp (2004), A viable microbial community in a subglacial volcanic crater lake, Iceland., *Astrobiology*, *4*(3), 327–344, doi:10.1089/ast.2004.4.327.
- Gardner, A. S., G. Moholdt, B. Wouters, G. J. G. Wolken, D. O. Burgess, M. J. Sharp, J. G. Cogley, and C. Braun (2011), Sharply increased mass loss from glaciers and ice caps in the Canadian Arctic Archipelago., *Nature*, 473(7347), 357–360, doi:10.1038/nature10089.
- Gardner, A. S., G. Moholdt, T. Scambos, M. Fahnstock, S. Ligtenberg, M. Van Den Broeke, and J. Nilsson (2018), Increased West Antarctic and unchanged East Antarctic ice discharge over the last 7 years, *Cryosphere*, *12*(2), 521–547, doi:10.5194/tc-12-521-2018.
- Gawor, J., J. Grzesiak, J. Sasin-Kurowska, P. Borsuk, R. Gromadka, D. Górniak, A. Świątecki, T. Aleksandrzak-Piekarczyk, and M. K. Zdanowski (2016), Evidence of adaptation, niche separation and microevolution within the genus Polaromonas on Arctic and Antarctic glacial surfaces, *Extremophiles*, 20(4), 403–413, doi:10.1007/s00792-016-0831-0.
- Gihring, T. M., S. J. Green, and C. W. Schadt (2012), Massively parallel rRNA gene sequencing exacerbates the potential for biased community diversity comparisons due to variable library sizes, *Environ. Microbiol.*, *14*(2), 285–290, doi:10.1111/j.1462-2920.2011.02550.x.
- Gilpin, R. R. (1979), A model of the "liquid-like" layer between ice and a substrate with applications to wire regelation and particle migration, *J. Colloid Interface Sci.*, 68(2), 235–251, doi:10.1016/0021-9797(79)90277-7.
- Gooseff, M. N., D. M. McKnight, and R. L. Runkel (2004), Reach-scale cation exchange controls on major ion chemistry of an Antarctic glacial meltwater stream, *Aquat. Geochemistry*, *10*(3–4), 221–238, doi:10.1007/s10498-004-2260-4.
- Gooseff, M. N., A. N. Wlostowski, D. M. McKnight, and C. Jaros (2016), Hydrologic connectivity and implications for ecosystem processes Lessons from naked watersheds, *Geomorphology*, doi:10.1016/j.geomorph.2016.04.024.
- Gudding, J. A. (2003), Phosphorus in Taylor Valley, Antarctica: The connection between landscape age and nutrient limitation in aquatic ecosystem components., The Ohio State University.
- Gutiérrez, M., P. Galand, C. Moffat, and S. Pantoja (2014), Melting glacier impacts the community structure of Bacteria, Fungi and Archaea in Chilean Patagonia fjord system, *Environ*.

Microbiol., 16, 11110515, doi:10.1111/1462-2920.12872.

- Harrison, J. C., T. Lynds, A. Ford, and R. H. Rainbird (2016), Simplified tectonic assemblage map of the Canadian Arctic Islands, *Geol. Surv. Canada, Can. Geosci. Map 80 (preliminary), scape12 000 000*, doi:10.4095/297416.
- Hawkings, J., J. Wadham, M. Tranter, J. Telling, E. Bagshaw, A. Beaton, S.-L. Simmons, D. Chandler, A. Tedstone, and P. Nienow (2016), The Greenland Ice Sheet as a hot spot of phosphorus weathering and export in the Arctic, *Global Biogeochem. Cycles*, 30, 1–22, doi:10.1002/2015GB005237.
- Hawkings, J. R., J. L. Wadham, M. Tranter, R. Raiswell, L. G. Benning, P. J. Statham, A. Tedstone, P. Nienow, K. Lee, and J. P. Telling (2014), Ice sheets as a significant source of highly reactive nanoparticulate iron to the oceans., *Nat. Commun.*, 5(3929), 1–8, doi:10.1038/ncomms4929.
- Hawkings, J. R. et al. (2015), The effect of warming climate on nutrient and solute export from the Greenland Ice Sheet, *Geochemical Perspect. Lett.*, *1*, 94–104, doi:10.7185/geochemlet.1510.
- Healy, M., J. G. Webster-Brown, K. L. Brown, and V. Lane (2006), Chemistry and stratification of Antarctic meltwater ponds II: Inland ponds in the McMurdo Dry Valleys, Victoria Land, *Antarct. Sci.*, 18(04), 525, doi:10.1017/S0954102006000575.
- Henriksen, N., A. K. Higgins, F. Kalsbeek, and T. C. R. Pulvertaft (2009), *Greenland from Archaean to Quaternary Descriptive text to the 1995 Geological map of Greenland, 1:2 500* 000, 2nd ed., Geological Survey of Denmark and Greenland.
- Hodson, A. A. J., M. Tranter, and G. Vatne (2000), Contemporary rates of chemical denudation and atmospheric CO2 sequestration in glacier basins: An arctic perspective, *Earth Surf. Process.* Landforms, 25(13), 1447–1471, doi:10.1002/1096-9837(200012)25:13<1447::AID-ESP156>3.0.CO;2-9.
- Hodson, A. J. (2006), Biogeochemistry of snowmelt in an Antarctic glacial ecosystem, *Water Resour. Res.*, 42(11), 1–15, doi:10.1029/2005WR004311.
- Hodson, A. J. (2007), Phosphorus in Glacial Meltwaters, *Glacier Sci. Environ. Chang.*, (1984), 81–82, doi:10.1002/9780470750636.ch17.
- Hodson, A. J., P. N. Mumford, J. Kohler, and P. M. P. M. Wynn (2005), The High Arctic glacial ecosystem: new insights from nutrient budgets, *Biogeochemistry*, 72(2), 233–256, doi:10.1007/s10533-004-0362-0.
- Hodson, A. J., A. M. Anesio, M. Tranter, A. Fountain, M. Osborn, J. Priscu, J. Laybourn-Parry, and B. Sattler (2008), Glacial Ecosystems, *Ecol. Monogr.*, 78(1), 41–67, doi:10.1890/07-0187.1.
- Hodson, A. J., T. Heaton, H. Langford, and K. Newsham (2010a), Chemical weathering and solute export by meltwater in a maritime Antarctic glacier basin, *Biogeochemistry*, *98*, 9–27, doi:10.1007/s10533-009-9372-2.
- Hodson, A. J., K. Cameron, C. Bøggild, T. Irvine-Fynn, H. Langford, D. Pearce, and S. Banwart (2010b), The structure, biological activity and biogeochemistry of cryoconite aggregates upon an arctic valley glacier: Longyearbreen, Svalbard, J. Glaciol., 56(196), 349–362, doi:10.3189/002214310791968403.
- Hodson, A. J., H. Paterson, K. Westwood, K. Cameron, and J. Laybourn-Parry (2013), A blue-ice ecosystem on the margins of the East Antarctic ice sheet, *J. Glaciol.*, *59*(214), 255–268, doi:10.3189/2013JoG12J052.
- Hoffman, M. J., A. G. Fountain, and G. E. Liston (2008), Surface energy balance and melt

thresholds over 11 years at Taylor Glacier, Antarctica, J. Geophys. Res. Earth Surf., 113(4), 1–12, doi:10.1029/2008JF001029.

Holland, H. D. (1978), The chemistry of atmospheres and oceans, Wiley-Interscience, New York.

- Holloway, J. M., and R. A. Dahlgren (2002), Nitrogen in rock: Occurrences and biogeochemical implications, *Global Biogeochem. Cycles*, *16*(4), 65-1-65–17, doi:10.1029/2002GB001862.
- Honma, H. (1996), High ammonium contents in the 3800 Ma Isua supracrustal rocks, central West Greenland, *Geochim. Cosmochim. Acta*, 60(12), 2173–2178, doi:10.1016/0016-7037(96)00083-X.
- Honma, H., and H. P. Schwarcz (1979), Ammonium content of Archaean rocks of the Superior Province, *Therm. Spring Res., Okayama Univ.*, 49, 7–13.
- Hood, E. W., J. Fellman, R. G. M. Spencer, P. J. Hernes, R. Edwards, D. D'Amore, and D. Scott (2009), Glaciers as a source of ancient and labile organic matter to the marine environment., *Nature*, 462(7276), 1044–1047, doi:10.1038/nature08580.
- Howard-Williams, C., J. C. Priscu, and W. F. Vincent (1989), Nitrogen dynamics in two Antarctic streams, *Hydrobiologia*, *172*(1), 51–61, doi:10.1007/BF00031612.
- Hubbard, B., and M. Sharp (1989), Basal ice formation and deformation: a review, *Prog. Phys. Geogr. Earth Environ.*, 13(4), 529–558, doi:10.1177/030913338901300403.
- Hubbard, B., S. Cook, and H. Coulson (2009), Basal ice facies: a review and unifying approach, *Quat. Sci. Rev.*, 28(19–20), 1956–1969, doi:10.1016/j.quascirev.2009.03.005.
- Hubbard, B. P., M. J. Sharp, I. C. Willis, M. K. Nielsen, and C. Smart (1995), Borehole waterlevel variation and the structure of the subglacial hydrological system of Haut Glacier d'Arolla, Valais, Switzerland, J. Glaciol., 41(139), 572–583.
- Huse, S. M., D. M. Welch, H. G. Morrison, and M. L. Sogin (2010), Ironing out the wrinkles in the rare biosphere through improved OTU clustering, *Environ. Microbiol.*, *12*(7), 1889–1898, doi:10.1111/j.1462-2920.2010.02193.x.
- Iken, A. (1981), The effect of the subglacial water pressure on the sliding velocity of a glacier in an idealized numerical model., *J. Glaciol.*, *27*(97), 407–421.
- Iken, A., and R. A. Bindschadler (1986), Combined measuremebts of subglacial water pressure and surface velocity of Findelengletscher, Switzerland, *J. Glaciol.*, *32*(110).
- Iwamori, H., K. Yoshida, H. Nakamura, T. Kuwatani, M. Hamada, S. Haraguchi, and K. Ueki (2017), Classification of geochemical data based onmultivariate statistical analyses: Complementary roles of cluster, principal component, and independent component analyses, *Geochemistry, Geophys. Geosystems*, 18, 994–1012, doi:10.1002/2016GC006663.
- Johnes, P. J., and A. L. Heathwaite (1992), A procedure for the simultaneous determination of total nitrogen and total phosphorus in freshwater samples using persulphate microwave digestion, *Water Res.*, *26*(10), 1281–1287, doi:10.1016/0043-1354(92)90122-K.
- Jones, A. (2010), *Soil Atlas of the Northern Circumpolar Region*, edited by A. Jones, Publications Office of the European Union, Luxembourg.
- Karl, D. M., D. F. Bird, K. Björkman, T. Houlihan, R. Shackelford, and L. Tupas (1999), Microorganisms in the accreted ice of Lake Vostok, Antarctica., *Science*, 286(5447), 2144– 2147, doi:10.1126/science.286.5447.2144.
- Kastovská, K., J. Elster, M. Stibal, and H. Santrůcková (2005), Microbial assemblages in soil microbial succession after glacial retreat in Svalbard (high arctic)., *Microb. Ecol.*, *50*(3), 396–407, doi:10.1007/s00248-005-0246-4.
- Kayani, M. ur R., S. M. Doyle, N. Sangwan, G. Wang, J. A. Gilbert, B. C. Christner, and T. F. Zhu (2018), Metagenomic analysis of basal ice from an Alaskan glacier, *Microbiome*, 6(1), 14–

16, doi:10.1186/s40168-018-0505-5.

- Kazemi, S., I. Hatam, and B. Lanoil (2016), Bacterial community succession in a high-altitude subarctic glacier foreland is a three-stage process, *Mol. Ecol.*, 25(21), 5557–5567, doi:10.1111/mec.13835.
- Keys, J. R., and K. Williams (1981), Origin of crystalline, cold desert salts in the McMurdo region, Antarctica, *Geochim. Cosmochim. Acta*, 45(I), 2299–2309, doi:10.1016/0016-7037(81)90084-3.
- Kim, M., J. Y. Jung, D. Laffly, H. Y. Kwon, and Y. K. Lee (2017), Shifts in bacterial community structure during succession in a glacier foreland of the High Arctic, *FEMS Microbiol. Ecol.*, 93(1), 1–9, doi:10.1093/femsec/fiw213.
- Knight, P. G. (1997), The basal ice layer of glaciers and ice sheets, *Quat. Sci. Rev.*, *16*(97), 975–993, doi:10.1016/S0277-3791(97)00033-4.
- Kowalczuk, P., W. J. Cooper, R. F. Whitehead, M. J. Durako, and W. Sheldon (2003), Characterization of CDOM in an organic-rich river and surrounding coastal ocean in the South Atlantic Bight, *Aquat. Sci.*, 65(4), 384–401, doi:10.1007/s00027-003-0678-1.
- Kuletz, K. J., S. W. Stephensen, D. B. Irons, E. A. Labunski, and K. M. Brenneman (2003), Distribution, population status and trends of Kittlitz's Murrelet Brachyramphus Brevirostris in Lower Cook Inlet and Kachemak Bay, Alaska, *Mar. Ornithol.*, 31, 133–140.
- Lafrenière, M. J., and M. J. Sharp (2004), The concentration and fluorescence of dissolved organic carbon (DOC) in glacial and nonglacial catchments: Interpreting hydrological flow routing and DOC sources, *Arctic, Antarct. Alp. Res.*, *36*(2), 156–165.
- Lafrenière, M. J., and M. J. Sharp (2005), A comparison of solute fluxes and sources from glacial and non-glacial catchments over contrasting melt seasons, *Hydrol. Process.*, *19*(15), 2991–3012, doi:10.1002/hyp.5812.
- Laj, P., J. M. Palais, and H. Sigurdsson (1992), Changing sources of impurities to the Greenland ice sheet over the last 250 years, *Atmos. Environ.*, *26*(14), 2627–2640, doi:10.1016/0960-1686(92)90114-Z.
- Lakowicz, R. J. (1999), *Principles of Fluorescence Spectroscopy*, Second Edi., Kluwer Academic/Plenum Publishers, New York.
- Lanoil, B., M. Skidmore, J. C. Priscu, S. Han, W. Foo, S. W. Vogel, S. Tulaczyk, and H. Engelhardt (2009), Bacteria beneath the West Antarctic ice sheet., *Environ. Microbiol.*, *11*(3), 609–615, doi:10.1111/j.1462-2920.2008.01831.x.
- Lapierre, J. F., and P. A. Del Giorgio (2014), Partial coupling and differential regulation of biologically and photochemically labile dissolved organic carbon across boreal aquatic networks, *Biogeosciences*, 11(20), 5969–5985, doi:10.5194/bg-11-5969-2014.
- Lawson, E. C. (2012), Investigating Carbon Sourcing and Cycling in Subglacial Environments, University of Bristol.
- Lawson, E. C., J. L. Wadham, M. Tranter, M. Stibal, G. P. Lis, C. E. H. Butler, J. Laybourn-Parry, P. Nienow, D. Chandler, and P. Dewsbury (2013), Greenland Ice Sheet exports labile organic carbon to the Arctic oceans, *Biogeosciences Discuss.*, 10(12), 19311–19345, doi:10.5194/bgd-10-19311-2013.
- Lawson, E. C., M. P. Bhatia, J. L. Wadham, and E. B. Kujawinski (2014), Continuous summer export of nitrogen-rich organic matter from the Greenland Ice Sheet inferred by ultrahigh resolution mass spectrometry., *Environ. Sci. Technol.*, 48, 14248–14257, doi:10.1021/es501732h.
- Lear, G., J. Bellamy, B. S. Case, J. E. Lee, and H. L. Buckley (2014), Fine-scale spatial patterns

in bacterial community composition and function within freshwater ponds, *ISME J.*, 8(8), 1715–1726, doi:10.1038/ismej.2014.21.

- Lis, G., L. I. I. Wassenaar, and M. J. J. Hendry (2008), High-precision laser spectroscopy D/H and 18O measurements of microliter natural water samples, *Anal. Chem.*, *80*(1), 287–293.
- Logue, J. B., C. T. Robinson, C. Meier, and J. R. Van der Meer (2004), Relationship between sediment organic matter, bacteria composition, and the ecosystem metabolism of alpine streams, *Limnol. Oceanogr.*, 49(6), 2001–2010, doi:10.4319/lo.2004.49.6.2001.
- Lorrain, R. D., S. J. Fitzsimons, M. J. Vandergoes, and M. Stievenard (1999), Ice composition evidence for the formation of basal ice from lake water beneath a cold-based Antarctic glacier, *Ann. Glaciol.*, *28*, 277–281.
- Lutz, S., A. M. M. Anesio, S. E. Jorge Villar, and L. G. Benning (2014), Variations of algal communities cause darkening of a Greenland glacier, *FEMS Microbiol. Ecol.*, 89(2), 402– 414, doi:10.1111/1574-6941.12351.
- Lynch, M. D. J., A. P. Masella, M. W. Hall, A. K. Bartram, and J. D. Neufeld (2013), AXIOME: Automated exploration of microbial diversity, *Gigascience*, *2*(1), 3–7, doi:10.1186/2047-217X-2-3.
- Lyons, B. W., K. A. Welch, A. G. Fountain, G. L. Dana, B. H. Vaughn, and D. M. McKnight (2003), Surface glaciochemistry of Taylor Valley, southern Victoria Land, Antarctica and its relationship to stream chemistry, *Hydrol. Process.*, 17, 115–130, doi:10.1002/hyp.1205.
- Lyons, W. B., K. A. Welch, K. Neumann, J. K. Toxey, R. Mcarthur, D. M. Mcknight, and D. Moorhead (1998), Geochemical linkages among glaciers, streams and lakes within the Taylor Valley, Antarctica, in *Ecosystem Dynamics in a Polar Desert: the McMurdo Dry Valleys, Antarctica*, edited by J. C. Priscu, pp. 77–92, American Geophysical Union:, Washington DC.
- Mair, D., I. Willis, U. H. Fischer, B. Hubbard, P. Nienow, and A. Hubbard (2004), Hydrological controls on patterns of surface, internal and basal motion during three "spring events": Haut Glacier d'Arolla, Switzerland, J. Glaciol., 49(167), 555–567, doi:10.3189/172756503781830467.
- Margesin, R., G. Zacke, and F. Schinner (2002), Characterization of heterotrophic microorganisms in alpine glacier cryoconite, *Arctic, Antarct. Alp. Res.*, *34*(1), 88–93, doi:10.2307/1552512.
- Marteinsson, V. T. et al. (2013), Microbial communities in the subglacial waters of the Vatnajökull ice cap, Iceland, *ISME J.*, 7(2), 427–437, doi:10.1038/ismej.2012.97.
- Masella, A. P., A. K. Bartram, J. M. Truszkowski, D. G. Brown, and J. D. Neufeld (2012), PANDAseq: Paired-end assembler for illumina sequences, *BMC Bioinformatics*, 13(1), 1–7, doi:10.1186/1471-2105-13-31.
- Mathews, E. A., and G. W. Pendleton (2006), Declines in harbor seal (Phoca Vitulina) number in Glacier Bay National Park, Alaska, 1992-2002, *Mar. Mammal Sci.*, 22(1), 167–189.
- Maurice, P. A., D. M. McKnight, L. Leff, J. E. Fulghum, and M. Gooseff (2002), Direct observations of aluminosilicate weathering in the hyporheic zone of an Antarctic Dry Valley stream, *Geochim. Cosmochim. Acta*, 66(8), 1335–1347, doi:10.1016/S0016-7037(01)00890-0.
- McCune, B., J. B. Grace, and D. L. Urban (2002), *Analysis of Ecological Communities*, Mjm Software Design, Gleneden Beach, OR, USA.
- Mcknight, D. M., R. L. Runkel, C. M. Tate, J. H. Duff, L. Daryl, and D. L. Moorhead (2004), Inorganic N and P dynamics of Antarctic glacial meltwater streams as controlled by hyporheic exchange and benthic autotrophic communities, *J. North Am. Benthol. Soc.*, 23(2), 171–188, doi:10.1899/0887-3593(2004)023<0171:INAPDO>2.0.CO;2.

- McKnight, D. M., A. S. Alger, C. M. Tate, G. H. Shupe, and S. A. Spaulding (1998), Longitudinal patterns in algal abundance and species distribution in meltwater streams in Taylor Valley, Southern Victoria Land, Antarctica, Antarct. Res. Ser., 72, 109–127, doi:10.1029/AR072p0109.
- McKnight, D. M., D. K. Niyogi, A. S. Alger, A. Bomblies, P. A. Conovitz, and C. M. Tate (1999), Dry Valley streams in Antarctica: Ecosystems waiting for water, *Bioscience*, 49(12), 985– 995, doi:10.1525/bisi.1999.49.12.985.
- McKnight, D. M., E. W. Boyer, P. K. Westerhoff, P. T. Doran, T. Kulbe, and D. T. Andersen (2001), Spectrofluorometric characterization of dissolved organic matter for indication of precursor organic material and aromaticity, *Limnol. Oceanogr.*, 46(1), 38–48, doi:10.4319/lo.2001.46.1.0038.
- Mikucki, J. A., and J. C. Priscu (2007), Bacterial diversity associated with blood falls, a subglacial outflow from the Taylor Glacier, Antarctica, *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.*, 73(12), 4029–4039, doi:10.1128/AEM.01396-06.
- Mindl, B., A. M. Anesio, K. Meirer, A. J. Hodson, J. Laybourn-Parry, R. Sommaruga, and B. Sattler (2007), Factors influencing bacterial dynamics along a transect from supraglacial runoff to proglacial lakes of a high Arctic glacieri, *FEMS Microbiol. Ecol.*, 59, 307–317, doi:10.1111/j.1574-6941.2006.00262.x.
- Montross, S., M. Skidmore, B. Christner, D. Samyn, J.-L. Tison, R. Lorrain, S. Doyle, and S. Fitzsimons (2014), Debris-Rich Basal Ice as a Microbial Habitat, Taylor Glacier, Antarctica, *Geomicrobiol. J.*, 31(1), 76–81, doi:10.1080/01490451.2013.811316.
- Moorhead, D., J. Schmeling, and I. Hawes (2005), Modelling the contribution of benthic microbial mats to net primary production in Lake Hoare, McMurdo Dry Valleys, *Antarct. Sci.*, *17*(1), 33–45, doi:10.1017/S0954102005002403.
- Moorhead, D. L., W. S. Davis, and R. A. J. Wharton (1997), Carbon dynamics of aquatic microbial mats in the Antarctic dry valleys: A modelling synthesis, in *Ecosystem Processes in Antarctic Ice-free Landscapes*, Balkema Press, Rotterdam.
- Mopper, K., and C. A. Schultz (1993), Fluorescence as a possible tool for studying the nature and water column distribution of DOC components, *Mar. Chem.*, 41(1–3), 229–238, doi:10.1016/0304-4203(93)90124-7.
- Mortimer, C. A., M. Sharp, and B. Wouters (2016), Glacier surface temperatures in the Canadian High Arctic, 2000-15, J. Glaciol., 62(235), 963–975, doi:10.1017/jog.2016.80.
- Mortimer, C. A., M. Sharp, and W. Van Wychen (2018), Influence of recent warming and ice dynamics on glacier surface elevations in the Canadian High Arctic, 1995–2014, J. Glaciol., 64, 1–15, doi:10.1017/jog.2018.37.
- Murphy, K. R., C. A. Stedmon, D. Graeber, and R. Bro (2013), Fluorescence spectroscopy and multi-way techniques. PARAFAC, *Anal. Methods*, *5*(23), 6557, doi:10.1039/c3ay41160e.
- Murphy, K. R., C. A. Stedmon, P. Wenig, and R. Bro (2014), OpenFluor– an online spectral library of auto-fluorescence by organic compounds in the environment, *Anal. Methods*, *6*(3), 658–661, doi:10.1039/C3AY41935E.
- Nassry, M. Q., D. T. Scott, W. C. Hession, K. J. Mcguire, and E. W. Hood (2013), In-Stream Reactivity of Dissolved Organic Matter and Nutrients in Proglacial Watersheds, Virginia State University.
- O'Dell, J. W. (1993), *Determination of Nitrate-Nitrite Nitrogen by Automated Colorimetry*, United States Environmental protection Agency, Cincinnati, Ohio.
- Osburn, C. L., T. J. Boyd, M. T. Montgomery, T. S. Bianchi, R. B. Coffin, and H. W. Paerl (2016),

Optical Proxies for Terrestrial Dissolved Organic Matter in Estuaries and Coastal Waters, *Front. Mar. Sci.*, 2(January), doi:10.3389/fmars.2015.00127.

- Parker, B. C., and G. M. Simmons (1985), Paucity of nutrient cycling and absence of food chains in the unique lakes of southern Victoria Land, in *Antarctic nutrient cycles and food webs*, edited by W. R. Siegfried, P. R. Condy, and R. M. Laws, pp. 238–244, Springer-Verlag.
- Pautler, B. G., G. C. Woods, A. Dubnick, A. J. Simpson, M. J. Sharp, S. J. Fitzsimons, and M. J. Simpson (2012), Molecular characterization of dissolved organic matter in glacial ice: coupling natural abundance 1H NMR and fluorescence spectroscopy., *Environ. Sci. Technol.*, 46(7), 3753–61, doi:10.1021/es203942y.
- Pautler, B. G., A. Dubnick, M. J. Sharp, A. J. Simpson, and M. J. Simpson (2013), Comparison of cryoconite organic matter composition from Arctic and Antarctic glaciers at the molecularlevel, *Geochim. Cosmochim. Acta*, 104, 1–18, doi:10.1016/j.gca.2012.11.029.
- Persson, T., and M. Wedborg (2001), Multivariate evaluation of the fluorescence of aquatic organic matter, *Anal. Chim. Acta*, 434(2), 179–192, doi:10.1016/S0003-2670(01)00812-1.
- Petrone, K. C., J. B. Jones, L. D. Hinzman, and R. D. Boone (2006), Seasonal export of carbon, nitrogen, and major solutes from Alaskan catchments with discontinuous permafrost, J. Geophys. Res., 111(G2), G02020, doi:10.1029/2005JG000055.
- Pheng, S., J. J. Lee, M. K. Eom, K. H. Lee, and S. G. Kim (2017), Paucibacter oligotrophus sp. Nov., isolated from fresh water, and emended description of the genus Paucibacter, *Int. J. Syst. Evol. Microbiol.*, 67(7), 2231–2235, doi:10.1099/ijsem.0.001931.
- Porder, S., and S. Ramachandran (2013), The phosphorus concentration of common rocks-a potential driver of ecosystem P status, *Plant Soil*, *367*(1–2), 41–55, doi:10.1007/s11104-012-1490-2.
- Priscu, J. C. (1995), Phytoplankton nutrient deficiency in lakes of the McMurdo dry valleys, Antarctica, *Freshw. Biol.*, 34(2), 215–227, doi:10.1111/j.1365-2427.1995.tb00882.x.
- Priscu, J. C., and B. C. Christner (2004), Earth's Icy Biosphere, in *Microbial Diversity and Bioprospecting*, edited by A. T. Bull, pp. 130–145, American Society for Microbiology, Washington DC.
- Priscu, J. C., W. F. Vincent, and C. Howard-Williams (1989), Inorganic nitrogen uptake and regeneration in perennially ice- covered Lakes Fryxell and Vanda, Antarctica, J. Plankton Res., 11(2), 335–351, doi:DOI: 10.1093/plankt/11.2.335.
- Pruesse, E., C. Quast, K. Knittel, B. M. Fuchs, W. Ludwig, J. Peplies, and F. O. Glöckner (2007), SILVA: a comprehensive online resource for quality checked and aligned ribosomal RNA sequence data compatible with ARB, *Nucleic Acids Res.*, 35(21), 7188–7196, doi:10.1093/nar/gkm864.
- Radić, V., A. Bliss, A. C. Beedlow, R. Hock, E. Miles, and J. G. Cogley (2014), Regional and global projections of twenty-first century glacier mass changes in response to climate scenarios from global climate models, *Clim. Dyn.*, 42(1–2), 37–58, doi:10.1007/s00382-013-1719-7.
- Raiswell, R. (1984), Chemical models of solute acquisition in glacial melt waters, J. Glaciol., 30(104), 49–57.
- Raiswell, R., and A. G. Thomas (1984), Solute acquisition in glacial melt waters. II. Argentiere (French Apls): Bulk melt waters with open-system characteristics, *J. Glaciol.*, *30*(104), 44–48.
- Rice, E. W., R. B. Baird, A. D. Eaton, and L. S. Clesceri (Eds.) (2012), Standard methods for the examination of water and wastewater, 22nd ed., American Public Health Association,

American Water Works Association, Water Environment Federation.

- Roberts, T. J., A. J. Hodson, C. D. Evans, and K. Holme (2010), Modelling the impacts of a nitrogen pollution event on the biogeochemistry of an Arctic glacier, *Ann. Glaciol.*, 51(56), 163–170, doi:10.3189/172756411795931949.
- Rysgaard, S., J. Mortensen, T. Juul-Pedersen, L. L. Sørensen, K. Lennert, D. H. Søgaard, K. E. Arendt, M. E. Blicher, M. K. Sejr, and J. Bendtsen (2012), High air-sea CO2 uptake rates in nearshore and shelf areas of Southern Greenland: Temporal and spatial variability, *Mar. Chem.*, 128–129, 26–33, doi:10.1016/j.marchem.2011.11.002.
- Saadi, I., M. Borisover, R. Armon, and Y. Laor (2006), Monitoring of effluent DOM biodegradation using fluorescence, UV and DOC measurements, *Chemosphere*, *63*(3), 530–539, doi:10.1016/j.chemosphere.2005.07.075.
- Sattin, S. R., C. C. Cleveland, E. Hood, S. C. Reed, A. J. King, S. K. Schmidt, M. S. Robeson, N. Ascarrunz, and D. R. Nemergut (2010), Functional shifts in unvegetated, perhumid, recently-deglaciated soils do not correlate with shifts in soil bacterial community composition, J. *Microbiol.*, 47(6), 673–681, doi:10.1007/s12275-009-0194-7.
- Säwström, C., P. Mumford, W. Marshall, A. J. Hodson, and J. Laybourn-Parry (2002), The microbial communities and primary productivity of cryoconite holes in an Arctic glacier (Svalbard 79 degrees N), *Polar Biol.*, 25, 591–596, doi:10.1007/s00300-002-0388-5.
- Schloss, P. D. (2010), The Effects of Alignment Quality, Distance Calculation Method, Sequence Filtering, and Region on the Analysis of 16S rRNA Gene-Based Studies, *PLoS Comput. Biol.*, 6(7), e1000844, doi:10.1371/journal.pcbi.1000844.
- Schloss, P. D. et al. (2009), Introducing mothur: Open-Source, Platform-Independent, Community-Supported Software for Describing and Comparing Microbial Communities, *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.*, 75(23), 7537–7541, doi:10.1128/AEM.01541-09.
- Schloss, P. D., D. Gevers, and S. L. Westcott (2011), Reducing the Effects of PCR Amplification and Sequencing Artifacts on 16S rRNA-Based Studies, *PLoS One*, *6*(12), e27310, doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0027310.
- Scott, D., E. Hood, and M. Nassry (2010), Biogeochemistry of C, N, and P in a soil cantena of the shortgrass steppe, *J. Glaciol.*, *51*(56), 80–87, doi:10.3189/172756411795932065.
- Shannon, C. E. (1947), A mathematical theory of communication, *Bell Syst. Tech. J.*, 379–423, doi:10.1145/584091.584093.
- Sharp, M., D. O. Burgess, J. G. Cogley, M. Ecclestone, C. Labine, and G. J. Wolken (2011), Extreme melt on Canada's Arctic ice caps in the 21st century, *Geophys. Res. Lett.*, *38*(11), 3–7, doi:10.1029/2011GL047381.
- Sharp, M. J. (1991), Hydrological inferences from meltwater quality data: the unfilled potential., in *British Hydrological Society 3rd National Hydrology Symposium*, p. 5.1-5.7.
- Sharp, M. J., J. Parkes, B. Cragg, I. J. Fairchild, H. Lamb, and M. Tranter (1999), Widespread bacterial populations at glacier beds and their relationship to rock weathering and carbon cycling, *Geology*, 27(2), 107–110, doi:10.1130/0091-7613(1999)027<0107:WBPAGB>2.3.CO;2.
- Shaw, J. (1977), Till body morphology and structure related, *Boreas*, 6, 189–201.
- Sheridan, P. P., V. I. Miteva, and J. E. Brenchley (2003), Phylogenetic analysis of anaerobic psychrophilic enrichment cultures obtained from a Greenland glacier ice core, *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.*, 69(4), 2153–2160, doi:10.1128/AEM.69.4.2153.

Simpson, E. H. (1949), Measurement of Diversity, Nature, 163, 688, doi:10.1038/163688a0.

Singer, G. A., C. Fasching, L. Wilhelm, J. Niggemann, P. Steier, T. Dittmar, and T. J. Battin

(2012), Biogeochemically diverse organic matter in Alpine glaciers and its downstream fate, *Nat. Geosci.*, *5*(10), 710–714, doi:10.1038/ngeo1581.

- Skidmore, M., J. M. Foght, and M. J. Sharp (2000), Microbial life beneath a high arctic glacier, *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.*, *66*(8), 3214–3220, doi:10.1128/AEM.66.8.3214-3220.2000.Updated.
- Skidmore, M., S. P. Anderson, M. J. Sharp, J. M. Foght, and B. Lanoil (2005), Comparison of microbial community compositions of two subglacial environments reveals a possible role for microbes in chemical weathering processes, *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.*, 71(11), 6986– 6997, doi:10.1128/AEM.71.11.6986.
- Skidmore, M. L., and M. J. Sharp (1999), Drainage system behaviour of a High-Arctic polythermal glacier, *Ann. Glaciol.*, *28*, 209–215, doi:10.3189/172756499781821922.
- Sköld, M., S. R. Wing, and P. V. Mladenov (2003), Genetic subdivision of a sea star with high dispersal capability in relation to physical barriers in a fjordic seascape, *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.*, 250, 163–174, doi:10.3354/meps250163.
- Smith, H. J., R. A. Foster, D. M. McKnight, J. T. Lisle, S. Littmann, M. M. M. Kuypers, and C. M. Foreman (2017), Microbial formation of labile organic carbon in Antarctic glacial environments, *Nat. Geosci*, 10(5), 356–359, doi:10.1038/ngeo2925.
- Statham, P. J., M. Skidmore, and M. Tranter (2008), Inputs of glacially derived dissolved and colloidal iron to the coastal ocean and implications for primary productivity, *Global Biogeochem. Cycles*, *22*(3), doi:10.1029/2007GB003106.
- Stedmon, C. A., and R. Bro (2008), Characterizing dissolved organic matter fluorescence with parallel factor analysis : a tutorial, *Limnol. Oceanogr. Methods*, *6*, 1–6.
- Stedmon, C. A., and S. Markager (2005), Tracing the production and degradation of autochthonous fractions of dissolved organic matter using fluorescence analysis, *Limnol. Oceanogr.*, *50*(5), 1415–1426, doi:10.4319/lo.2005.50.5.1415.
- Stedmon, C. A., S. Markager, and R. Bro (2003), Tracing dissolved organic matter in aquatic environments using a new approach to fluorescence spectroscopy, *Mar. Chem.*, 82(3–4), 239– 254, doi:10.1016/S0304-4203(03)00072-0.
- Stibal, M., M. Tranter, J. P. Telling, and L. G. Benning (2008), Speciation, phase association and potential bioavailability of phosphorus on a Svalbard glacier, *Biogeochemistry*, *90*(1), 1–13, doi:10.1007/s10533-008-9226-3.
- Stibal, M. et al. (2012a), Methanogenic potential of Arctic and Antarctic subglacial environments with contrasting organic carbon sources, *Glob. Chang. Biol.*, *18*(11), 3332–3345, doi:10.1111/j.1365-2486.2012.02763.x.
- Stibal, M., F. Hasan, J. Wadham, M. J. Sharp, and A. M. Anesio (2012b), Prokaryotic diversity in sediments beneath two polar glaciers with contrasting organic carbon substrates., *Extremophiles*, 16(2), 255–265, doi:10.1007/s00792-011-0426-8.
- Strauss, S. L., F. Garcia-Pichel, and T. A. Day (2012), Soil microbial carbon and nitrogen transformations at a glacial foreland on Anvers Island, Antarctic Peninsula, *Polar Biol.*, 35(10), 1459–1471, doi:10.1007/s00300-012-1184-5.
- Swift, D. A., P. W. Nienow, and T. B. Hoey (2005), Basal sediment evacuation by subglacial meltwater: Suspended sediment transport from Haut Glacier d'Arolla, Switzerland, *Earth Surf. Process. Landforms*, 30(7), 867–883, doi:10.1002/esp.1197.
- Taylor, S. R., and M. S. McClennan (1985), *The Continental Crust: its composition and evolution*, Blackwell Scientific Publications, Oxford.
- Tedesco, M., X. Fettweis, T. Mote, J. Wahr, P. Alexander, J. E. Box, and B. Wouters (2013),

Evidence and analysis of 2012 Greenland records from spaceborne observations, a regional climate model and reanalysis data, *Cryosph.*, 7(2), 615–630, doi:10.5194/tc-7-615-2013.

- Telling, J. P., A. M. Anesio, M. Tranter, T. Irvine-Fynn, A. J. Hodson, C. Butler, and J. Wadham (2011), Nitrogen fixation on Arctic glaciers, Svalbard, J. Geophys. Res., 116(G3), G03039, doi:10.1029/2010JG001632.
- Telling, J. P. et al. (2012), Microbial nitrogen cycling on the Greenland Ice Sheet, *Biogeosciences*, 9(7), 2431–2442, doi:10.5194/bg-9-2431-2012.
- Telling, J. P., A. M. Anesio, M. Tranter, and A. G. Fountain (2014), Spring thaw ionic pulses boost nutrient availability and microbial growth in entombed Antarctic Dry Valley cryoconite holes, *Front. Microbiol.*, *5*, 1–17.
- Telling, J. P. et al. (2015), Rock comminution as a source of hydrogen for subglacial ecosystems, *Nat. Geosci.*, *8*(11), 851–855, doi:10.1038/ngeo2533.
- Tockner, K., F. Malard, U. Uehlinger, and J. V. Ward (2002), Nutrients and organic matter in a glacial river floodplain system (Val Roseg, Switzerland), *Limnol. Oceanogr.*, 47(1), 266–277, doi:10.4319/lo.2002.47.1.0266.
- Tranter, M., G. Brown, R. Raiswell, M. J. Sharp, and A. Gurnell (1993), A conceptual model of solute acquisition by Alpine glacial meltwaters, J. Glaciol., 39(133), 573–581, doi:10.3198/1993JoG39-133-573-581.
- Tranter, M., G. H. Brown, A. J. Hodson, and A. M. Gurnell (1996), Hydrochemistry as an indicator of subglacial drainage system structure: A comparison of alpine and sub-polar environments, *Hydrologica*, 10(November 1994), 541–556.
- Tranter, M., M. J. Sharp, H. R. Lamb, G. H. Brown, B. P. Hubbard, and I. C. Willis (2002), Geochemical weathering at the bed of Haut Glacier d'Arolla, Switzerland a new model, *Hydrol. Process.*, *16*(5), 959–993, doi:10.1002/hyp.309.
- Tranter, M., M. Skidmore, and J. Wadham (2005), Hydrological controls on microbial communities in subglacial environments, *Hydrol. Process.*, 19(4), 995–998, doi:10.1002/hyp.5854.
- Tranter, M., E. A. Bagshaw, A. G. Fountain, and M. Foreman, Christine (2010), The biogeochemistry and hydrology of McMurdo Dry Valley glaciers: Is there life on Martian ice now?, in *Life in Antarctic Deserts and Other Cold, Dry Environmnets: Astrobiological Analogues.*, edited by P. T. Doran, pp. 195–220, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.
- Tung, H. C., P. B. Price, N. E. Bramall, and G. Vrdoljak (2006), Microorganisms metabolizing on clay grains in 3-km-deep Greenland basal ice, Astrobiology, 6(August), 1–7, doi:10.1089/ast.2006.0095.
- Turnipseed, D. P., and V. B. Sauer (2010), Discharge measurements at gaging stations, in *Discharge measurements at gaging stations: U.S. Geological Survey Techniques and Methods book 3*, p. 87p.
- Vellend, M., and A. Agrawal (2010), Conceptual Synthesis in Community Ecology, *Q. Rev. Biol.*, 85(2), 183–206, doi:10.1086/652373.
- Vincent, W. F., and C. L. Vincent (1982), Factors controling phytoplankton prodeuction in Lake Vanda (77oS), *Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci.*, *39*, 1602–1609, doi:10.1139/f82-216.
- Wadham, J., M. Tranter, M. Skidmore, A. J. Hodson, J. C. Priscu, W. B. Lyons, M. J. Sharp, P. M. Wynn, and M. Jackson (2010), Biogeochemical weathering under ice: Size matters, *Global Biogeochem. Cycles*, 24(3), 1–11, doi:10.1029/2009GB003688.
- Wadham, J. et al. (2012), Potential methane reservoirs beneath Antarctica., *Nature*, 488(7413), 633–637, doi:10.1038/nature11374.

- Wadham, J. L., A. J. Hodson, M. Tranter, and J. A. Dowdeswell (1998), The hydrochemistry of meltwaters draining a polythermal-based, high Arctic glacier, south Svalbard : I. The ablation season, *Hydrol. Process.*, 12(December 1997), 1825–1849.
- Wadham, J. L., S. H. Bottrell, M. Tranter, and R. Raiswell (2004), Stable isotope evidence for microbial sulphate reduction at the bed of a polythermal high Arctic glacier, *Earth Planet. Sci. Lett.*, 219(3–4), 341–355, doi:10.1016/S0012-821X(03)00683-6.
- Wadham, J. L., M. Tranter, S. Tulaczyk, and M. J. Sharp (2008), Subglacial methanogenesis: A potential climatic amplifier?, *Global Biogeochem. Cycles*, 22(2), 1–16, doi:10.1029/2007GB002951.
- Wadham, J. L., R. De'ath, F. M. Monteiro, M. Tranter, A. Ridgwell, R. Raiswell, and S. Tulaczyk (2013), The potential role of the Antarctic Ice Sheet in global biogeochemical cycles, *Earth Environ. Sci. Trans. R. Soc. Edinburgh*, 104(01), 55–67, doi:10.1017/S1755691013000108.
- Wadham, J. L. et al. (2016), Sources, cycling and export of nitrogen on the Greenland Ice Sheet, *Biogeosciences Discuss.*, 13(January), 1–30, doi:10.5194/bg-2015-484.
- Wait, B. R., J. G. Webster-Brown, K. L. Brown, M. Healy, and I. Hawes (2006), PChemistry and stratification of Antarctic meltwater ponds I: Coastal ponds near Bratina Island, McMurdo Ice Shelf, *Antarct. Sci.*, 18(04), 515, doi:10.1017/S0954102006000563.
- Walder, B. J. S. (1986), Motion of sub-freezing ice past particles, with applications to wire regelation and frozen soils, *J. Glaciol.*, 32(112).
- Wang, Q., G. M. Garrity, J. M. Tiedje, and J. R. Cole (2007), Naïve Bayesian classifier for rapid assignment of rRNA sequences into the new bacterial taxonomy, *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.*, 73(16), 5261–5267, doi:10.1128/AEM.00062-07.
- Webster-Brown, J., M. Gall, J. Gibson, S. Wood, and I. Hawes (2010), The biogeochemistry of meltwater habitats in the Darwin Glacier region (80°S), Victoria Land, Antarctica, *Antarct. Sci.*, 22(06), 646–661, doi:10.1017/S0954102010000787.
- Węsławski, J. M., M. A. Kendall, M. Włodarska-Kowalczuk, K. Iken, M. Kędra, J. Legezynska, and M. K. Sejr (2011), Climate change effects on Arctic fjord and coastal macrobenthic diversity-observations and predictions, *Mar. Biodivers.*, 41(1), 71–85, doi:10.1007/s12526-010-0073-9.
- Wettlaufer, J. S., M. G. Worster, L. A. Wilen, and J. G. Dash (1996), A Theory of Premelting Dynamics for all Power Law Forces, *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 76(19), 3602–3605, doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.76.3602.
- Wharton, R. A., W. C. Vinyard, B. C. Parker, G. M. Simmons, and K. G. Seaburg (1981), Algae in cryoconite holes on Canada Glacier in Southern Victorialand, Antarctica, *Phycologia*, 20(2), 208–211.
- Wilhelm, L., G. A. Singer, C. Fasching, T. J. Battin, and K. Besemer (2013), Microbial biodiversity in glacier-fed streams., *ISME J.*, 7(8), 1651–60, doi:10.1038/ismej.2013.44.
- Williams, P. F., B. E. Hobbs, R. H. Vernon, and D. E. Anderson (1971), The structural and metamorphic geology of basement rocks in the McMurdo sound area, Antarctica, *J. Geol. Soc. Aust.*, *18*(2), 127–142, doi:10.1080/00167617108728751.
- Winkelmann, R., A. Levermann, M. A. Martin, and K. Frieler (2012), Increased future ice discharge from Antarctica owing to higher snowfall., *Nature*, 492(7428), 239–42, doi:10.1038/nature11616.
- Wu, F. C., E. Tanoue, and C. Q. Liu (2003), Fluorescence and amino acid characteristics of molecular size fractions of DOM in the waters of Lake, *Biogeochemistry*, 245–257.
- Van Wychen, W., L. Copland, L. Gray, D. Burgess, B. D. Danielson, and M. J. Sharp (2012),

Spatial and temporal variation of ice motion and ice flux from Devon Ice Cap, Nunavut, Canada, J. Glaciol., 58(210), 657–664, doi:10.3189/2012JoG11J164.

- Van Wychen, W., J. Davis, L. Copland, D. O. Burgess, L. Gray, M. Sharp, J. A. Dowdeswell, and T. J. Benham (2017), Variability in ice motion and dynamic discharge from Devon Ice Cap, Nunavut, Canada, J. Glaciol., 63(239), 436–449, doi:10.1017/jog.2017.2.
- Wynn, P. M., A. Hodson, and T. H. E. Heaton (2006), Chemical and isotopic switching within the subglacial environment of a High Arctic Glacier, *Biogeochemistry*, 78(2), 173–193, doi:10.1007/s10533-005-3832-0.
- Wynn, P. M., A. J. Hodson, T. H. E. Heaton, and S. R. Chenery (2007), Nitrate production beneath a High Arctic glacier, Svalbard, *Chem. Geol.*, 244(1–2), 88–102, doi:10.1016/j.chemgeo.2007.06.008.
- Yamashita, Y., and E. Tanoue (2003), Chemical characterization of protein-like fluorophores in DOM in relation to aromatic amino acids, *Mar. Chem.*, 82(3–4), 255–271, doi:10.1016/S0304-4203(03)00073-2.
- Yde, J. C., K. W. Finster, R. Raiswell, J. P. Steffensen, J. Heinemeier, J. Olsen, H. P. Gunnlaugsson, and O. B. Nielsen (2010), Basal ice microbiology at the margin of the Greenland Ice Sheet, Ann. Glaciol., 51(56), 71–79, doi:10.3189/172756411795931976.
- Yde, J. C., N. T. Knudsen, B. Hasholt, and A. B. Mikkelsen (2014), Meltwater chemistry and solute export from a Greenland Ice Sheet catchment, Watson River, West Greenland, *J. Hydrol.*, *519*(PB), 2165–2179, doi:10.1016/j.jhydrol.2014.10.018.
- Yergeau, E., K. K. Newsham, D. A. Pearce, and G. A. Kowalchuk (2007), Patterns of bacterial diversity across a range of Antarctic terrestrial habitats, *Environ. Microbiol.*, 9(11), 2670– 2682, doi:10.1111/j.1462-2920.2007.01379.x.
- Zhang, D. C., H. X. Wang, H. C. Liu, X. Z. Dong, and P. J. Zhou (2006), Flavobacterium glaciei sp. nov., a novel psychrophilic bacterium isolated from the China No. 1 glacier, *Int. J. Syst. Evol. Microbiol.*, 56(12), 2921–2925, doi:10.1099/ijs.0.64564-0.